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President’s Report

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

This reporting year has posed a 

variety of significant challenges 

for the New South Wales Bar 

Association and its members. 

The COVID-19 pandemic forced 

changes to court and tribunal 

operations, many of which tested 

the resilience and adaptability 

of barristers’ practices.

It was announced by the prime 

minister in late February that 

COVID-19 had become a pandemic. 

In New South Wales, Attorney 

General Mark Speakman SC 

MP introduced the COVID-19 

Legislation Amendment (Emergency 

Measures) Bill 2020 on 24 March 

which included amendments 

to the Criminal Procedure Act 

1986 to enable criminal trials to 

be conducted in an appropriate 

way during the pandemic.

On 15 March 2020, the Supreme 

Court and the District Court of NSW 

announced in a joint statement 

that empanelment of new juries 

would be temporarily suspended 

while steps were taken to limit 

close contact among jurors in 

keeping with public health advice. 

On 23 March the Supreme Court 

suspended personal appearances 

(save for exceptional circumstances), 

closed the public registry and 

required all court documents to be 

provided by electronic means.

Following this there was a 

widespread, rapid transition to 

online civil hearings. Members of 

the Bar were required to adopt 

unfamiliar audio-visual systems, 

some of which had never been used 

before in our courts. Technologies, 

practices and procedures 

differed from one jurisdiction 

to another while courts sought 

to keep services going without 

the time for a fully coordinated 

response to the situation.

Obviously enough, the Bar has not 

been immune to the economic 

effects of the pandemic. The 

suspension of most face to face 

court work from the middle of 

March affected many members’ 

practices, and significantly so.

Since the pandemic began, our 

efforts have been focussed on 

assisting members with the 

various challenges they have 

faced during this difficult time. 

Since the pandemic began, our 

efforts have been focussed on 

assisting members with the various 

challenges they have faced during 

this difficult time. A priority was 

to protect the health and safety 

of our members and staff while 

operating remotely. We sought to 

keep members informed of changes 

to court and tribunal arrangements, 

as well as available government 

assistance to eligible members such 

as the JobKeeper program. Through 

BarCare and the Benevolent 

Association we offered counselling 

and other personal assistance for 

members, while maintaining the Bar 

Association’s ongoing regulatory, 

membership, education, policy and 

public affairs functions in the face of 

the disruption caused by COVID-19.

Since the onset of the pandemic 

in March 2020, the Bar Council 

Executive has met regularly to 

oversee the range of initiatives 

assisting members during the 

pandemic. I and other members of 

the Executive have been in regular 

contact with heads of jurisdiction, 

both at the state and federal level, 

to keep abreast of developing 

approaches to hearings adopted 

by courts and tribunals, to offer our 

assistance and input with regard 

to these arrangements, and to 

pass on the practical experiences 

of members with regard to this 

challenging environment. At the 

time of writing many jurisdictions 

have conducted a staged return to 

some level of in person hearings, 

subject to social distancing and 

other public health measures. For 

the assistance of members during 

this period the Bar Association 

published a Protocol for In-person 

Hearings while Social Distancing.
1

We may well be witnessing the 

commencement of a period of 

profound change to the boundaries 

of accepted thinking about advocacy, 

the nature of legal practices 

and delivering legal training, 

as well as access to justice. 

Mindful of the lessons of these 

past few months, the New South 

Wales Bar Association published a 

Protocol for Remote Hearings which 

focussed on the need for open 

justice and to ensure the respect and 

dignity of the court. We may well 

be witnessing the commencement 

of a period of profound change 

to the boundaries of accepted 

thinking about advocacy, the nature 

of legal practices and delivering 

legal training, as well as access to 

justice. The Bar Association has 

taken the view that it is important 

to develop protocols for remote 

advocacy, to set baselines and 

limitations for the appropriate 

development and use of such 

technology in the years to come.

The Bar Association continues to 

work with the courts to protect 

the health and safety of members, 

Tim Game SC 

President
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President’s Report (continued)

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

judicial officers and staff and the 

community over this transitional 

period. In fact one of the reaffirming 

aspects of these last six months 

has been the cooperative spirit 

with which all those involved in 

the administration of justice have 

confronted the challenges with 

which we have been faced to 

maintain our system of open justice.

At the height of the pandemic, we 

endeavoured to keep members 

informed through regular President’s 

Messages and the publication 

of the daily Guide to Court and 

Tribunal Operations which has 

sought and continues to capture 

each development in the courts 

throughout this period. There 

have been many other innovations 

over recent months including 

the technology hotline whereby 

members could seek assistance 

from the Innovation and Technology 

Committee regarding the use of 

remote hearing technologies, the 

distribution of guidance to members 

regarding tax and other government 

support arrangements associated 

with the spread of COVID-19, and 

the welfare initiatives available to 

members through BarCare and the 

Barristers Benevolent Association.

Throughout my time as president 

the Bar Association has made 

submissions on many important 

areas of law reform and policy. I 

would like to highlight just a few.

First, the Bar Association has 

continued to advocate for the NSW 

and Commonwealth governments 

to adopt the Australian Law 

Reform Commission’s landmark 

2018 Pathways to Justice Report 

recommendations, including the 

establishment of a Walama Court in 

the NSW District Court. As members 

would be aware we have issued a 

number of media releases on this 

issue and supported the calls of 

First Nations-led organisations for 

the NSW Government to adopt 

a more ambitious justice target 

to end the over-representation of 

First Nations people in custody.

Second, we have continued a 

formal consultation with Legal 

Aid NSW under the Legal Aid 

Commission Act 1979 (NSW) to 

address our concern about proper 

funding for Legal Aid and legal 

assistance funding. We have also 

raised that concern through various 

fora including submissions to the 

Senate Standing Committees on 

Finance and Public Administration 

Inquiry into lessons to be learned 

following the 2019–20 Australian 

bushfire season, a submission 

to the House of Representatives 

Inquiry into family, domestic and 

sexual violence, and a submission 

to the Senate inquiry into Issues in 

diaspora communities in Australia, 

which focuses on raising awareness 

of access to justice barriers 

for culturally and linguistically 

diverse (CALD) communities.

Third, we have continued to 

press the case for maintaining a 

specialist Family Law Court.

We receive monthly claims data from 

the NSW Government under the CTP 

scheme which reveals an alarmingly 

inadequate compensation system 

with the bar set far too high for what 

are described as ‘minor injuries’. 

Fourth, we have continued to 

advocate for reform of the CTP 

scheme. We receive monthly claims 

data from the NSW Government 

under the CTP scheme which 

reveals an alarmingly inadequate 

compensation system with the 

bar set far too high for what are 

described as ‘minor injuries’. Our 

Common Law Committee has 

been instrumental in keeping 

track of the data and maintaining 

our advocacy on this important 

subject. For the most part the 

Bar Association has been a lone 

voice in pressing this issue.

Finally, we made a submission to the 

Council of Attorneys-General Age 

of Criminal Responsibility Working 

Group Review recommending 

that the minimum age of criminal 

responsibility be raised across all 

Australian jurisdictions to 14.

I would like thank all of the Bar 

Association’s committees who have 

had to deal with an extraordinary 

number of submissions this year, 

particularly in relation to matters 

arising out of the COVID-19 pandemic.

I would like thank all of the Bar 

Association’s committees who have 

had to deal with an extraordinary 

number of submissions this year, 

particularly in relation to matters 

arising out of the COVID-19 

pandemic. I would also like to 

draw attention to the creation of 

two new committees that were 

recently created, the Inquests and 

Inquiries Committee and the Climate 

Change Law Panel. The Bar Council 

resolved to create these committees 

because of the importance of the 

subject matter of these committees 

to the future of the practice at 

the Bar, to the administration of 

justice and more generally.

Over the last 18 months particular 

attention has been paid to our 

CPD program. We have sought 

to engage the wider Bar in the 

provision of CPDs, develop CPDs 

through committee collaborations, 

review the programs of our 

regional conferences, introduce 

high quality advocacy training for 

the junior bar and more recently 

commence to engage with the 

universities on a more planned 

and ongoing basis. I would like to 

thank the speakers who gave the 

annual addresses for the 2019 Byers 

Lecture (The Hon Justice Walter 

Sofronoff), the 2019 Spigelman 

Oration (the Hon Justice Patrick 

Keane AC) and the 2019 Bathurst 
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THE YEAR IN REVIEW

Lecture (Graham Bradley AM).

At the time of writing the Escrow 

Service that the Bar Association 

has worked to develop with the 

National Australia Bank is close to 

launch. The escrow account is not a 

trust account or controlled monies 

account. The service is designed to 

give barristers greater security for 

payment. Prepayments by a client or 

solicitor for a barrister’s services can 

be deposited into an account which 

is owned by an escrow agent and 

held by that agent as stakeholder 

prior to the barrister’s services being 

provided. The service will be of great 

benefit to the Bar and I hope many 

members will consider utilising it.

In June 2020 the High Court 

published the findings of an 

investigation into the conduct of 

Dyson Heydon AC QC whilst a 

member of that court. The gravity 

and significance of issues involving 

unwelcome workplace conduct 

including sexual harassment 

for our profession are clear. The 

Bar Association is committed to 

eradicating sexual harassment of 

any kind in the workplace. That 

extends to sexual harassment that 

occurs within the court system and, 

as highlighted by the circumstances 

involving Dyson Heydon, it explicitly 

extends to judge’s associates.

The gravity and significance of issues 

involving unwelcome workplace 

conduct including sexual harassment 

for our profession are clear. 

Members will be aware of some of 

the work the Bar Association has 

done in this area through recent 

In Brief messages. Further work 

is continuing at the committee, 

Bar Council and Executive levels 

in developing online training for 

chambers particularly in grievance 

handling, and augmenting existing 

complaint mechanisms in relation 

to unwelcome workplace conduct. 

Members will be kept informed 

of these and other ongoing 

initiatives. I also urge members 

in this coming year to commit to 

the Ethics component of their 

CPD training by engaging with 

the materials that are available 

through the Bar Association’s 

online CPDs on this subject and 

those that will soon follow.

I do wish to reiterate a clear message 

in relation to sexual harassment. 

It will not be tolerated by the New 

South Wales Bar. The members of 

the Bar Council are united on their 

approach to this critical issue. We 

are committed to driving sexual 

harassment out of our profession. 

The message is clear and simple, 

we should conduct ourselves in 

an ethical and respectful way 

towards those with whom we deal.

The collegiality and willingness to 

help other members during this 

period for the greater good of the 

Bar and the administration of justice 

portends well for the future of our 

branch of the profession and has been 

inspiring to witness and support.

Over the last six months the amount 

of work that has gone on behind 

the scenes has been extraordinary. 

I will not try list it, however, most 

importantly it could not have been 

done without a large number of 

members volunteering their time and 

expertise. I and others on Bar Council 

have made many calls on members 

to assist over this time and there 

was not a single instance of anyone 

declining to help despite the difficult 

situation they were themselves 

facing. We are, in the end, a small 

community within a much larger 

legal profession. However, the 

collegiality and willingness to help 

other members during this period for 

the greater good of the Bar and the 

administration of justice portends 

well for the future of our branch 

of the profession and has been 

inspiring to witness and support.

I would like to extend my thanks 

to the Bar Council, Bar Council 

Executive and the staff of the Bar 

Association for their hard work 

and commitment in guiding the 

Bar Association and its members 

through the substantial challenges 

that have emerged this year. The 

fact that the Bar Association 

has continued to serve its 

members at a high level in these 

circumstances is a tribute to their 

professionalism and dedication.

I commend the New South 

Wales Bar Association’s 2019–

20 Annual Report to you.

Tim Game SC 

President

1 The Supreme Court has released its Protocol 

– Court Operations – COVID-19.
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Executive Director’s Report

Introduction

The Bar and the New South Wales 

Bar Association have been challenged 

in 2019–20 by the confluence of 

devastating events also affecting 

all of society. As we now know, the 

harm visited by the bushfires and 

the challenge of climate change 

were compounded by COVID-19 and 

now a severe economic recession. 

In addition, there has been intense 

public scrutiny of sexual harassment 

within the legal profession. As we 

continue to confront the various 

challenges facing the profession it 

is important to reflect on what has 

been achieved over the last year.

Bushfires

On 5 January 2020, President 

Tim Game SC delivered the first 

of many President’s Messages 

for the year stating:

‘In recent weeks we have 

witnessed, and continue to witness, 

the devastation wrought by 

bushfires and the resulting terrible 

loss of life, homes and property’.

Three days prior, the New South 

Wales Government had declared a 

state of emergency: its third such 

announcement since the start of the 

bushfire crisis in November 2019. 

The Bar Association responded by 

working with the Department of 

Communities and Justice, the Law 

Society of NSW, Legal Aid NSW 

and other legal assistance providers 

to help provide legal assistance 

to those directly affected by the 

crisis. BarCare and the Barristers’ 

Benevolent Association provided 

counselling and financial assistance 

to members in need. For months 

afterwards, the operational tempo 

of the Bar Association did not slow.

COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic is unique 

in our lifetimes. The New South 

Wales Bar endured the Spanish 

Flu pandemic in 1919 with a mix of 

resilience, versatility and dedication 

to justice – including wearing 

face masks in court. In 2020, the 

response required more and better 

transformation as the courts and the 

Bar transitioned to virtual hearings in 

eight short weeks. The Bar’s capacity 

for rapid adaptation was tested in 

new ways including through the 

limitations of technology, not to 

mention the risks and challenges of 

remote advocacy and representation.

Some of the key steps taken by 

the Bar Association to help achieve 

this transformation included 

the Innovation and Technology 

Committee establishing a help 

desk to answer common questions 

about connecting to virtual courts 

and online registries and a LinkedIn 

page was created to post updates 

and training videos. This culminated 

in the BOLT program (Bar Online 

Learning and Training), in which 

the Education, Innovation and 

Technology, New Barristers, Practice 

Development and Wellbeing 

Committees joined forces to deliver 

CPDs and technology tutoring. 

Now, ‘Remote advocacy’, ‘social 

distancing’, ‘webinars’ and ‘virtual 

courts’, are part of our lexicon and our 

Continuing Professional Development 

Program. We have also instigated 

training for online advocacy through 

NIDA to help members adapt their 

skills to an online environment.

Internal communications

The Bar Council, Executive and 

staff monitored developments in 

Greg Tolhurst 

Executive Director

the courts. All relevant information 

was brought to the attention of 

members daily through In Brief and 

the Consolidated Guide to COVID-

19-related Court Arrangements. 

These were published, necessarily, 

out of standard business hours after 

the Executive and senior staff had 

met most days in the late afternoon 

to consider the latest changes 

to court practices, public health 

regulations and various support 

measures announced by the state 

and federal governments. I would 

like thank Deputy Executive Director 

and Director of Operations Alastair 

McConnachie and Director Policy 

and Public Affairs Elizabeth Pearson 

for their skill, dedication and tireless 

efforts over this year in helping the 

Bar Association manage the crisis.

Emergency assistance 
and resilience

The Bar Council, the Executive, ad 

hoc committees and staff sought 

to determine what assistance 

members needed most during the 

onset of the pandemic. Committees 

worked in concert to prepare the 

Benevolent Fund and BarCare for 

applications for assistance and to 

notify members and clerks about 

government support for sole traders, 

such as the JobKeeper supplement.

Health, safety and 
business continuity

Keeping members informed was 

crucial but the Bar Association also 

had to move rapidly to provide its 

services remotely once the office 

was closed and all staff began 

working from home. The Bar 

Association was fortunate to have 

the reserves, the skills, the team 

and the technology to respond 

effectively to the circumstances.

By mid-March 2020 it was clear that 

continuity of some Bar Association 

operations had to be curtailed. The 

Bar Common Room was closed and 

sealed on 19 March 2020. In quick 

succession, the Bar Association 

https://inbrief.nswbar.asn.au/posts/08b347d11316f1372f3414b4c41dd551/attachment/NSWBA%20-%20COVID19%20Information%20for%20attending%20Court%20-%20as%20at%2006072020.pdf
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had to cancel numerous events, 

including the May Bar Practice 

Course, the Bar Exam, regional CPD 

mini-conferences, CPD seminars, 

Experienced Barristers lunches, 

planned strategic planning workshops 

and the 2020 Bench and Bar Dinner.

The Bar Association had already 

introduced remote access to 

its systems for staff and the 

transformation to fewer paper-based 

procedures was well-advanced by 

the time the pandemic took hold. 

However, we had not expected such 

a paradigm shift where meetings of 

Bar Council, committees and heads of 

chambers are now held routinely via 

videoconferencing. This has allowed 

for broader participation from 

members, including regional members 

and many others who find remote 

access to meetings advantageous.

Similarly, the Bar Library resources 

have been available online and 

the library continued to respond 

to reference enquiries, to deliver 

soft-copy resources and put 

in place a collection service for 

the borrowing of materials.

During this period we have never 

been more dependent on our IT team 

and I thank them for their help.

Renewals

Online PC renewals began in 2019. 

This year, some features of the PC 

renewals platform, including the 

payments and receipting, had to 

be adjusted very late in the process 

to take account of PC fee-waivers 

and deferred payments. The entire 

process was managed while the 

certification officer and the IT 

contractor worked remotely.

With the downturn in work 

for many at the Bar, the Bar 

Council resolved to waive:

• membership fees for all 

junior barristers; and

• practising certificate fees for 

barristers of 0–2 years’ seniority.

It was further resolved to:

• Provide barristers of 2–5 years’ 

seniority the option of a full waiver 

of the set practising certificate 

fee in 2020–21, on the basis of 

a self-assessed hardship test

• Provide barristers of more than 

five years’ seniority the option 

of a 25 per cent waiver of the 

set practising certificate fee 

in 2020–21, on the basis of a 

self-assessed hardship test

• Enable those who did not meet 

the self-assessed hardship test 

to have the option of paying 

their practising certificate 

fees in two instalments.

At the end of the PC renewal period 

on 30 June 2020, there were 2392 

practising barristers. This was a 

reduction of 37 from the same time 

last year, however, the cancellation 

of the Bar Practice Course 

necessarily resulted in a reduction 

in new barristers at the time. My 

thanks to our Professional Conduct, 

Certification, Finance and IT teams for 

managing us through these changes.

Education and exams

CPD seminars have been recorded 

and streamed from our website 

for some time. Nevertheless, the 

pandemic accelerated the shift 

from CPD seminars in the Common 

Room to Zoom webinars. We 

have invested in new audio visual 

equipment to ensure we deliver 

these in a high-quality format.

The June Bar Exam was cancelled, 

with the next sitting planned for 

February 2021. At the time of writing, 

the September Bar Practice Course 

is in progress being run partly in-

person, including both sessions in 

the Common Room and face-to-face 

practice court appearances retained, 

and partly online. The May Bar 

Practice Course had been cancelled, 

with the result of a large cohort now 

attending the September course.

 The curriculum has been redrafted 

to facilitate more delivery of content 

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

online. In-person advocacy sessions 

have been adjusted to meet social 

distancing guidelines. We are 

hopeful that it can be completed as a 

blended course, however if required, 

it can be done entirely online. My 

thanks go to Rob Hollo SC, Gillian 

Mahoney, and the Professional 

Development team for all their work 

in redesigning the entire course to 

ensure that it can go ahead as well 

as to the many barristers and judges 

who make the course possible.

Policy and law reform

In the midst of these challenges 

the Bar Association has continued 

to promote the administration of 

justice. As the pandemic intensified, 

governments – both state and 

federal – promulgated legislation 

with far-reaching provisions. The 

Bar Association was consulted often 

and usually with extremely short 

deadlines. There was a point in time 

when our committees and the Policy 

and Public Affairs team had made 

more submissions in one month then 

they would usually make in six. It was 

an extraordinary effort, which could 

not have been achieved without 

the tireless efforts of committee 

members, the Executive and our staff.

Climate Change Law Panel

This report began with the bushfire 

crisis and the COVID-19 pandemic, 

but added that climate change 

is another crisis that needs to be 

met. Climate change requires every 

corporation, agency and institution 

to adapt. In order to help the Bar in 

this context the Bar Council resolved 

to set up the Climate Change Law 

Panel. The existence of the panel is 

a tangible commitment by the Bar 

to contribute to Australia’s efforts to 

confront the climate emergency.

Its terms of reference are:

1. To make recommendations 

to the Bar Council with 

respect to legislation and law 

reform dealing with the legal 

aspects of climate change;
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2. To advise on and address any 

issues referred by the Bar Council;

3. To seek to ensure that the 

benefits of the administration of 

justice are available to members 

of the community who are 

affected by climate change;

4. To monitor judicial decisions, 

bills, legislation, policies and 

programs for their impacts 

on climate change and 

Australia’s commitment to its 

international obligations;

5. To conduct activities of a 

professional or educational 

nature amongst Members of the 

Bar Association on the issues 

at 4, including to publish as 

appropriate journals, papers, 

or other documents with 

the president’s approval;

6. In carrying out the above, liaise 

with and obtain advice of experts 

in climate change science.

Sexual harassment

The report of the Australian Human 

Rights Commission’s National Inquiry 

into Sexual Harassment in Australian 

Workplaces noted that: ‘Workplace 

sexual harassment is prevalent and 

pervasive: it occurs in every industry, 

in every location and at every level, 

in Australian workplaces. Australians, 

across the country, are suffering 

the financial, social, emotional, 

physical and psychological harm 

associated with sexual harassment. 

This is particularly so for women’.

The truth of that statement was 

clearly brought home to the Bar and 

the legal profession this year. The 

Bar Association through the Bar 

Council, its committees, staff and 

members, have made great efforts 

to ensure that the Bar continues 

to attract and retain the ‘best and 

brightest’, regardless of their gender 

identity, ancestry or socio-economic 

background. Those efforts, together 

with the reputation of the New 

South Wales Bar, are imperilled if 

disrespectful behaviour forces a 

number of women to leave and 

seek a vocation elsewhere. As the 

president notes in his column, there 

is a commitment to eradicating 

such behaviour from the Bar. The 

Bar Council has responded by 

moving forward with numerous 

initiatives which will be ongoing 

in 2020–21. Moreover, this matter 

requires a whole of profession 

response and the Bar Association 

will continue to work with relevant 

stakeholders including the Office of 

the Legal Services Commissioner, 

the Law Council of Australia, 

the Australian Bar Association 

and the NSW Law Society.

Finance

The Bar Association adopted the new 

leases accounting standard (AASB16) 

from 1 July 2019 which in short 

requires leases to be treated as assets 

and depreciated over the course of 

the term: this is further explained in 

the Notes to the Financial Statements. 

This resulted in a reduction in opening 

retained earnings of $1,546,843. 

In addition, due to the onset of 

COVID-19 a number of the Bar 

Association’s activities had to be 

cancelled, resulting in a reduction in 

our profit for the year. In particular 

the cancellation of the second exam 

sitting and Bar Practice Course in 

the year resulted in a reduction 

of our net profit by $265,389 

when compared to last year.

Conclusion

The events of 2020 have 

demonstrated the resilience of the 

profession and of its association. The 

advantages of skilled advocacy and 

fair procedures in an open court of 

law have been crystallised during 

the COVID-19 lockdown. However, 

virtual courts and AV technology 

have shifted the paradigm on 

advocacy and accepted thinking 

on access to justice, flexible work 

practices and continuity of court 

functions during times of crisis.

The New South Wales Bar 

Association continues to work 

with all stakeholders to help inform 

the course that our justice system 

takes in coming years. The strategic 

priorities of the Bar Association, and 

the indicators it will use to measure 

delivery of programs across practice 

development, professional standards, 

policy, diversity, member services, 

wellbeing and legal education are 

being set down in the Strategic 

Plan 2020–25, which is due for 

publication around the time this 

report is published. It focusses on 

the Bar Association continuing to 

deliver the most effective response 

possible to the ongoing issues 

deriving from COVID-19 but also 

on building a positive, productive 

and sustainable future for the Bar.

I would like to thank all the Bar 

Association directors and staff for 

their help, effort, work, resilience and 

dedication to the Bar Association 

during this very challenging year 

and I extend my thanks to President 

Tim Game SC, the Executive, Bar 

Council and committees for all 

their support during the year.

Greg Tolhurst 

Executive Director
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Statistics

PROFILE

Members with a  

NSW PC

2367

Members without 

a NSW PC

944

Members

3311

2013-14 2014-15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018-19 2019-20

Members, practising (as at 30 June. Inc. life members with a PC)

Male 1788 1805 1838 1832 1862 1852 1815

Female 456 485 500 518 536 559 552

X 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Total 2244 2290 2338 2350 2398 2412 2367

Members, practising - senior counsel (as at 30 June. QC or SC)

Male 326 334 352 351 342 334 327

Female 35 37 38 40 42 42 44

Total 361 371 390 391 384 376 371

Members, practising - junior counsel (as at 30 June)

Male 1462 1471 1486 1481 1520 1518 1488

Female 421 448 462 478 494 517 508

X (Unspecified) 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Total 1883 1919 1948 1959 2014 2036 1996

Life members (as at 30 June)

Current NSW PC holders 9 7 7 13 11 11 10

Non-practising 27 32 32 32 35 37 36

Total 36 39 39 45 46 48 46

Composition of Bar Association membership

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

Practising members (inc. life members with a PC) Non-practising members

Y
e
a
rs

Number of members as at 30 June 2020

2192 723

2244 731

2290 768

2338 790

2350 800

2398 806

2412 827

2367 944

The Bar Association is a voluntary association. Being a member and holding a barrister’s practising certificate (PC) are distinctly separate.

As at 30 June 2020 the Bar Association had 3311 members.
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Statistics (continued)

Practising barristers by gender and jurisdiction of residence (as at 30 June 2020)

Senior counsel
NSW QLD WA ACT SA TAS VIC UK NZ USA Total

Male 328 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 331

Female 44 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 44

372 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 375

Junior counsel

Male 1498 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1501

Female 512 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 515

2010 3 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 2016

Total 2382 3 0 0 0 1 0 3 1 1 2391

2013-14 2014-15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018-19 2019-20

Members without a NSW practising certificate (as at 30 June 2020)

Former barrister 145 156 169 179 191 214 298

Former judge / magistrate 111 106 107 106 103 104 103

Interstate / overseas barrister 183 185 195 197 191 185 200

Judge 174 176 183 179 183 184 187

Judicial officer 3 5 5 4 5 5 6

Magistrate 31 30 26 29 32 33 36

Solicitor-general (Commonwealth or state) 1 1 1 0 0 0 0

Crown prosecutor (interstate or Commonwealth) 3 3 1 0 0 0 0

Statutory appointment 9 9 9 11 11 10 12

Member of parliament 1 2 2 2 2 2 2

Trial advocate 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Academic 13 13 14 14 14 15 12

Clerk 20 44 41 43 38 40 46

Other 37 38 37 36 35 35 42

Total 731 768 790 800 806 827 944

Non-practising members - Top occupations

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

141

145

156

169

179

191

214

298

110

111

106

107

106

103

104

103

188

183

185

195

197

191

185

200

17530

31

30

26

29

32

33

36

13

13

13

14

14

14

15

12

15

20

44

41

43

38

40

46

174

176

183

179

183

184

187

Former barrister Former judge/magistrate Interstate/overseas barrister Magistrate Academic Clerk Judge

Y
e
a
rs

Number of barristers at 30 June 2020
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PROFILE

Statistics (continued)

23.33%
of practitioners in NSW 

are female

24.72%
of practitioners in NSW 

were born overseas

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

404 1750

416 1757

434 1764

438 1754

456 1788

485 1805

500 1838

518 1832

536 1862

568 1860

559 1832

25002000150010005000

Practising barristers, male and female, 2010-20

Y
e
a
rs

Female Male

Number PC holders at 30 June 2020

Practising barristers, by age and gender 

Female

A
g

e
 o

f 
b

a
rr

is
te

rs
 in

 y
e
a
rs

Male

Number of barristers at 30 June 2020

6 10

159 290

178 382

124 454

75 464

18 220

11

1

<=29

30-39

40-49

50-59

60-69

70-79

80-89

90+

Practising barristers, by seniority and gender 

Female

8 16

173 309

131 279

101 214

101 436

33 299

13 277

S
e
n
io

ri
ty

 o
f 

b
a
rr

is
te

rs
 in

 y
e
a
rs

Male

<1

1-5

6-10

11-15

16-25

26-35

35+

Number of barristers at 30 June 2020

Source: New South Wales Bar 
Association survey data 2019-20.
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Office Bearers

Tim Game SC 

President

Michael McHugh SC 

Senior Vice-President

PROFILE

Bar Council As at 30 June 2020

Tim Game SC

Michael McHugh SC

Gabrielle Bashir SC

Anna Mitchelmore

Yaseen Shariff

Kate Eastman SC

Kylie Nomchong SC

Ingmar Taylor SC

Dominique Hogan-Doran SC

Ruth Higgins SC

David Patch

Elizabeth Welsh

Sean Hughes

David Rayment

Sophie Callan

Catherine Gleeson

Callan O’Neill

James Mack

Sonia Tame

Vanja Bulut

Georgina Westgarth

Gabrielle Bashir SC 

Junior Vice-President

Yaseen Shariff 

Honorary Secretary

Anna Mitchelmore SC 

Treasurer
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Bar Association Staff As at 30 June 2020

PROFILE

Office of the Executive Director

Executive Director Greg Tolhurst

Deputy Executive Director, 

Director of Operations
Alastair McConnachie

Executive Assistant and Publications 

and Promotions Co-ordinator
Michelle Nisbet

Director Legal Jennifer Pearce

Director, Projects and 

Practice Development
Suanne Colley

Policy and Public Affairs

Director, Policy and Public Affairs Elizabeth Pearson

Policy Lawyer Ellyse Matterson

Policy Lawyer Horatia Hopper

Policy Officer Richard Easton

Legal Assistance Referral Scheme

Legal Assistance Manager Heather Sare

Assistant to the Manager Ray Burgess

Services and Benefits

Co-ordinator, Services and Benefits Chris Winslow

Shared Services Department

Director, Shared Services and HR Kim Kemp

Events Manager Hayden Doria

Receptionist Maree Fitzgerald

Document Controller / 

Record Management
Kim Ellis

Records Administrator / Facilities 

Management / Receptionist
Melanie Whitehorn

Finance Department

Finance Manager Basil Catsaros

Assistant Accountant Lubaina Paisawala

Professional Conduct Department

Director, Professional Conduct Jocelyn Sparks

Lawyer, Professional Conduct Jessica Smith

Lawyer, Professional Conduct Shar Doudman

Lawyer, Professional Conduct Alannah Curry

Certification Officer Georgina Stow

Senior Administrative Assistant, 

Professional Conduct
Corinne Gilbert

Professional Development Department

Director, Professional Development Bali Kaur

Manager, Learning Design 

and Development
Tiffany McDonald

Professional Development 

Coordinator
Jenny Dinh

Bar Library

Librarian Lisa Allen

Assistant Librarian Leonie Anderson

Technical Services Librarian Emma Sellwood
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PROFILE

Committees As at 30 June 2020

Accessibility Panel

Robert Dubler SC (chair)

Kate Eastman SC

Brenda Tronson

Nipa Dewan

Matthew Cobb-Clark

Sean Docker

Craig Everson

Valerie Heath

Tina Jowett

Angela Petrie

Jeh Coutinho

Alternative Dispute 

Resolution

Mary Walker (chair)

Hon Stephen O’Ryan QC 

Stephen Walsh QC

Max Kimber SC 

Greg Laughton SC 

John Fernan SC 

Steven Goldstein 

Neil Jackson

Tom Davie 

Hugh Stowe 

Jodi Steele 

Fiona Sinclair 

Terry Mehigan 

Louise Mathias 

Wilson Chan 

Mary Rebehy 

Julie Kearney 

Navid Sedaghati

Mark Darian-Smith

Bar News 

Ingmar Taylor SC (chair) 

Anthony Cheshire SC 

Gail Furness SC

Farid Assaf SC 

Dominic Villa SC 

Penny Thew

Sean O’Brien 

Kavita Balendra 

Daniel Klineberg 

Catherine Gleeson 

Victoria Brigden 

Kevin Tang

Ann Bonnor 

Belinda Baker 

Stephen Ryan 

Joe Edwards

Christina Trahanas

Common Law 

Robert Sheldon SC (chair) 

Simon Harben SC

Tony Bartley SC 

Nicholas Chen SC 

Paresh Khandhar SC 

Michael Inglis 

Richard Sergi 

Elizabeth Welsh 

Andrew Combe

Eva Elbourne 

Kavita Balendra 

Ross Stanton 

Kayt Hogan 

Brendan Jones

Costs and Fees

Mark Walsh SC (chair)

Michael Eagle 

Philippe Doyle Gray

Janet McDonald 

Michelle Castle 

David Stewart

Luke Fermanis 

Emma Beechey 

Matt Karam 

Michael Wells

David Smith

Michele Kearns (clerk)

Criminal Law 

Stephen Odgers 

SC (co-chair)

Gabrielle Bashir 

SC (co-chair) 

Peter McGrath SC

David Jordan 

Peter Lange 

Richard Wilson 

Kieran Ginges 

Nathan Steel 

Lester Fernandez 

Sharyn Hall 

Paul Coady 

Robert Ranken 

Helen Roberts 

Ben Bickford

Elizabeth McLaughlin 

Nerissa Keay

Bharan Narula 

Rose Khalilizadeh

Georgina Westgarth 

Linda Barnes

Academic members:

Luke McNamara (UNSW)

Adam Booker 

(UOW and UTS)

Nicholas Cowdery 

QC (UNSW)

Diversity and Equality 

Kate Eastman SC (chair) 

Robert Dubler SC 

Rashelle Seiden SC 

Melissa Fisher

Sophie Callan 

Michael Seck 

Brenda Tronson 

Melanie Cairns 

Nicholas Kelly 

Nipa Dewan 

Sarah Warren 

Tarik Abdulhak 

Sonia Tame 

Sarah McCarthy

Jeh Coutinho (clerk)

Education 

Robert Hollo SC (chair) 

Sally Dowling SC

Pat Griffin SC 

Edward Muston SC

Ruth Higgins SC 

Philip Hogan 

Tiffany Wong 

Michael O’Meara 

Gillian Mahony 

Sharyn Hall

Angela Cook 

Faraz Maghami 

Imtiaz Ahmed 

Julia Roy 

Louise Hulmes

Academic member: 

Alex Steel (UNSW)

Family Law 

Michael Kearney SC (chair) 

Hon Stephen O’Ryan QC 

Peter Cummings SC

Peter Campton SC 

Suzanne Christie SC 

Claire Cantrall 

Warwick Tregilgas 

Mark Anderson 

Derek Hand

John Longworth 

Mary Rebehy

First Nations

Tony McAvoy SC (chair) 

Chris Ronalds AO SC 

Janet Manuell SC

Eric Wilson SC

Michael Wright SC 

Louise Goodchild 

Susan Phillips 

Simeon Beckett 

Nicholas Newton 

Andrew Smith 

Natasha Case

Charles Gregory 

Damian Beauflls 

Sian McGee

Adam Booker

Academic member: 

Jeni Engel (UNSW)

Human Rights

Naomi Sharp SC (co-chair) 

Simeon Beckett (co-chair) 

Robert Dubler SC

Shane Prince SC 

Mark Gibian SC 

Miko Kumar 

Trent Glover

Michelle Swift

Charles Gregory 

Rob Davies

Ali Cheema 

Celia Winnett

Madeleine Bridgett

Sebastian De Brennan 

Kate Barrett

Academic member: 

Professor Andrew 

Byrnes (UNSW) 

Daniel Joyce (UNSW)

Industrial Employment 

Health and Safety

Bruce Hodgkinson 

AM SC (chair) 

Yaseen Shariff (secretary)

John Fernon SC

Ian Neil SC

Ian Latham
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Anthony Britt

Andrew Gotting

Bruce Miles 

Anna Perigo

Bilal Rauf 

Jaye Alderson

Vanja Bulut

Maurice Baroni

Innovation & Technology

Michael Green SC (chair) 

Angela Bowne SC

Greg Waugh SC

Tamir Maltz

Beth Oliak

James King 

Anton Hughes

Richard Scheelings

Wen Wu

Simon Walker (clerk)

Academic member: 

Carolyn McKay (USYD)

Legal Aid 

Dean Jordan SC (chair)

Craig Smith SC

Alex Radojev

James Trevallion 

David Price 

Emily Ito

Craig Mulvey 

Jane Paingakulum

Scott Fraser

Emmanuel Kerkyasharian

Michelle Swift

Clyllyn Sperling 

Jeffrey Clarke 

Nerissa Keay 

Rose Khalilizadeh 

Talia Epstein 

Thomas Liu

New Barristers

Vanja Bulut (chair)

Corrie Goodhand

David Birch

Stephen Ryan

Emily Graham

Nicholas Roucek

Joe Edwards

Talia Epstein 

Kayt Hogan

Wen Wu

Eliot Olivier

Brendan Jones

Elizabeth Esber

Louise Hulmes

Ryan Coffey

Emma Hoolahan (clerk)

Practice Development

Ian Hemmings SC (chair)

Michelle Painter SC 

David Thomas SC 

Christopher Peadon 

Robert Carey

Philip Wallis 

Stephanie Patterson 

Geoff Farland

Sonia Stewart 

Georgina Westgarth

Michele Kearns (clerk) 

Emma Hoolahan (clerk)

Wellbeing 

Kylie Nomchong SC (chair) 

Peter McGrath SC

Mark Dempsey SC 

Kevin Connor SC 

Todd Alexis SC 

Dauid Sibtain 

Christopher Taylor 

Cynthia Cochrane 

Elizabeth James 

Kellie Edwards 

Tim Castle

Geoff Farland 

Chris Tam 

Sarah McCarthy 

Savitha Swami

PCC#1

Edward Muston SC (chair) 

Robert Hollo SC

Ingmar Taylor SC

Matthew Darke SC 

Kate Morgan SC 

Michael Izzo SC 

Vanessa Whittaker SC 

Peter Russell

Kieran Ginges 

Madeleine Avenell 

Elizabeth Raper 

Jennifer Single 

Patrick Knowles 

Daniel Klineberg 

Catherine Gleeson 

Jo Little

Simon Fitzpatrick

Radhika Withana 

Georgia Lewer 

Emma Bathurst 

Vanja Bulut

Georgina Westgarth

PCC#2

Anna Mitchelmore 

SC (chair) 

Nick Kidd SC 

David Mclure SC 

Simon Buchen SC 

Richard Sergi 

Justin Young 

Sean Hughes

Mark Seymour

Donna Ward 

Scott Aspinall 

James Arnott 

Melanie Cairns

Nicholas Broadbent 

Rob Ranken

Nick Kelly 

Emma Beechey 

Zoe Hillman 

Jocelyn Williams 

Belinda Baker

PCC #3

Dr Ruth Higgins SC (chair) 

Gail Furness SC

Peter McGrath SC

Nicholas Owens SC 

David Williams SC 

David Patch

Peter Newton

Elizabeth Welsh

Andre Zahra 

Andrew Fox

James Emmett

Angela Petrie 

Sophie Callan 

Yaseen Shariff 

Clarissa Amato 

Declan Roche 

Nick Kirby 

Conor Bannan

Stephanie Patterson

PROFILE

Committees As at 30 June 2020 (continued)

Working parties
For the year 2019–20

Examination Working Party

Ed Muston SC (chair)

Rob Hollo SC

Pat Griffin SC

Elisabeth Peden SC

Miiko Kumar

Jo Little

Ann Bonnor,

Belinda Baker

PII Working Group

Garry Rich SC

PCC#4

Michael McHugh SC (chair) 

Dominique Hogan-

Doran SC

Dominic Toomey SC

Edward Cox SC 

Mark Anderson

Luke Brasch 

Andrew Naylor

David Rayment

Nicholas Eastman

Michelle England 

Nick Kabilafkas 

Ben Kremer

Lisa Doust

Amy Douglas-Baker 

Peter Maddigan 

Robert Yezerski 

Greg Antipas

Jill Garland

Talitha Hennessy
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Professional Development Department

REPORTS

Arranging and promoting continuing professional development

Our role

The Professional Development 

Department provides continuing 

education and training services to 

all practising barristers in New South 

Wales. The main responsibilities 

of the department are to:

• co-ordinate the induction 

of new barristers – the two 

substantive services for new 

barristers are the Bar Exams and 

the Bar Practice Course; and

• provide continuing professional 

development (CPD) seminars 

and conferences.

The department remains focussed 

on its core objective, which is to 

assist barristers with their ongoing 

professional development by 

providing practical, relevant 

seminars and conferences. In 

2019–20 we offered 42 seminars 

(63 points) covering all four strands, 

plus a number of workshops and 

conferences. Ten CPD seminars 

were postponed due to COVID-19. 

We continue to identify areas of 

concern to members and respond 

with appropriate services in a timely 

and cost-effective manner. We work 

closely with the Bar Council and its 

committees, promoting collegiality 

and mutual assistance among 

members and implementing the 

Bar Association’s Strategic Plan.

Advocacy and strategic legal advice 

are, of course, the hallmarks of 

the Bar. To maintain a standard of 

excellence, the Bar Association has 

developed a program of specialist 

advocacy training. The department 

ran two new training programs in 

conjunction with the Australian 

Advocacy Institute. In October 

2019 the association offered its 

members the Vulnerable Witness 

Advocacy Program, which provided 

practical training in the sensitivities 

involved in dealing with vulnerable 

witnesses in court. The New South 

Wales Bar Association was the first 

independent state Bar to offer such 

a program. Then, in November 2019 

barristers with 3–5 years’ experience 

had the opportunity to hone their 

courtcraft in the Advocacy Skills 

for Trial Advocates workshop.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had 

far-reaching effects on business 

practices, social gatherings and 

training programs in all professions 

and sectors of the economy. 

In response, the Professional 

Development Department has 

adopted new practices, including 

online CPD seminars, webinars 

and training to educate members. 

This has included training on 

digital and conferencing platforms 

such as Zoom and Microsoft 

Teams, keeping barristers up-

to-date on numerous legislative 

changes and decisions of interest, 

discussing ethical quandaries, 

professional conduct matters, 

advanced advocacy, practice 

management and business skills.

Exams

In February 2020 New South 

Wales became the first state Bar 

to offer its Bar Exam in electronic 

format. Candidates typed into an 

answer booklet downloaded onto 

the candidates laptop computer. 

This year, candidates could choose 

between electronic or handwritten 

responses, but over time it is 

expected that completing the 

exams electronically will become 

the norm. February 2020 was the 

ninth time that candidates sat a 

single exam. It was the first time that 

all candidates sat the examination 

in the format comprising of one 

paper with an entirely civil focus and 

the second paper a criminal one.

There were 135 candidates 

registered for the February 2020 

Bar Exam. Of those, 106 sat the 

examination. Eight members of 

the Bar Association assisted in 

the preparation and marking of 

papers. The June 2020 exams were 

cancelled due to the COVID–19 
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Professional Development Department (continued)

REPORTS

Arranging and promoting continuing professional development

pandemic. The Bar Examination 

Working Party – a subcommittee 

of the Education Committee, 

chaired by Edward Muston SC 

– continues to provide support, 

guidance and assistance to the 

department in the implementation 

of Bar Council’s policy on the Bar 

Exam.The Bar Council wishes to 

extend its sincere thanks to all 

those involved in the writing and 

marking of the Bar Examination.

Bar Practice Course

The May 2020 Bar Practice Course 

was cancelled due to the COVID–19 

pandemic. However, the 56th Bar 

Practice Course was held in August–

September 2019, directed by Gillian 

Mahony and 42 readers completed 

the course In 2019–20. Over time, 

an increasing proportion of those 

undertaking the course are women. 

This year it was 38 per cent (women 

comprise approximately 23 per cent 

of the entire New South Wales Bar).

The course is still structured into 

a four-week intensive program 

of full-time study. The course 

format has remained constant 

in recent years, while individual 

components were refined in 

response to feedback, as well as to 

developments in practice at the Bar.

The Bar Practice Course could not 

be delivered to the high standard 

that it is without the very generous 

support of over 200 barristers and 

members of the judiciary who give 

so willingly of their time – frequently 

for both courses, year after year – 

to give readers the best possible 

induction to practice at the Bar.

The Bar Practice Course spans over 

50 scheduled lectures, mini-trials 

and workshops. It involves vast 

numbers of barristers assisting as 

tutors, lecturers, workshop leaders 

and advocacy coaches, as well as 

judges, past and present, from all 

jurisdictions. As such, the course 

continues to be a major part of the 

professional development calendar 

and a considerable administrative 

task, but it culminates in some of the 

most rewarding experiences of the 

year. It is through the Bar Practice 

Course that we see the best of the 

Bar: its collegiality, mentoring and 

tutelage; dedication to courtcraft; 

and the increasing diversity of 

the profession. The commitment 

of all involved is absolute.

The department ran its annual 

advocacy tune-up workshop in 

November. There was a significant 

increase in the take up of this 

workshop, with almost half of the 

readers participating after practising 

for either twelve or six months. 

In early 2020 the department, in 

conjunction with the Australian 

Advocacy Institute, trained 16 new 

advocacy coaches. This included a 

large number of female barristers, 

which will continue to enhance 

the diversity of instructors.

We could not run these courses 

without the continuing support 

from the presenters, instructors and 

judges who set aside time from their 

busy practices to assist in welcoming 

and guiding the newest members of 

the Bar. The Bar Council wishes to 

extend its sincere thanks to all those 

involved in the Bar Practice Course.

Continuing Professional 
Development Program

Continuing professional 

development (CPD) is a mandatory 

requirement of holding a New 

South Wales barrister’s practising 

certificate. As such, it is crucial to 

the professional standards and the 

reputation for excellence at the Bar 

and the Continuing Professional 

Development Program was a 

strategic priority for President Tim 

Game SC in 2019–20. The CPD 

seminar streaming section on the Bar 

Association’s website is now greatly 

enhanced. A library of quality CPD 

seminars, delivered by experts in 

their field, is now more accessible via 

mobile phones and other portable 

In 2019-20 PDD offered

42 seminars

covering all four strands.

The Bar Practice 

Course spans over

50
scheduled lectures, 

mini-trials and workshops.

106
candidates sat the 

February 2020 Bar Exam.
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Professional Development Department (continued)

REPORTS

Arranging and promoting continuing professional development

devices. A calendar application was 

added to provide a visual overview 

of the program and to notify users 

of upcoming events. Members no 

longer have to keep manual CPD 

records. Instead, a built-in application 

linked to their profile automatically 

logs every seminar viewed. In-person 

CPD attendances can be recorded 

manually and all records can be 

exported for PC renewals and CPD 

auditing purposes. The system also 

recommends CPD seminars based 

on preferences and past viewing. 

Planning has begun for a substantial 

upgrade to the audiovisual 

equipment in the Bar Common 

Room. The purpose is to integrate 

videoconferencing platforms 

and allow for greater flexibility in 

the delivery of CPD content, the 

Bar Practice Course and related 

educational, social, and practice 

development events. The upgrade 

will improve the quality of both 

onsite and recorded seminars, 

events, and workshops. At the 

same time, improved integration 

will extend the reach of seminars 

and other educational offerings to 

regional practitioners, as well as 

interstate and internationals Bars. 

Real-time transmission of quality 

video and audio between several 

locations will allow for greater 

flexibility and member engagement.

The conference program continued 

to enjoy strong support from all 

members and provides excellent 

opportunities for networking and 

promoting collegiality. Conferences 

were run throughout February 

and March in Orange, The North 

Coast, Newcastle and The Personal 

Injury conference in Sydney. 

Due to the COVID–19 pandemic, 

the conference planned for 

Parramatta had to be cancelled.

As in previous years, the preparation 

for the conferences for 2021 will 

commence around the time of 

the publication of this annual 

report. If any member would like 

to be involved in the conferences 

– or any aspect of the CPD 

Program – you are encouraged 

to contact the Professional 

Development Department.

The department is pleased to advise 

that as part of its commitment to 

promoting excellence in advocacy 

and in recognition of the importance 

of training the two advocacy 

programs introduced last year, 

the Vulnerable Witness Advocacy 

Program and Advocacy Skills 

for Trial Advocates Workshop 

will continue in 2020–21.

Mentoring Program

Since 2014 the New South Wales Bar 

Association’s Mentoring Program has 

supported over 100 junior barristers 

in their second year at the Bar. The 

program aims to increase retention 

and career progression within 

the Bar. The program is a unique, 

10-month professional development 

initiative supporting junior barristers 

in building confidence, expanding 

networks and achieving a long term 

successful career at the Bar. During 

2019–20 the program continued 

to connect junior barristers with a 

more experienced barrister. The 

senior barristers are mentors and 

confidential advisors, offering a 

private forum outside of chambers 

for mentees to discuss their practice, 

career plans and challenges. The 

2019–20 the program was launched 

in May 2019 and 30 barristers in their 

second year at the bar successfully 

took part in this program.

The Art of Mentoring was engaged 

once more as the external provider 

in 2020 after a full evaluation of 

the program and its suitability to 

the New South Wales Bar. The 

program is currently on hold 

due to the COVID–19 pandemic 

and will re-start early in 2021.

Additional activities

The University Open Day remains 

a popular day in the calendar. 

Held in spring each year it 

attracts over 120 students from 

the 10 law faculties in NSW.

Thank you

As in previous years, the department 

is extremely grateful for all the 

assistance provided by a great 

many volunteers. All give of their 

time freely and generously with the 

aim of maintaining and improving 

standards at the Bar. It would not 

be possible for the department 

to operate without the support 

and commitment of so many.
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Education Committee

Arranging and promoting continuing professional development
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New Barristers Committee

The New Barristers’ Committee 

assists NSW barristers under 

six years’ seniority to maintain a 

standard of excellence and to build 

their practices by providing them 

with tailored Continuing Professional 

Development (CPD) seminars, 

as well as regular networking 

opportunities and collegial events.

The committee also provides 

a great deal of assistance to 

the Professional Development 

Department, particularly in the 

design and provision of CPD 

seminars for the junior Bar. These 

CPDs and workshops provide an 

informal opportunity for under-6s 

to practise their advocacy skills. 

The workshops comprise an initial 

seminar, followed by a group 

cross-examination exercise and 

conclude with a demonstration by 

senior members of the Bar. The 

next scheduled cross-examination 

workshop will be in February–

March 2021. In October 2019 the 

committee ran its annual Judicial 

Q & A, which was well-attended. 

The committee makes submissions 

to the Bar Council regarding 

issues and matters that affect the 

interests of barristers under six 

years’ seniority, and otherwise 

supports the work of the Bar 

Council as and when needed.

The committee provides support 

and guidance to the Bar Council, the 

executive director, the Professional 

Development Department and 

other departments of the New 

South Wales Bar Association in 

respect of the educational activities 

of the Bar, and implements on Bar 

Council’s behalf: the Bar Exam, the 

Bar Practice Course, the tutor and 

reader program, the mentoring 

program and the Continuing 

Professional Development Program. 

In its activities, the Education 

Committee supports the 

attainment of the objectives set 

out in the New South Wales Bar 

Association’s Strategic Plan. 

In 2020 this included: the 

continuing education of 

barristers; the development of 

transformational knowledge 

and skills so that barristers can 

compete in an environment of 

increasing internationalisation 

of the law; equality and 

diversity; and supporting 

readers and the junior Bar.

The committee has made a number 

of policy recommendations to the 

Bar Council and has worked with the 

Examination Working Party and the 

New Barristers’ Committee in relation 

to the exams and issues impacting 

upon the junior Bar. The committee 

this year focussed on improvements 

to the exams, implementing a cap 

on the Bar Practice Course and the 

advancement of the CPD Program.
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BarCare is an integral part 

of the Bar community that 

provides assistance to barristers, 

their family members, clerks 

and Bar Association staff 

members who are experiencing 

difficulties in their professional 

or personal lives. 

The service is funded by the 

Barristers’ Benevolent Association 

and operates independently 

of the Bar Association. The 

service is strictly confidential 

and BarCare does not give any 

personal information to the Bar 

Association without the express 

permission of the barrister involved. 

In addition to providing professional 

psychological or other support 

it also has the capacity to give 

financial assistance in times of need, 

such as illness or bereavement.

In 2019–20 BarCare assisted 79 

people (59 barristers and 20 

family members, clerks and Bar 

Association staff). As in previous 

years the majority of these contacts 

have been self-referred but referrals 

are also made by Bar Association 

staff, clerks colleagues and family 

members. Primary presenting 

problems cover a range of areas, 

including stress and anxiety, 

relationship difficulties, depression, 

alcohol use and bullying and 

harassment. BarCare is available to 

meet and talk with barristers and 

assist them to seek help from one 

of the psychologists or psychiatrists 

on the panel of specialists. 

Alternately barristers are able 

to contact one of the specialists 

directly to make an appointment. 

The Benevolent Association will 

pay for the first three or four 

sessions to support the barrister in 

accessing appropriate professional 

assistance. The service is a 

confidential one. Barristers from 

outside the metropolitan area 

are encouraged to contact Jenny 

Houen who will locate a suitable 

treating practitioner in their area. 

In addition to the usual range of 

issues that may prompt barristers 

to make contact with BarCare, 

this year has presented some 

additional challenges for many. 

The catastrophic bushfires 

at the beginning of the year 

impacted some people living in 

affected areas, or whose family 

members were affected. 

Included in the panel of 

psychologists providing counselling 

services are practitioners who are 

experienced in working with people 

who have suffered from sexual 

harassment, bullying and trauma. 

The recent public reporting on 

sexual harassment in the profession 

has been a source of distress for 

a number of barristers who have 

experienced this personally or 

who have observed aspects of 

a culture in their workplace that, 

in their view, does not challenge 

or address this in an assertive 

or effective manner. The Bar 

Association has acknowledged 

the importance of addressing 

this appropriately and BarCare 

has a role to play in this. Included 

in the panel of psychologists 

providing counselling services are 

practitioners who are experienced 

in working with people who have 

suffered from sexual harassment, 

bullying and trauma. Barristers and 

clerks are encouraged to contact 

Jenny Houen if they would like to 

discuss issues relating to this. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has 

impacted every aspect of our lives 

professionally and personally. For 

many barristers these challenges 

have raised stress and anxiety 

about their practice, financial 

security and the future more 

generally. It has been necessary to 

adapt and change the manner in 

which the profession carries out its 

functions. While this has allowed 

most to continue to practice it 

has been, and continues to be, an 

uncertain and precarious time with 

no clear end in sight. Barristers and 

clerks who confronting difficulties 

as a result of this are encouraged to 

contact Jenny Houen for assistance. 

Barristers’ Benevolent Association

In 2019–20 nine requests for 

financial assistance were submitted 

to the Barristers’ Benevolent 

Association, all of which were 

granted. These grants were made 

to assist barristers and their 

families confronted with a range 

of life challenges, including illness 

and bereavement. Requests for 

assistance should be discussed with 

Jenny Houen. These applications 

are dealt with confidentially by 

the Bar Association’s Executive.
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79
In 2019–20 BarCare 

assisted 59 barristers 

and 20 family 

members, clerks and 

Bar Association staff.

REPORTS
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Primary presenting 
problem

2012–13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Siege 0 0 15 2 2 0 0 0

Bereavement 3 2 4 3 2 2 3 4

Psychological 15 7 17 2 7 7 5 4

Depression 10 11 6 20 16 14 10 5

Stress/anxiety 10 4 15 23 21 28 25 21

Relationship difficulties 1 8 9 4 4 9 11 14

Career advice 0 0 1 3 3 1 2 2

Physical health 4 9 4 9 6 1 1 1

Alcohol 1 3 1 3 3 1 3 2

Financial 3 5 2 5 6 5 7 8

Advice and NFA 6 7 5 9 3 5 4 3

Rejected offer of  
assistance

2 1 0 0 0 1 0 0

Bullying/harassment - - - - - - - 5

COVID-19 - - - - - - - 10

Total 55 57 79 83 73 74 71 79

Source of referral 2012–13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Colleague via bar 2 2 0 0 1 2 1 2

Bar staff 14 14 13 11 8 7 13 8

Self 27 22 48 46 44 48 43 53

Colleague 7 6 7 13 11 8 8 4

Family 1 3 2 2 2 1 1 5

Clerk 2 3 4 2 2 3 3 4

Advice for colleague 2 7 5 9 5 5 2 3

Total 55 57 79 83 73 74 71 79

Gender 2012–13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Male 37 37 47 46 41 44 44 41

Female 18 20 32 37 32 30 27 38

Age (years) 2012–13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

<34 6 3 6 9 8 12 13 15

35–44 12 12 22 14 7 24 21 25

45–55 13 11 27 24 17 12 22 15

56–65 13 15 13 17 20 15 10 16

>65 4 5 2 20 18 2 3 8

Unknown 7 11 9 18 0 9 2 0

Years at bar 2012–13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

<5 12 8 22 25 23 24 24 21

6–15 14 16 26 19 19 22 21 20

16–25 10 12 13 10 14 7 12 8

26–35 7 6 7 11 11 7 7 8

>35 5 3 2 1 4 4 1 2

Unknown 7 12 9 17 2 5 6 0

N/A - - - - - 5 - 20

REPORTS

2012

18%
2020

27%
referrals for stress 

and anxiety

2012

49%
2020

67%
percentage of 

self-referred
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Bar Library
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REPORTS

The Bar Library provides an 

efficient and effective service 

to practising members of the 

profession, as well as to members 

and staff of the Bar Association. 

We assist members to use the 

library productively by providing:

• information resources in the 

most appropriate medium;

• a relevant, up-to-date and 

balanced collection; and

• resources to enhance 

barristers’ skills.

Barristers must stay up-to-date with 

key principles of law and procedures 

relating to their areas of practice. 

This requires research skills sufficient 

to determine the relevant legal 

issues, locate legislation, identify 

recent cases and assess the quality 

of sources. They also need to access 

archival material in a timely fashion.

The library assists barristers by 

identifying, selecting, acquiring, 

processing and lending 

materials in accordance with the 

parameters of the Collection 

Development Policy. We provide:

• legal reference services for 

members, exam candidates 

and Bar Association staff;

• library orientation and 

legal research training;

• an online library catalogue 

that enables members to find, 

follow and access the materials 

relevant to their practice; and

• an index of current free 

access legal web links

For the first nine months of 2019–20 

the library provided services in 

the usual way. During that time, 

our reference service dealt with 

almost 4000 requests: an average 

of 104 requests per week.

On 24 March 2020, in accordance 

with government directives, Bar 

Association staff commenced 

working from home. Initially, 

the librarians provided an off-

site reference service, and 

requests increased slightly, from 

approximately 20 to 23 per day 

during the period 24 March to 

30 June. Loans were tracking at 

around 170–180 per week until 

24 March, when they collapsed. 

Between the last week of March and 

4 June, there was only one loan, 

the transfer of a book from one 

barrister to another. After 9 June, 

when the government relaxed the 

lockdown provisions, a click, collect 

and return service for textbooks was 

launched. One librarian attended for 

two days per week to organise this 

and loans have increased steadily. 

By the end of the reporting period, 

around 50 books were being 

borrowed per week. Patience was 

required by both barristers and 

librarians as the guidelines regarding 

library materials meant that books 

had to be quarantined for 24–72 

hours before being re-loaned.

Major publishers relaxed some 

licence conditions and made 

materials more widely available. The 

librarians could send copies of cases 

and articles that had previously 

only been available to users in the 

library. Textbooks that we had 

purchased in hard copy were made 

available on the LexisAdvance 

website for the librarians to research 

and send copyright-compliant 

sections to members. Some texts 

were also made available on 

LexisRed for members to borrow.

Interestingly, a number of gaps 

in materials available online 

became evident. Some titles such 

as the NSW Weekly Notes, NSW 

Compensation Court Reports, 

Australian Bankruptcy Cases, NSW 

Industrial Arbitration Reports, and 

Commonwealth Arbitration Reports 

remain available solely in hard copy. 

Some specialist law report series 

such as the Administrative Appeals 

Reports, Butterworths Property 

Reports and the Australian Torts 

Reports don’t have a complete 

archives or PDF copies online. 

Demand for these resources 

remained during the pandemic and 

the library’s professional networks 

proved invaluable in meeting the 

information needs of members. 

This experience reinforced and 

strengthened the collegiality of the 

profession, which declined in the 

era of licensing agreements. The 

library is putting in measures to 

comply with the NSW Government’s 

COVID-19 guidelines for libraries, 

which relate to the wellbeing of staff 

and visitors, physical distancing, 

hygiene and cleaning and record 

keeping. We are grateful for the 

patience and consideration of 

members during this time.

The library continues to provide 

Between the last week of 

March and 4 June, there 

was only one loan.
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Number of loans by month for financial years

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

lo
a
n

s 
b

y
 m

o
n

th

0

300

600

900

1200

1500

JuneMayAprilMarchFebruaryJanuaryDecember

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

NovemberOctoberSeptemberAugust July

Reference requests by month for financial years

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

re
q

u
e
st

s 
b

y
 m

o
n

th

0

JuneMayAprilMarchFebruaryJanuaryDecember

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

NovemberOctoberSeptemberAugust July

100

200

300

400

500

600

support to the Bar Book Club 

and the Bar Knit Group: services 

aimed at improving wellbeing 

for members. Since COVID-19, 

these meetings have been held 

via Zoom providing an interesting 

new dynamic to the groups.

Thanks also go to the librarians who 

continue to provide the same high 

level of service to members despite 

the upheaval of recent months.

Assisting barristers with the economic and personal challenges of a sole practitioner

Bar Library (continued)
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Collegiality is crucial to the wellbeing 

of all who practise at the New 

South Wales Bar. Unfortunately, the 

Wellbeing Committee’s program 

of social functions and seminars, 

developed over several years, has 

been adversely affected by the 

COVID-19 pandemic. In March 

2020 the committee was forced to 

cancel numerous events set down 

for 2020 and to find alternative 

modes of delivering programs to 

promote collegiality and self-care. 

At the same time, the committee 

has broadened its focus to include 

the effects of new and unexpected 

phenomena, such as social distancing 

and working from home, rapid 

adoption of untried or unproven 

methods of conducting virtual trials, 

financial stress and the uncertainty 

caused by a suspension of jury trials.

Bar Online Learning and 
Training (BOLT)

State and federal courts have 

responded to the COVID-19 

pandemic with a rapid uptake of 

audiovisual technology, such as 

Microsoft Teams, Cisco Webex 

and Zoom, and the advent of 

‘virtual trials’. This was a profound 

disruption for many members of 

the Bar, particularly the more senior 

ones, and required a new skillset.

The committee has broadened its 

focus to include the effects of new 

and unexpected phenomena, such 

as social distancing and working 

from home, rapid adoption of 

untried or unproven methods of 

conducting virtual trials, financial 

stress and the uncertainty caused 

by a suspension of jury trials.

Even though in-court appearances 

resumed in New South Wales, the 

possibility of localised outbreaks 

or a second wave of coronavirus 

makes it prudent to plan for at 

least an occasional reversion to 

virtual courts. Having broken new 

ground with AV technology, the 

lessons shouldn’t be un-learned.

The Wellbeing Committee proposed 

a ‘reverse reading program’, under 

which readers with more familiarity 

Wellbeing Committee

REPORTS
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Wellbeing Committee Charter

The purpose of the committee 

is to encourage members of the 

New South Wales Bar to live a 

balanced and healthy lifestyle.

It achieves this through 

education and by facilitating 

organised sporting, social 

and recreational activities.
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REPORTS

Assisting barristers with the economic and personal challenges of a sole practitioner

with the Online Court and aptitude 

for AVL technology, could assist 

those without. The proposal 

crossed the areas of responsibility 

of four other committees: 

Innovation & Technology, Practice 

Development, Education and 

New Barristers. For this reason, 

Wellbeing Committee Chair Kylie 

Nomchong SC coordinated the 

‘Five Committees’, which produced 

the Bar Online Learning and 

Training (BOLT) Program. At the 

time of reporting, the curriculum 

is drafted and the first volunteer 

trainers have come forward.

Eat, sleep, move

Despite COVID-19 the Wellbeing 

Committee remains focussed on ‘Eat, 

Sleep, Move’, a project designed to 

inform members about the physical 

and psychological benefits of proper 

sleep, eating and exercise. The health 

and wellbeing benefits of proper 

sleep are still being quantified, and 

data collected during the QoWL 

Survey showed that barristers are 

suffering from a sleep deficit.1 The 

Wellbeing Committee planned 

to hold a seminar by Professor 

Naismith, who is the director of the 

Clinical Research Unit at the Brain & 

Mind Research Institute, University of 

Sydney. The committee is 

investigating ways to convert the 

event into a Zoom webinar, perhaps 

hosted by the University of Sydney.

Bar Sports

The Wellbeing Committee supports 

a wide range of sporting activities 

for barristers by providing ‘seed 

capital’ for registrations, secretarial 

functions and promotion via InBrief. 

The committee entered a netball 

team, ‘The Full Court Bench’, in the 

Autumn 2020 competition. They 

played their first game on 3 March 

before the season was subsequently 

cancelled, but organisers are 

confident that the competition 

will re-start later in 2020. Similarly, 

the committee entered teams in 

the Sydney Morning Herald Half 

Marathon and formed the Bar Cycling 

Team, only to see events cancelled or 

re-scheduled for much later in 2020.

Zoom yoga at the desk

The Bar Yoga group was the first 

to adapt to COVID-19 when it used 

Zoom to conduct ‘yoga at the desk’ 

– simple stretching and relaxation

exercises for members working

from home. The Bar Association

funded a free, no-obligation trial in

the first half of April. The feedback

was extremely positive and plans are

progressing for it to be included in

the September Bar Practice Course.

Vicarious trauma

It is accepted that a significant 

percentage of the Bar experience 

vicarious trauma through their 

work in crime, personal injury, 

medical negligence, family law, 

work health and safety. For this 

reason, the Wellbeing Committee 

has now run three seminars on 

vicarious trauma by psychologist, 

Robyn Bradey, the most recent of 

which was run on Wednesday, 13 

November 2019. Approximately 20 

people attended and the feedback 

was very positive. Robyn kindly 

gave permission for her select 

passages of her lecture notes to be 

reproduced on the wellbeing pages 

of the Bar Association’s website.

The Black Dog

The most recent statistics from 

BarCare show that the primary 

presenting problems for barristers 

accessing BarCare are stress and 

anxiety, followed by relationship 

difficulties and depression. The 

Quality of Working Life Survey 2018 

revealed a lack of general wellbeing 

(36 per cent) and dissatisfaction with 

work/life balance (36 per cent).

The Bar Council has approved a 

Wellbeing Committee proposal 

for a partnership with the Black 

Dog Institute to provide a series of 

one-hour in-house mental health 

training presentation for chambers. 

The first of these was scheduled 

to take place at the Parramatta 

regional CPD conference in March. 

The conference, along with the 

workshop, was cancelled due to the 

COVID-19 pandemic. Preparations 

were redirected to presenting 

sessions via Zoom, beginning with 

the September Bar Practice Course.

Experienced Barristers Program

A signal achievement for the 

committee came on 1 August 2019 

when the Bar Council approved the 

Experienced Barrister Program. At 

present, there are approximately 780 

practising barristers over the age of 

60 and 248 over the age of 70, and 

the Experienced Barrister Program 

is directed to the wellbeing of this 

The second Experienced Barristers Lunch was held on Wednesday, 12 February 2020. The guest of 
honour was the Hon Murray Gleeson AC QC
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cohort during, and after, their life at 

the Bar. The approach is two-fold: 

to hold collegial social functions 

and to provide opportunities for 

senior members to volunteer.

Lunches

First, the program’s steering 

committee set down a series of 

lunches to be held on the second 

Wednesday of every second month 

at the Union, University and Sports 

Club. Certificates marking 50 years 

in practice would be presented and 

speeches made in honour of the 

recipients. The inaugural Experienced 

Barristers Lunch was a great success. 

In a lively and collegial atmosphere, 

more than 80 guests celebrated 50 

years of practice at the New South 

Wales Bar by Anthony Bellanto QC, 

Dennis Wheelahan QC and John 

Shaw. The guest of honour, John 

Howard OM AC, spoke about his 

time as a solicitor, as a campaign 

manager for the Hon Tom Hughes 

AO QC and life after politics. The 

second lunch, held on Wednesday, 

12 February 2020, was equally 

successful. The guest of honour was 

the Hon Murray Gleeson AC QC 

and certificates were be presented 

to Peter Hennessy SC and Robert 

Stitt QC. Unfortunately, lunches 

scheduled for April and beyond 

were cancelled due to the COVID-19 

pandemic. Alternative formats were 

considered carefully, but rejected 

as unsuitable or impractical. Later in 

2020 the committee will weigh up 

all available public health and events 

management advice regarding how 

and when the lunches might resume.

Mooting

The Bar Association has long been 

involved sporadically in judging law 

school mooting competitions. The 

Wellbeing Committee recognised 

the benefit that would accrue to 

senior barristers who volunteer to 

impart their knowledge to the next 

generation of lawyers, particularly 

those who are potentially interested 

in a career at the Bar. A pilot 

program was established with the 

University of New South Wales 

Law Society for preliminary rounds 

of the Allens Linklaters Senior 

Mooting Competition in March and 

April 2020. Following a call for 

volunteers, the Experienced Barrister 

Program and the Bar provided 

judging panels of two barristers for 

14 moots. This experience, which 

was unique for ordinary student 

mooting (as opposed to grand 

finals or higher level competitions) 

was very well received by the 

barristers and students involved.

Australian Business Volunteers 
(ABV) Program

The Wellbeing Committee was 

tasked with co-ordinating the Bar 

Association’s organised skilled 

volunteering program, focussed on 

capability building in selected South 

Pacific and Pacific Rim countries. 

The program was being designed 

through collaboration with Australian 

Business Volunteers (ABV). The 

program was budgeted for the 2020-

21 financial year, but restrictions 

on international travel due to the 

COVID-19 pandemic have forced 

its cancellation. It is unlikely that 

planning will resume until late 2021.

Other collegial events

The Wellbeing Committee hosted 

two successful city-based Bench 

and Bar lunches last year, which were 

attended by over 70 members of 

the Bar and the judiciary, as well as 

its first Bench & Bar Wine Tasting 

night on Tuesday, 15 October 2019. 

Unfortunately, these events were the 

first to fall victim to the public health 

regulations and they are unlikely to 

return during the remainder of 2020.

Methodology

The recent Productivity Commission 

draft report on mental health in the 

workplace is being followed closely 

by the committee with a view to 

developing wellbeing and resilience 

indicators for barristers. One leading 

indicator of depression and low 

quality of working life scores reported 

during the 2017 Quality of Working 

Life survey of members is the number 

of unpaid hours, weekends worked 

and the amount of leave taken. 

In order to better understand the 

extent of the problem, the 2020 

practising certificate renewal survey 

(Appendix A) includes questions 

on the number of weekends and 

public holidays on which barristers 

have worked and the amount of 

leave taken in the past year.

1 The Quality of Working Life Survey 2018 

revealed that only 33 per cent of members 

surveyed reported they were able to get 

enough sleep (compared to 43 per cent of 

the benchmark sample). 66 per cent reported 

experiencing stress at work (compared to 

45 per cent of the benchmark sample).

The first Bench & Bar Wine Tasting night on Tuesday, 15 October 2019.

Wellbeing Committee (continued)
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Costs and Fees Committee

REPORTS

Assisting barristers with the economic and personal challenges of a sole practitioner

The 2019–20 year saw an increase 

in the Costs and Fees Committee’s 

policy and law reform work. The 

committee has continued to 

advocate for the Bar and to work 

to support the Bar Association’s 

members, particularly during 

the COVID-19 pandemic.

This year also marked the 

retirement of Mark Brabazon 

SC from the committee after a 

decade as committee chair and 13 

years as a committee member.

The committee thanks Mark 

Brabazon SC for his extraordinary 

service and contribution in the area of 

costs both to the New South Wales 

Bar and to individual members.

From 1 January 2020, the 

committee has been chaired by 

Mark Walsh SC, who is also the 

Bar Council’s representative on the 

Supreme Court of NSW’s Costs 

Assessment Rules Committee.

Active participation in policy 
development, law reform & 
stakeholder engagement

The committee’s output included 

submissions in response to the Law 

Council of Australia’s discussion 

paper on legal expenses in Australia 

and the Joint Costs Advisory 

Committee’s inquiry into legal 

practitioners’ scale of costs.

The committee has monitored 

with interest the ongoing issue 

of class action contingency fees. 

The committee prepared a memo 

to the Bar Council on the ethical 

and regulatory issues that may 

arise for the profession were 

contingency fees to be introduced.

This memorandum informed the Bar 

Association’s contribution to the Law 

Council of Australia on the propriety 

of lawyers receiving contingency 

fees and an opinion piece by the 

president in The Australian in 

March. In addition, the committee 

prepared a submission to the 

Parliamentary Joint Committee on 

Corporations and Financial Services’ 

inquiry into litigation funding and 

the regulation of the class action 

industry, which will look into, among 

other matters, contingency fees 

in representative proceedings.

The committee is grateful to 

members Janet McDonald, Philippe 

Doyle Gray and its policy officer for 

their significant contributions to the 

committee’s work on these issues.

In addition to responding to requests 

for submissions, the committee 

has proactively pursued law reform 

projects. For example, the committee 

has promoted changes to section 

198 of the Legal Profession Uniform 

Law to ameliorate the strict 12-month 

limitation period for lawyers to make 

applications for costs assessment.

Finally, the committee conducted 

with the assistance of its policy 

officer a comparative assessment of 

offer-of-compromise regimes across 

Australia’s nine jurisdictions and 

England and Wales and prepared a 

research note for the Bar Council.

Support and encouragement 
of the New South Wales Bar

In 2019 the committee re-

drafted the costs precedents for 

barristers and further updated 

the precedents in 2020 to include 

references to the National Bank of 

Australia’s new escrow service.

The precedents have been uploaded 

onto the Bar Association’s website 

and well-received by members. 

The committee also assisted the 

ADR Committee to review the costs 

clauses in the Bar Association’s 

sample mediation, arbitration and 

expert determination agreements.

To assist members, the committee 

produced a guidance note for 

practitioners on wasted costs 

orders directed at lawyers 

under section 99 of the Civil 

Procedure Act 2005 (NSW).

The committee has also taken 

a keen interest in the problem 

of fee recovery, particularly 

for junior barristers. In March 

the committee hosted a CPD 

event aimed at members in their 

first five years of practice.

The seminar included guidance 

to Under 5s on the practical 

steps for timely fee recovery and 

highlighted the costs precedents 

on the Bar Association’s website.

The committee used the event to 

ascertain informally how widespread 

the problem of unpaid invoices is at 

the Bar, with a view to reviewing what 

assistance the Bar Association can 

provide to members in the future.

To ascertain the extent of the 

problem of unpaid fees at the 

New South Wales Bar, the 

committee provided suggestions 

to the Bar Association on the 

wording of the 2020–21 practising 

certificate survey’s questions 

concerning overdue fees.

The issue of contingency fees and 

the policy questions regarding 

third-party fund of class actions 

raised by the High Court’s December 

2019 decision in BMW Australia Ltd 

v Brewster & Anor [2019] HCA 45 

were also the subject matter of a 

videolink CPD in March, presented by 

committee member David Stewart.

Members continue to enjoy the 

services of the Bar Association’s 

fee-recovery scheme, which 

is overseen by the committee 

and the Bar Association’s 

deputy executive director.

The fee-recovery scheme continues 

to be an invaluable support to 

New South Wales barristers.

To lessen the financial hardships 

that may be caused to members 

by COVID-19, the committee 

recommended to Bar Council that 

the eligibility criteria for assistance 

be relaxed during the pandemic 

to allow members to benefit from 

the scheme to recover fees that 

had been unpaid for more than 

90 days, rather than six months.
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REPORTS

Assisting barristers with the economic and personal challenges of a sole practitioner

The Innovation and Technology 

Committee made a significant 

contribution to increasing 

knowledge of and engagement 

with technology throughout 

the Bar during 2019–20, in 

accordance with the committee’s 

mandate under the Strategic 

Plan and Committee Charter.

The committee’s advice and support 

for the Bar Council, members and 

their professional development, and 

the Bar Association has been critical 

during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Educating and equipping 
members to embrace the latest 
technology in their practice

The Bar Association’s 2017–20 

Strategic Plan recognised that we 

are practising at a time where there 

is a ‘rapid pace of change in the 

legal environment’ and ongoing 

‘rapid changes in technology and 

communication in society’. 

In 2020 the COVID-19 pandemic 

resulted in an unprecedented reliance 

on technology by the courts, the 

profession and the community.

In 2020 the COVID-19 pandemic 

resulted in an unprecedented 

reliance on technology by the courts, 

the profession and the community. 

The committee has played, and 

continues to play, an important role 

in educating members on the use of 

the latest technology and its wider 

implications, including for access to, 

and the administration of, justice. 

The committee has also worked to 

identify, investigate and monitor 

technological developments that 

impact upon the nature of barristers’ 

work and practices, and support 

the Bar to adapt accordingly.

The committee has also worked to 

identify, investigate and monitor 

technological developments that 

impact upon the nature of barristers’ 

work and practices, and support 

the Bar to adapt accordingly.

As most courts and tribunals 

adopted some variation of an 

online platform in response to the 

lock down and social distancing 

requirements, the committee 

identified opportunities to support 

members to upskill and consolidate 

their technological skills, ensuring 

members could effectively and 

confidently continue their practice.

To assist members with 

incorporating this technology into 

their practices, the committee 

set up and ran for some months a 

virtual help line through the email 

address ‘technology_assist@

nswbar.asn.au’ for members, 

to provide timely, personalised 

assistance with any questions 

or issues raised by members.

The committee also established a 

LinkedIn group to share instructional 

videos, tutorials and training 

manuals for videoconferencing 

platforms, including Cisco Webex, 

Microsoft Teams, Zoom and the 

NSW Online Registry. Approximately 

180 barristers joined the group, 

with the committee providing 

significant support to members, in 

line with the committee’s charter.

At the close of 2019–20, the 

committee was continuing to 

work with the Bar Association’s 

committees, including the Practice 

Development, Wellbeing, and New 

Barristers committees, to develop 

the Bar Online Learning and Training 

Program (BOLT). The program 

is designed to further develop 

barristers’ soft-skills in a novel way 

while promoting collegiality of the 

Bar by providing reverse mentoring 

opportunities. The program is 

designed to enable junior barristers 

to share their skill and expertise in 

using virtual courtroom technology 

and videoconferencing with 

members of the Bar who may be 

less confident or less experienced 

in using these technologies.

In addition, the committee 

organised a CPD seminar in March 

on ‘Robots and Work’. Presenter 

Hugh Durrant-Whyte, NSW chief 

scientist & engineer, and Chair 

Michael Green SC explored the 

issues that living and working 

alongside robots has created, 

including for legal practitioners in 

areas such as negligence, criminal 

and civil liability, ownership, 

health law, shareholder disputes, 

insurance, contracts and privacy.

The committee has also led the 
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REPORTS

Assisting barristers with the economic and personal challenges of a sole practitioner

delivery of an enhanced Find-

a-Barrister facility, which will be 

further improved in 2020–21.

Promote awareness of digital 
security requirements and 
guard against potential 
breaches of data security

At the close of 2019–20, preparations 

were underway by the committee to 

host a Zoom CPD session in August 

titled ‘Data and Development: The 

Intersection of Cybersecurity and 

the Law’, presented by Alistair 

MacGibbon, Chief Strategy Officer 

at CyberCX with committee member 

Tamir Maltz. This CPD resonates 

with the committee’s obligation 

under its charter to ensure members 

are aware of digital security 

requirements and guard against 

potential breaches of data security.

The Chair and committee member 

Wen Wu assisted in providing 

urgent input into a range of policy 

submissions, including concerning the 

impacts of emergency amendments 

to the Electronic Transactions 

Act 2000 (NSW) and proposals 

concerning allowing esignature 

and ewitnessing of documents.

Provide advice to Bar Council on 

matters relating to technology 

and technological developments 

that may change the nature of a 

barrister’s work and practice

The committee’s advice was 

frequently sought by the Bar Council 

Executive to assist with policy 

responses to the NSW Department 

of Communities and Justice and to 

the courts during the pandemic. 

In particular, the Bar Association’s 

concern was to work with courts, 

tribunals and governments to protect 

the importance of the rule of law and 

the principles of justice by seeking 

to articulate standards online.

The committee provided advice on 

the diverse limitations of remote 

Innovation & Technology 
Committee Charter

• Identify, investigate and 

monitor new technological 

developments that may change 

the nature of a barristers work 

and their practice;

• Educate members on the latest 

technology and ensure members 

are properly equipped to use 

and embrace developments 

that may boost efficiency and 

productivity;

• Assist members with 

incorporating the latest 

technology into their practice;

• Ensure members are aware of 

digital security requirements 

and guard against potential 

breaches of data security;

• Promote and ensure the ethical 

use of digital devices and 

services including social media, 

cloud based file sharing, data 

security, storage and deletion, 

hardware and software; and

• Provide advice to Bar Council on 

matters relating to technology 

as requested.

hearings and the shortcomings of 

and opportunities to improve the 

off-the-shelf videoconferencing 

products relied upon during the 

pandemic. The chair contributed to 

a diverse working group of members 

to draft the Bar Association’s 

Protocol for Remote Hearings, which 

was subsequently endorsed by the 

chief justice of New South Wales.

Chair Michael Green SC and 

committee member Wen Wu 

assisted in providing urgent input 

into a range of policy submissions, 

including concerning the impacts 

of emergency amendments to 

the Electronic Transactions Act 

2000 (NSW) and proposals 

concerning allowing esignature 

and ewitnessing of documents.

The committee also provided 

input, alongside the Human Rights 

Committee, to the Bar Association’s 

submission to the Australian 

Human Rights Commission 

regarding Rights and Technology, 

including during COVID-19.

Outreach and student participation

This year, the committee has worked 

to strengthen its connections with 

university students. At the close of 

the reporting period, the committee 

was finalising a joint project with 

the Sydney University Law Society 

and Sydney Law School to launch 

a Legal Innovation and Technology 

Blog Competition, with assistance 

from the committee’s academic 

member, Dr Carolyn McKay.



30 | New South Wales Bar Association Annual Report 2019-20

Diversity and Equality Committee

Supporting equity and diversity

REPORTS

The Diversity and Equality 

Committee has continued in 

2019–20 to lead the development 

and implementation of strategies 

to promote and consolidate the 

New South Wales Bar that best 

reflects the community it serves.

Developing and providing 
sound policy advice on diversity 
and equality matters

The committee continues to advise 

the Bar Council on, and work with the 

Bar Association and its committees 

to address, diversity and equality 

matters at the New South Wales Bar.

Combatting sexual harassment in the 

legal profession remains an ongoing 

priority for the Bar Association.

Combatting sexual harassment 

in the legal profession remains 

an ongoing priority for the Bar 

Association. The committee’s work 

has included advising on the Bar 

Association’s ongoing responses to 

the International Bar Association’s 

Us Too? Report and more recently 

the Australian Human Rights 

Commission’s 2020 Respect@

Work: Sexual Harassment National 

Inquiry Report. The committee has 

drafted fact sheets and resources to 

assist those who have experienced 

sexual harassment, as well as 

chambers and others receiving 

allegations of sexual harassment, 

to understand the support and 

reporting pathways available to them.

In May the committee prepared 

a submission to the Legislative 

Council’s inquiry into the Anti-

Discrimination Amendment 

(Complaint Handling) Bill 2020 

(NSW). At the close of 2019–20, the 

committee assisted the president 

and the Bar Association to make 

representations to the attorney 

general of New South Wales, 

advocating for improvements to 

the Anti-Discrimination Act 1977 

(NSW) to overcome existing 

lacunas and ensure sexual 

harassment is unlawful in workplaces 

across the legal profession.

The committee has also advised 

on opportunities presented by the 

unprecedented use of technology by 

the courts to improve accessibility 

and flexibility of practice at the Bar 

for all members post-pandemic. 

The committee has provided 

advice and feedback to Bar Council 

Executive and the Bar Association 

concerning the impacts of COVID-

19-related alternate protocols and 

procedures implemented by the 

courts on practitioners, including 

members and clients with carer 

responsibilities. The committee 

has also advised on opportunities 

presented by the unprecedented 

use of technology by the courts 

to improve accessibility and 

flexibility of practice at the Bar for 

all members post-pandemic.

Throughout the year, the Bar 

Association’s advocates for change 

have worked with Chair Kate 

Eastman SC and the committee 

to raise awareness of, and 

continue to promote, inclusion.

Equitable briefing

The committee continues to work 

collaboratively with the Women 

Barristers Forum, including through 

the joint Equitable Briefing Working 

Group. The working group and 

committee have undertaken 

extensive work to promote equitable 

briefing at the New South Wales Bar 

over the last 18 months, including 

attending various equitable 

briefing functions and assisting 

with a number of seminars.

In June 2019 the committee hosted, 

with the Women Barristers Forum, 

the CPD ‘In Conversation with 

Our Clients: Fresh Perspectives on 

Equitable Briefing’, presented by 

the Honourable Justice Gleeson 

(chair), Jane Needham SC, Kylie Gray 

(Westpac), Gwyn Jones (RMS).

In addition, the committee assisted 

with a CV workshop in October 

2019 and the ‘Using Time Efficiently’ 

seminar in November 2019.

The Bar Association wrote to 

Chief Justice Bathurst and Chief 

Justice Allsop concerning junior 

counsel being encouraged to 

take on speaking roles.

The Bar Association wrote to 

Chief Justice Bathurst and Chief 

Justice Allsop concerning junior 

counsel being encouraged to take 

on speaking roles. This advocacy 

has been extremely well received 

and feedback from the initiative 

has been positive, including flow-

over impacts to the Family Court 

and Federal Circuit Court.

The chair has worked with and 

consulted a number of law 

firms and provided advice and 

data on equitable briefing to 

the Hon Gabrielle Upton MP.

The chair and director, Policy and 

Public Affairs, are working with 

the Equitable Briefing Working 

Group to develop the Equitable 

Briefing Strategic Plan for the next 

3–5 years, in concert with and 

reflecting the Bar Association’s 

own Strategic Plan 2020–25.
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Contribution to education 
and Continuing Professional 
Development

The committee has provided quality 

continuing professional development 

for all barristers on ethical, 

substantive and practice matters 

involving diversity and equality.

In August 2019 the committee led 

the CPD ‘Us Too? Bullying and 

Sexual harassment in the Legal 

Profession – What is the NSW Bar 

Doing?’ The CPD was presented 

by Kylie Nomchong SC (chair, 

Wellbeing Committee); Larissa 

Andelman (president, Women 

Lawyers Association NSW) and 

Kieran Pender (senior legal adviser, 

Legal Policy & Research Unit – 

International Bar Association) and 

chaired by President Tim Game SC.

Throughout 2019–20 the committee 

has prepared weekly diversity blogs 

for InBrief to profile current issues of 

interest and relevance to members.

Throughout 2019–20 the committee 

has prepared weekly diversity blogs 

for InBrief to profile current issues of 

interest and relevance to members.

Chair Kate Eastman SC presented at 

the Bar Practice Course in October 

2019 to explain the role of and work 

done in relation to the Diversity 

and Equality Committee, and will 

deliver a presentation at the next 

Bar Practice Course in 2020.

In response to the COVID-19 

pandemic, the committee has 

undertaken extensive planning 

to pivot its annual Sybil Morrison 

Lecture 2020 and Female Law 

Students Open Day 2020, co-hosted 

with the Women Barristers Forum, 

to online platforms in August.

International Day of People 
with a disability day and 
International Women’s Day

The committee assisted President 

Tim Game SC and the chair of the 

Bar Association’s Accessibility Panel 

to prepare a media statement to 

acknowledge International Day for 

People with Disability in December 

2019 and raise awareness of 

challenges that people with disability 

face in accessing the justice system. 

The committee continues to work 

closely with the Accessibility Panel, 

which was formally launched in 

October 2019, to support its ongoing 

development and advocacy.

The committee led a 72 hour 

#IWD2020 #EachforEqual twitter 

campaign in March 2020, featuring a 

rolling photo wall to raise awareness 

of and celebrate International 

Women’s Day and the importance 

of equality. A dozen barristers of all 

levels of seniority and across practise 

had their photo taken and posted 

making the equals sign with their 

arms. The campaign received more 

than 31,000 impressions (times 

people saw a tweet) and more 

than 1,575 engagements (number 

of times people interacted with a 

tweet). The president also issued 

a media statement to coincide 

with the campaign and reinforce 

the importance of equality.

Engagement with other 
committees, professional 
bodies and stakeholders

In 2019 at the committee’s 

recommendation the Bar 

Association became a signatory to 

Pride in Diversity, a not-for-profit 

workplace program designed to 

assist Australian employers with the 

inclusion of lesbian, gay, bisexual, 

transgender and intersex employees.

The committee has continued 

to engage with universities and 

students, including through 

the successful annual Female 

Coming to the Bar Open Day in 

August 2019 and attendances at 

universities to talk about life at the 

Bar, including Notre Dame and the 

Sydney University Careers Fair.

The committee has continued its 

strong history of engagement 

Diversity and Equality Committee (continued)

Supporting equity and diversity

REPORTS

The Diversity and Equality 
Committee Charter

• The Diversity and Equality 

Committee leads the 

development, implementation 

and promotion of strategies, 

policies and initiatives designed 

to attract, retain and nurture 

members of the NSW Bar 

who are reflective of the 

community they serve.

• The committee fosters best 

practice, diversity, inclusion 

of difference and equality of 

opportunity for its members.

• It seeks to ensure that people 

who wish to join the bar and its 

members are treated equally 

and not disadvantaged by 

their unique attributes which 

contribute to the overall 

advancement of the profession.

• Through education, the 

committee aims to promote 

diversity, the value of difference, 

eliminate prejudice and bias 

and encourage equality 

and collegiality among the 

members of the Bar.

with the Law Council of Australia, 

Australian Bar Association and 

the International Bar Association, 

including through Chair Kate 

Eastman SC serving as chair 

of the Law Council’s Equal 

Opportunity Committee.
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Supporting equity and diversity

Accessibility Panel

The Accessibility Panel was 

established in October 2019 to 

consider, address and respond 

to matters involving disability, 

access and inclusion, and assist 

in the delivery of the aims and 

objectives of barristers with a 

disability. The panel’s work also 

includes addressing issues in built 

environments, such as chambers and 

court buildings, that affect people 

working at or visiting those locations.

The panel’s first months of operation 

have been extremely productive and 

rewarding. Three subcommittees 

have been formed to provide 

targeted advice and progress 

key initiatives relating to policy, 

education and the built environment.

The panel is committed to listening 

to members of the profession, 

including barristers with lived 

experience of disability, and 

working collaboratively with 

chambers, courts and community 

to drive meaningful solutions.

The Bar Association thanks 

Chair Robert Dubler SC, and 

the panel’s founding members 

for their enthusiasm, vision and 

hard work during 2019–20.

Raising awareness of accessibility 
and fostering effective 
working relationships

The Accessibility Panel has worked 

tirelessly to establish and nurture 

close working relationships with key 

stakeholders including NSW and 

federal courts, disability advocacy 

organisations and pro bono 

service providers. Chair Robert 

Dubler SC, panel member Craig 

Everson and the Bar Association’s 

director, policy and public affairs, 

have met and corresponded with 

representatives of the courts, 

state and federal disability 

discrimination commissioners 

and the NSW sheriff regarding 

access to the courts for clients 

and practitioners with disability.

Some of the challenges people 

with a disability face in accessing or 

participating in justice include the 

need for adjustments to physical 

environments or infrastructure to 

make our courts and chambers 

more accessible for everyone.

For example:

1. the panel has advocated to 

the City of Sydney Council 

regarding accessibility issues 

and disabled parking in and 

around court precincts;

2. the panel has sought to 

advocate for more effective 

hearing loops in the courts for 

practitioners and other court 

participants with hearing issues;

3. the panel has corresponded and 

met with the NSW sheriff and 

representative of the federal 

courts in NSW to improve the 

screening process for court 

participants with disabilities.

Consideration should also be given 

to promoting greater flexibility in 

court procedures and properly 

resourcing legal assistance 

to support those in need.

Policy advocacy

The Accessibility Panel has 

undertaken both proactive and 

reactive policy advocacy.

In 2019 the panel worked closely 

with the president and the Diversity 

and Equality Committee to prepare 

a media statement in recognition 

of International Day for People with 

Disability. The purpose of the release 

was to raise awareness of challenges 

that people with disability face 

in accessing the justice system 

and encourage members of the 

New South Wales Bar to start a 

conversation with their chambers 

and colleagues about improving 

access to, and engagement with, 

the justice system for clients 

and colleagues with disability.

In 2020 the Accessibility Panel 

collaborated with the Criminal Law 

Committee on a submission to the 

Disability Royal Commission in 

response to its Issues Paper, Criminal 

Justice System. Recommendations 

included appointing a dedicated 

courts disability liaison officer 

with ready access to the court 

registrars and administrators and 

that a review be undertaken of the 

funding and resourcing of NSW 

state courts, including those in 

regional and remote areas, with 

the aim of identifying the capacity 

of each court to meet priorities 

including sufficient accessible and 

proximate parking, ramps into and 

within courtrooms to enable ease 

of access; sufficient mobility and 

hearing loops within the courtroom.

The panel is continuing work 

on a further submission to the 

Disability Royal Commission 

regarding accessibility issues in 

the justice system more broadly.

The panel is developing information 

and improved resources, including 

website content, for members about 

accessibility of the Bar Association’s 

premises and the courts.

Further, the panel has been 

integral in providing advice to the 

Bar Association on the ongoing 

impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic 

and related accessibility issues.

Work in support of the 
Education Committee

The Accessibility Panel has worked 

closely to support and provide 

advice to the Bar Association’s 

Education Committee. This work has 

included considering applications 

received for special consideration 

or accommodations for the Bar 

Exam. The chair has been invited 

to present to the Bar Practice 

Course in September 2020.

Continuing Professional 
Development

In 2020 the Accessibility Panel 

hosted its first CPD presentation 

via Zoom. Chair Robert Dubler 

SC, Mark Robinson SC and panel 

member Valerie Heath participated 
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in a discussion: ‘Barristers with 

Disability: Challenges and 

Opportunities’, chaired by the 

panel’s Matt Cobb-Clarke. 

The CPD was well received 

by attendees and those who 

watched it subsequently 

via the Bar Association’s 

CPD streaming portal.

Accessibility at the Bar

The panel has been developing an 

anonymous survey for members 

of the Bar as to whether they 

identify as a person with a 

disability which may impact the 

way they practice at the Bar and 

if reasonable adjustments are 

required, including to the built 

environment, what these may be.

The panel has also been 

developing a survey to be 

completed by barristers, 

chambers to highlight potential 

accessibility issues. At the close 

of 2019–20 the survey was being 

finalised and will be distributed 

during 2020–21. The survey results 

will inform the panel’s ongoing 

work and how best it can assist 

members moving forward.

REPORTS

The Practice Development 

Committee’s major responsibilities 

under the Bar Association’s 

Strategic Plan involve facilitating 

closer collaboration directly 

with in-house counsel and the 

promotion of the role of the Bar in 

the delivery of cost efficient and 

quality legal services, particularly 

in the areas of advisory and 

dispute resolution services.

The committee’s primary focus in the 

reporting period was the promotion 

and marketing of the Bar’s services 

to in-house counsel, both corporate 

and government, in two principal 

areas, direct briefing and early 

briefing. The committee has been 

active in developing new ways to 

promote the services of the Bar 

beyond our traditional, and still core, 

market of instructing solicitors, and is 

working on developing initiatives to 

benefit junior members of the Bar.

As part of its engagement 

with in-house counsel, the Bar 

Association has continued its 

annual Corporate Alliance Program 

Partnership with the Association 

of Corporate Counsel (ACC). 

As part of its engagement 

with in-house counsel, the Bar 

Association has continued its 

annual Corporate Alliance Program 

Partnership with the Association 

of Corporate Counsel (ACC). 

This arrangement enables the 

Bar Association to provide joint 

CPD sessions for members and 

ACC members. It also provides 

opportunities for the Bar Association 

to place articles in ACC publications, 

as well as our branding and other 

material on the ACC website. The 

Bar Association is given access 

to the annual results of the ACC 

trends survey of its members 

and to discounted sponsorship 

benefits for other ACC events.

During the second half of 2019 

the committee continued to work 

to enable the Bar Association 

to take advantage of the 

opportunities provided by the 

Corporate Alliance Partnership.

A piece from Chair Ian 

Hemmings SC entitled ‘Briefing 

Counsel – Electronically’ was 

published in the Spring 2019 

edition of the ACC journal, The 

Australian Corporate Lawyer.

In 2018–19 the committee developed 

a new toolkit, including precedents, 

for in-house counsel to assist them 

in briefing the Bar. The toolkit 

precedents were posted on the Bar 

Association’s website and included 

in In Brief, and have now also been 

added to the ‘resources’ section of 

the ACC website for its members. 

Lawyers Weekly also published a 

related piece regarding the toolkit 

and direct briefing of the Bar by 

in-house counsel titled ‘In-House 

Counsel Driving Change in Direct 

Barrister Briefings’ in August 2019. 

The committee also facilitated 

sponsorship of a New South 

Wales Bar Association Barista 

Station at the ACC Annual 

National Conference held at the 

Adelaide Oval in November.

The station was staffed by a 

number of NSW Barristers’ Clerks 

Association volunteers (Michele 

Kearns (Martin Place Chambers), 

Emma Hoolahan (10 Selborne 

Wentworth), Angela Noakes (Ground 

Floor Wentworth), Paul Walker 

(13 Wentworth Selborne) and Simon 

Walker (7 Wentworth Selborne) 

and ran throughout the conference, 

enabling clerk representatives to 

provide practical advice to in-house 

counsel regarding briefing the Bar.

Merchandise promoting the New 

South Wales Bar Association and the 

‘Find-a-Barrister’ search facility was 

also distributed. As in previous years, 

this initiative was a great success 

and generated a great deal of 

interest from conference delegates.

Practice Development Committee

Marketing and promoting the work of barristers
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Practice Development Committee (continued)

Marketing and promoting the work of barristers

Clerk members of the committee 

have also had ongoing involvement 

with the continuing briefing 

roadshows for in-house teams and 

law firms which focuses on practical 

guidance for lawyers on briefing 

the Bar. A number of roadshow 

presentations were held over 

the course of the reporting year. 

There is a growing demand for the 

presentations from in house teams 

and law firms, and they will continue 

to be rolled out during 2020-21.

A continuing focus for the 

committee has been the 

development of CPD sessions.

The committee organised a 

seminar in the Common Room in 

February 2020 titled ‘Pathways to 

a brief [Stage 2]: What solicitors 

want; practice management tips 

and pitfalls to avoid to assist in 

securing briefs and clients’. 

The seminar was a great success, 

with close to 100 members in 

attendance. The committee is 

planning a further similarly-themed 

CPD session later in 2020, which 

would be the third in the series.

The committee has also focused 

upon initiatives to assist the 

junior Bar during the reporting 

year, and arranged a targeted 

CPD webinar regarding remote 

hearings conducted by registrars 

of the Federal, Supreme and Land 

and Environment courts which 

was held on Thursday, 11 June. 

The committee has also been 

working to identify relevant 

Commonwealth Panel firms 

and Commonwealth and state 

briefing agencies, including 

ACCC and ASIC with a view to 

providing them with information 

and, potentially, presentations 

regarding the value of briefing the 

Bar direct in appropriate cases.

The committee has also been 

receiving regular updates from 

the Bar Association’s director, 

projects and practice development 

regarding the strategic planning 

work being done by the Bar 

Association regarding targeting 

in-house counsel to ensure a 

properly co-ordinated approach.

Finally, the chair has been 

participating in a series of meetings 

with the chairs of the Wellbeing, 

Education, Innovation and 

Technology and New Barristers 

committees to discuss a range of 

measures regarding online learning 

and teaching issues in the current 

COVID-19 pandemic environment. 

Under the Action Plan, the Practice 

Development Committee is assisting 

with two particular projects:

1. a ‘reverse reading’ program, 

whereby junior barristers can 

assist more senior members 

in relation to technology 

issues relating to, for example, 

remote hearings; and

2. a program titled ‘Keeping the 

Open Door Open’, which is 

aimed at maintaining collegiality 

at the Bar at this time when 

many barristers are physically 

isolated from each other.
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Alternative Dispute Resolution Committee

The ADR Committee has continued 

to promote and support barristers’ 

work in representing clients in 

and conducting mediations, 

arbitrations and other methods 

of alternative dispute resolution.

Advancing barristers’ skills and 
standing, and providing policy and 
other advice to the Bar Association

Following the release of the Gyles 

Report, the committee led a CPD 

in October 2019 to discuss the 

report and the future possibilities 

and opportunities for barristers 

in international arbitration. The 

CPD was presented by the chief 

justice of the Federal Court with 

the Hon Roger Gyles AO QC, Mark 

Dempsey SC, Greg Laughton SC, 

Jodi Steele and Chair Mary Walker.

The committee worked with 

the Law Society of New South 

Wales to co-host two ADR 

networking events in 2019.

The committee worked with the 

Law Society of New South Wales 

to co-host two ADR networking 

events in 2019. The two-part 

series was highly successful 

and provided an opportunity 

for practitioners in this growing 

area of practice to attend a CPD 

and network. In August 2019 the 

second networking event was 

facilitated by John McDermott 

(McDermott & Associates), with 

panellists the Hon Peter Jacobson 

QC, Dr Jane Bolitho (UNSW) 

and Claire Bibby (Immediation 

COO, general counsel and non-

executive director) and closing 

remarks by Chair Mary Walker.

The committee has provided 

comprehensive dispute resolution 

policy advice to the Bar Association 

throughout 2019–20. This included 

drafting a submission to the 

Australian Dispute Resolution 

Advisory Council in response 

to its discussion paper on 

conciliation and providing advice 

on the implications of the COVID-19 

pandemic for ADR processes, 

technologies and practices.

The committee has also provided 

advice to the Bar Council 

Executive on matters including the 

National Mediation Accreditation 

Scheme, and court lists of ADR 

practitioners across practice areas.

Alongside the Bar News Committee, 

the committee worked tirelessly in 

2019–20 to prepare the Bar News 

special edition on ADR. The Autumn 

edition, released in July 2020, 

profiled ADR at the Bar and 

contemporary issues of relevance to 

members. The edition featured 

pieces guest-authored by 

stakeholders including the chief 

justice of NSW, the chief justice and 

deputy chief justice of the Family 

Court, the governor of NSW and the 

Honourable Paddy Bergin SC, 

amongst others, in addition to 

content prepared by the committee.

The committee, through its 

members Jodie Steele and 

Mary Rebehy, developed CPD 

presentations for the 2020 Regional 

Conference Series at Orange 

and Parramatta on the topic of 

advocacy in ADR. The committee 

has continued to organise and 

present a morning session to the 

Bar Practice Course which includes 

sessions by the chair of the Supreme 

Court ADR Steering Committee, 

the senior commissioner of the 

Land and Environment Court, 

the chair and Max Kimber SC. 

The committee’s planning for the 

2020 ADR Masterclass, a highly 

respected one-day bi-annual 

CPD conference dedicated to 

alternative dispute resolution, had 

to be temporarily postponed due 

to the COVID-19 pandemic. In the 

interim, the committee has been 

developing online CPD content to 

be hosted in the latter half of 2020.

The chair has assisted the Bar 

Association and the president 

by providing advice in respect 

of requests to the president to 

appoint arbitrators under various 

protocols, contracts or agreements. 

The committee has considered 

information and prepared 

resources to be made available 

to ADR barrister practitioners 

to support their continuing 

practice during the COVID-19 

pandemic, including interaction 

with varying videoconferencing 

platforms and new protocols/

altered arrangements put in place 

temporarily by the courts during 

the pandemic. A section on ADR 

has been incorporated into the Bar 

Association’s daily guide, COVID-19: 

Information for Attending Court.

The committee provided policy 

advice and updates to Bar Council 

during 2019 concerning the 

Singapore Convention on Mediation.

In addition, the committee provided 

policy advice and updates to Bar 

Council during 2019 concerning the 

Singapore Convention on Mediation. 

The committee continues to monitor 

and advise on developments 

regarding the convention and 

implications for members of 

the New South Wales Bar.
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Alternative Dispute Resolution Committee (continued)

Assisting the Bar Association 
to exercise its function as a 
mediation accreditation body

In 2019–20 the ADR Committee 

continued to assist the Bar 

Association to exercise its function 

as a mediation accreditation body 

under the National Mediation 

Accreditation System (NMAS). 

In September–October 2019 the 

committee reviewed applications 

and recommended to Bar 

Council the re-accreditation 

of approximately 30 barristers 

under the NMAS scheme.

The committee has maintained 

a close working relationship with 

the Bar Association’s Family Law 

Committee, including through 

meetings between the chairs and 

through liaison, Stephen O’Ryan SC, 

to remain apprised of developments 

in this area. The committee has 

promulgated lists of barrister family 

dispute resolution practitioners 

(FDRPs), mediators and arbitrators 

to the Bar Association for provision 

to the Family Court and Federal 

Circuit Court on several occasions 

in response to the courts’ direct 

requests for these lists.

On 16 April the Family Court and 

Federal Circuit Court announced the 

establishment of a new specialist 

National Arbitration List in each 

court. The committee will continue 

to monitor this development and 

to assist the courts and profession 

to support its implementation 

where possible. The committee is 

continuing its review and update 

of the Bar Association’s arbitration, 

mediation and expert determiner 

standard template agreements to 

assist barrister ADR practitioners 

and to review ethical issues arising 

in ADR processes for practitioners, 

in consultation with the Professional 

Conduct Department and 

Costs and Fees Committee.

Engagement with the courts 
and liaising with relevant 
professional bodies

The committee has consistently 

liaised with the courts, and with 

the Bar Association’s Family Law 

Committee, regarding alternative 

dispute resolution, including by 

making available to the courts and 

the public lists of qualified ADR and 

family law barrister practitioners. 

These lists have been highly sought 

after, including by the Supreme, 

District and Local Courts, the Family 

Court and Federal Circuit Court.

The chair and Max Kimber SC 

represented the Bar Association 

on the New South Wales Supreme 

Court’s ADR Steering Committee. 

The chair also represented the Bar 

Association on the board of the 

Australian Centre for International 

Commercial Arbitration.
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Contributing to public debate and law reform

Policy advocacy is in the 

Bar Association’s DNA. 

The very first object in our 

Constitution is to promote the 

administration of justice.

The Department of Policy and 

Public Affairs serves members, 

the courts and the community by 

advocating for access to and the 

administration of justice, and making 

recommendations in respect to 

legislation, law reform, Rules of Court 

and the business and procedure of 

courts to uphold the Rule of Law.

In 2019–20 the department worked 

alongside the Bar Association’s 17 

committees, working parties and 

sections to develop, implement 

and communicate the Bar 

Council’s strategic priorities, as 

set out in the Bar Association’s 

Constitution, Strategic Plan 

and committee charters.

The committees and working 

groups comprise more than 

200 hard working volunteer 

barristers, judges, academics 

and clerks. These are supported 

by the policy development, 

legal research, strategic 

advisory and communications 

skills of the department’s four 

policy lawyers and officer.

During the reporting period, 

the Bar Association prepared 

more than 100 submissions

The Bar Association’s expertise 

and advice has been frequently 

sought and highly respected by 

governments, parliaments, courts 

and the media. The need for frank, 

independent advice and advocacy to 

promote the Rule of Law and protect 

the rights and safety of vulnerable 

community members, which is 

always of fundamental importance, 

has been especially evident 

during the COVID-19 pandemic.

During the reporting period, the Bar 

Association prepared more than 

100 submissions to parliaments, 

departments, courts and 

stakeholders including the Australian 

Bar Association and Law Council of 

Australia. A further 26 submissions 

were underway at the close of 2019–

20. These projects are outlined in the 

comprehensive committee reports 

contained in this annual report.

The Bar Council Executive, 

committee members and Bar 

Association staff have participated 

in consultations and appeared 

before NSW and Commonwealth 

parliamentary hearings on a wide 

range of policy matters. In addition, 

the department’s practising in-house 

solicitors have delivered corporate 

legal and strategic advice.

In March the COVID-19 pandemic 

saw the Bar Association receive 

an unprecedented volume of 

requests for advice on draft 

legislation, regulation, court 

processes and protocols. 

In March the COVID-19 pandemic 

saw the Bar Association receive an 

unprecedented volume of requests 

for advice on draft legislation, 

regulation, court processes and 

protocols. The department and 

committees have been at the 

fore of the Bar Association’s 

responses to COVID-19, providing 

timely information to members, 

assisting the Bar Council with 

policy, practical and technological 

responses, and working with 

the Professional Development 

Department to pivot continuing 

professional education to webinars.

Since March, the department has 

produced a daily guide to COVID-19 

related processes and protocols in 

NSW and Commonwealth courts 

and tribunals. The guide continues to 

be published to members in In Brief 

and to the public through the Bar 

Association’s website and @NSWBar 

twitter account, and has been highly 

regarded both in Australia and by the 

profession overseas. The department 

and committees have also assisted 

in developing a range of resources 

for barristers and other members of 

the profession to assist with practice, 

financial and wellbeing needs.

During the first eight weeks of the 

pandemic, the Bar Association 

was called upon to deliver more 

than 30 policy and law reform 

submissions, in some cases with 

less than 12 hours’ notice.

From November 2019 the 

department has undergone a series 

of reforms to improve alignment 

with its strategic objectives and 

best support its committees and 

the members, courts and public we 

serve. For example, increasingly, the 

Bar Association has been called to 

engage with policy issues or access 

to justice challenges that are multi-

dimensional and multi-disciplinary. 

Accordingly, the committees have 

been reconceptualised into two 

thematic clusters - an Access to 

Justice Cluster and a Legal Practice 

Cluster. A flexible and agile team 

approach has been employed 

to empower departmental staff 

and committees to work together 

on multi-faceted, collaborative 

approaches to policy tasks. These 

changes have improved capacity 

and responsiveness, allowing the Bar 

Association to mobilise resources to 

respond nimbly to challenges and 

opportunities during the COVID-19 

pandemic. For example, during the 

first eight weeks of the pandemic, 

the Bar Association was called upon 

to deliver more than 30 policy and 

law reform submissions, in some 

cases with less than 12 hours’ notice.

This reform has promoted a holistic 

approach to policy development, 

advocacy and law reform. The 

success of this reform is reflected in 

the fact that one-in-four of the Bar 
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Association’s submissions is now 

a cross-committee collaboration, 

leveraging the expertise of two or 

more committees, sections and 

working parties. For example, the 

Bar Association’s submission to the 

Commonwealth Treasury regarding 

2020-21 Budget priorities drew 

on the combined expertise of the 

Legal Aid, Family Law and First 

Nations committees to advocate 

for proper funding and ongoing 

resourcing of legal assistance, Legal 

Aid and the federal courts, including 

a stand-alone Family Court. The 

Human Rights and Innovation & 

Technology committees provided 

input into submissions in response 

to COVID-19 and to the Australian 

Human Rights Commission, while 

our Criminal Law committee and 

Accessibility Panel worked together 

to prepare a submission to the 

Disability Royal Commission. In 

addition, the Criminal Law, Human 

Rights and First Nations committees 

have worked closely with the 

Bar Association’s Joint Working 

Group on the Over-representation 

of Aboriginal People in Custody 

to continue to advocate for the 

establishment of the Walama Court, 

raising the minimum age of criminal 

responsibility and implementing 

the recommendations of the 

Australian Law Reform Commission’s 

Pathways to Justice report.

Increasingly, to fulfil its mandate, the 
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department is called to undertake 

and advise on policy work that is 

broader than pure ‘law reform’, or 

making submissions on statutes, bills 

or legislative instruments. Further, 

the director, policy and public 

affairs works with the president, 

Executive, committees and staff to 

develop media releases and provide 

proactive and reactive comment and 

information to the media to advance 

the Bar Association’s strategic 

priorities. From November 2019 

the department has been renamed 

the Department of Policy and 

Public Affairs in recognition of the 

depth and breadth of its work. New 

systems and reporting processes 

have been put in place within the 

department to improve visibility 

of ongoing projects, facilitate 

information sharing and promote 

accountability to the Bar Council.

The Bar Association extends its 

sincere thanks to the chairs and 

members of its committees, working 

parties and sections; to its policy 

officer and lawyers - Richard 

Easton, Horatia Hopper and Ellyse 

Matterson - and director, Elizabeth 

Pearson. Their tireless advocacy and 

indefatigable enthusiasm for the 

law and public service has made a 

formidable contribution in 2019–20.
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Criminal Law Committee

The 2019–20 committee year 

has been extremely busy for 

the Criminal Law Committee, 

which has responded to a high 

volume of requests for input on 

proposed policy and legislative 

changes and proactively 

advocated for law reform.

The committee has also provided 

valuable assistance to the Bar 

Association in its submissions to 

government and in support of 

members of the New South Wales 

Bar during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Active participation in policy 
development, law reform & 
stakeholder engagement

Over the last 12 months, the 

committee has commented on 

a range of policy and law reform 

issues and has actively responded 

to numerous requests for 

submissions on proposed legislative 

changes at a state and federal level.

The committee’s output in 2019–20 

has included significant submissions 

on the following matters:

• the Council of Attorneys-

General’s (CAG’s) proposals 

for reform of tendency 

and coincidence evidence 

in October 2019;

• the Department of Communities 

and Justice’s discussion paper on 

legislative recognition of the loss 

of an unborn child as a result of 

criminal acts in October 2019;

• the NSW Law Reform 

Commission’s draft proposals 

on consent in relation to sexual 

offences in November 2019;

• the NSW Sentencing 

Council’s consultation paper 

on sentencing for homicide 

offences in February 2020;

• the Law Council of Australia 

response to the Royal 

Commission into the Management 

of Police Informants in May 2020;

• the Disability Royal Commission’s 

Criminal Justice Issues Paper in 

June 2020, in consultation with 

the Accessibility Panel; and

• the statutory review of the 

Crimes (Serious Crime Prevention 

Orders) Act 2016 in June 2020.

The Bar Association opposed the 

Double Jeopardy Bill and a further 

model proposed on the day of the 

hearing and called for adherence to 

the principle of non-retrospectivity, 

finality in judgments and respect 

for the Kable principles.

The committee has made numerous 

submissions on confidential 

law reform proposals from the 

NSW Government and recently 

undertook significant work on the 

Law Council of Australia’s proposals 

for a Commonwealth Criminal 

Cases Review Commission.

In August 2019, Co-Chair Gabrielle 

Bashir SC appeared before the 

Legislative Council’s Standing 

Committee on Law and Justice 

to give evidence on the Crimes 

(Appeal and Review) Amendment 

Double Jeopardy) Bill 2019 (NSW) 

(the Double Jeopardy Bill). Arising 

out of the Bowraville murder 

cases,1 the Double Jeopardy 

Bill proposed the relaxation of 

existing exemptions to the double-

jeopardy rule so as to allow for 

re-trials of acquitted defendants 

where evidence that was ruled 

inadmissible at the time of the 

original trial subsequently becomes 

admissible due to a change in the 

law. The Bar Association opposed 

the Double Jeopardy Bill and a 

further model proposed on the 

day of the hearing and called for 

adherence to the principle of non-

retrospectivity, finality in judgments 

and respect for the Kable principles. 

The Standing Committee, in August 

2019, signalled that it did not 

approve of the Double Jeopardy 

Bill as drafted but remained open 

to considering the alternative 

model. On 26 February 2020, the 

attorney general said that the 

importance of finality in judgments 

meant that both the proposed 

legislation and the alternative 

model would not proceed.2

The committee has also engaged 

in proactive policy work, including 

the preparation of a guidance 

note in the wake of the Lawyer X 

scandal, and is currently working 

on a briefing note on the merits 

of introducing a reliability test for 

the admission of expert evidence 

in criminal proceedings.

A particular area of interest for 

the committee has been advocacy 

for an increase in the minimum 

age of criminal responsibility.

A particular area of interest for 

the committee has been advocacy 

for an increase in the minimum 

age of criminal responsibility. In 

November 2019, the committee 

assisted in drafting a letter to the 

NSW attorney general in support 

of raising the age at which a 

child can be considered capable 

of a crime from 10 to 14. The 

committee followed up on this 

work by contributing to the Bar 

Association’s submission to the 

CAG Working Group of Officials’ 

review of the age of criminal 

responsibility in Australia, with the 

Bar Association’s First Nations 

and Human Rights committees 

and Joint Working Party on the 

Over-representation of Aboriginal 

People in Custody in NSW.

Engagement with the courts 
and other agencies

Throughout the year members of 

the committee have been actively 

involved in representing the Bar 

Association at key meetings 

with stakeholders, including 

the courts, the Department of 

Communities and Justice and 

the Law Council of Australia.
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Criminal Law Committee (continued)

The committee has continued 

to represent the interests of 

vulnerable people, including 

through attendance at the 

Aboriginal Incarceration Working 

Group’s half-day workshops on 

22 October 2019 and 26 February 

2020. Similarly, the committee 

remains committed to working 

with the Early and Appropriate 

Guilty Plea Working Group.

In February 2020, the committee 

made submissions to the chief judge 

of the District Court on a proposed 

criminal trials practice note and 

opposed changes that would 

place increased pre-trial disclosure 

obligations on the defence.

In September 2019, the Bar 

Association made submissions to 

the Victorian Royal Commission 

on the Management of Police 

Informants in the terms of its 

subsequently issued guidance note.

Since 2019, the committee 

has been consulted by the 

Director of Public Prosecution 

(DPP) on his re-drafting of 

prosecution guidelines. Most the 

committee’s recommendations 

have been adopted by the DPP. 

The committee made further 

submissions to the DPP in 2020.

Support for, and encouragement 
of, members of the Bar 
practising in criminal law

The committee has also continued 

to play an active role in supporting 

and encouraging members who 

practise in criminal law, including 

by providing CPD opportunities. 

This support has continued 

throughout the COVID-19 crisis.

The committee assisted the Bar 

Association in September 2019 in 

the preparation of a comprehensive 

guidance paper for members on 

the legal and ethical issues raised 

by the seemingly unprecedented 

deployment by Victorian police of a 

barrister as an informant against her 

own clients. An abridged version 

of the guidance paper appeared 

in the spring edition of Bar News.

In November 2019, committee 

member Richard J Wilson SC 

(also a member of the Bar Book 

Committee) spoke at the Bar Book 

Project’s CPD event on presenting 

evidence of disadvantage during 

sentencing hearings. Richard 

J Wilson SC also participated 

in a seminar hosted by the Bar 

Association with the Judicial 

Commission of NSW on Indigenous 

over-representation in Canada, 

providing a local and comparative 

law perspective on the preparation 

and presentation of evidence, 

Aboriginality and deprivation 

and the Bugmy v The Queen 

(2013) 249 CLR 571 principles.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, the 

committee has encouraged members 

to ensure that chambers establish 

groups to communicate and support 

each other through the very difficult 

time, in particular for non-salaried 

barristers practising criminal law.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, 

the committee has encouraged 

members to ensure that chambers 

establish groups to communicate 

and support each other through 

the very difficult time, in particular 

for non-salaried barristers 

practising criminal law. The 

committee has also established 

regional networks to ensure that 

communications and feedback 

during the current pandemic are 

informed by barristers practising 

outside metropolitan areas. 

Members of the committee have 

also assisted the Bar Association 

in its engagement with courts to 

ensure the safe operation of the 

justice system during the pandemic.

In 2020–21, the committee will 

continue its commitment to support 

and encourage the vital work of 

criminal law barristers in NSW and 

is at present planning to assist in 

the preparation of a criminal law 

special edition of Bar News.

1.  See Attorney General (New South 

Wales) v XX [2018] NSWCCA 198.

2.  Barlass, T, Singhai, P, and Smith, A, ‘“Very 

sorry”: Government rejects double jeopardy 

reforms for Bowraville case’, Sydney Morning 

Herald, February 26, 2020 (https://www.smh.

com.au/national/very-sorry-government-

rejects-double-jeopardy-reforms-for-

bowraville-case-20200226-p544nj.html).
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Human Rights Committee

The 2019–20 committee year has 

been an industrious period for 

the Human Rights Committee. 

The committee has actively 

commented on state and federal 

legislation, on matters ranging 

from the right to manifest one’s 

religious beliefs, the freedom to 

protest and modern slavery.

Despite the steady increase in its 

policy and law reform workload 

in 2019–20, the committee has 

continued to provide valuable 

support to members of the 

Bar Association through its 

development of a human rights 

focussed CPD program.

Active participation in policy 
development, law reform and 
stakeholder engagement

The committee provided input in 

September 2019 and in January 

2020 that was central to the Law 

Council of Australia’s submissions to 

the Australian Government on the 

first and second exposure drafts of 

the Religious Discrimination Bill.

The committee’s well-received 

written submissions to, and oral 

evidence before, the parliamentary 

inquiry into the Right to Farm 

Bill 2019 (NSW) resulted in key 

amendments to the bill, including 

a significant reduction in the 

penalties for unlawful protesting.

Additionally, the committee 

made written submissions to the 

Legislative Council’s Standing 

Committee on Social Issues 

inquiry into the Modern Slavery 

Act 2018 (NSW) in October 

2019. Committee member Trent 

Glover provided oral evidence at 

the inquiry in November 2019.

In May 2020, the committee 

provided a comprehensive 

submission to the Australian 

Human Rights Commission on its 

Discussion Paper, Human Rights 

and Technology, in consultation with 

the Bar Association’s Innovation 

& Technology Committee. The 

submission concerned the issues 

of artificial intelligence and 

algorithmic injustice and touched 

upon the unprecedented reliance 

by the government, courts and 

community on technology during 

the COVID-19 pandemic.

Throughout the pandemic, the 

committee has advised the Bar 

Council Executive on the human 

rights implications of the various 

preventative measures taken to 

stop the spread of COVID-19.

Throughout the pandemic, the 

committee has advised the Bar 

Council Executive on the human 

rights implications of the various 

preventative measures taken to 

stop the spread of COVID-19. 

The committee produced a 

framework document to assist 

the Bar Association to analyse 

legislation relating to the pandemic 

against Australia’s international 

human rights obligations.

More recently, the Human Rights 

Committee made a detailed 

submission to the NSW Parliament’s 

Regulation Committee and its 

inquiry into the making of delegated 

legislation in the state, with the 

assistance of the Common Law 

Committee. The June 2020 

submission spanned the role of 

delegated legislation during the 

COVID-19 pandemic, the uses (and 

abuses) of the Henry VIII clauses 

and the need for a Bill of Rights to 

ensure that regulations are properly 

scrutinised against human rights 

norms. The Bar Association was 

subsequently invited to appear 

before the committee to provide 

further submissions in August.

The committee has also continued 

its advisory work on the 

incarceration rates of First Nations 

people. In addition to working 

collaboratively with the Criminal 

Law and First Nations committees, 

the committee is represented on 

the Bar Association’s Joint Working 

Group on the Over-representation 

of Aboriginal People in Custody in 

NSW by Co-Chair Simeon Beckett.

Support and encouragement 
of the NSW Criminal Bar

The committee has continued to 

play an active role in supporting 

and encouraging members 

of the Bar, particularly by 

providing CPD opportunities.

In November 2019 the committee 

hosted a CPD event on the 

International Criminal Court’s 

(ICC’s) first 21 years of operation. 

At the illuminating seminar, speaker 

Helen Brady, appeals counsel and 

the head of the Appeals Section 

in the Office of the Prosecutor at 

the ICC, discussed the ICC’s war 

crimes, crimes against humanity and 

genocide cases, the drafting of the 

Rome Statute (the ICC’s founding 

instrument) and the court’s rules of 

procedure and evidence speaker.

The committee has been quick to 

identify emerging trends in law 

and in March 2020, two months 

before lodging its submission 

to the Australian Human Rights 

Commission, held a CPD event 

on artificial intelligence and the 

use of big data as simultaneously 

tools for strengthening human 

rights and as technologies that 

raise critical legal, regulatory and 

ethical questions for businesses, 

individuals and government.
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Chief Justice T F Bathurst AC 

recently observed that ‘the 

Black Lives Matter and #MeToo 

movement present a challenge for 

our profession to ensure that calls 

for change do not pass without 

systemic reforms. As lawyers, we 

are called upon to ensure that our 

justice system is in fact just for all’.1

During 2019–20 the First Nations 

Committee continued to raise 

awareness of, and advocate for, 

reform to address the ongoing 

injustices facing First Nations people, 

including through CPD events, public 

advocacy and submissions to state 

and Commonwealth governments.

Advocating for the rights of First 
Nations people on systematic 
legal policy and practice issues

The committee’s advocacy 

has targeted three priority 

areas in 2019–20:

a. first, advocating to urgently 

address the over-representation 

of First Nations people in 

incarceration in New South 

Wales and around Australia;

b. second, advocating for the 

NSW and Commonwealth 

governments to implement 

recommendations of the 2018 

landmark Pathways to Justice 

report by the Australian Law 

Reform Commission, including 

to establish a Walama Court in 

the NSW District Court; and

c. third, calling on state and 

federal governments to 

commit to properly funding 

specialist legal assistance for 

First Nations people in 2020–21 

and on an ongoing basis.

The committee worked closely 

with the Bar Association’s Joint 

Working Group on the Over-

representation of Aboriginal people 

in Custody in NSW, Human Rights 

and Criminal Law committees to 

draft a submission to the Council of 

Attorneys-General Age of Criminal 

Responsibility Working Group, 

lodged in March. The submission 

advocated for the minimum age 

to be raised to 14 in New South 

Wales and nationally. Following 

the Council of Attorneys-General 

meeting in July, the committee 

worked with the Bar Association on 

a media release calling for the urgent 

implementation of the Pathways to 

Justice report’s recommendations, 

including raising the minimum 

age of criminal responsibility, the 

establishment of the Walama 

Court and the review of bail laws.

Throughout the year, the committee 

has continued to advocate for 

the establishment of the Walama 

Court to reduce recidivism rates 

of First Nations people.

Throughout the year, the committee 

has continued to advocate for the 

establishment of the Walama Court 

to reduce recidivism rates of First 

Nations people through increased 

co-operation between the criminal 

justice system and respected persons 

in First Nations communities, and 

the use of more rigorous supervision 

orders and diversionary programs 

in sentencing. The Bar Association 

wrote jointly to the NSW premier 

with the president of the Law 

Council in November 2019 seeking 

an update on consideration of the 

Walama Court proposal by the 

government. In May, following the 

release of new research on the 

effectiveness of circle sentencing, 

the committee worked with the 

president and the Bar Association 

to issue a media release reiterating 

the case for the Walama Court to 

address the overrepresentation of 

First Nations people in custody in 

NSW. A subsequent media statement 

was issued in June, reiterating the 

Bar Association’s support for the 

adoption of the Uluru Statement 

from the Heart and a First Nations 

Voice. Adopting the Uluru Statement 

and enshrining a First Nations Voice 

to Parliament in the Constitution 

remains important to ensure First 

Nations people are genuinely heard 

on laws and policies that affect them.

The committee contributed to the Bar 

Association’s 2020–21 pre-budget 

submission to Treasury, highlighting 

the importance of maintaining 

an independent funding stream 

for Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander community legal centres. 

The committee contributed to the 

Bar Association’s 2020–21 pre-

budget submission to Treasury, 

highlighting the importance of 

maintaining an independent 

funding stream for Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander community 

legal centres. The submission 

also highlighted that community 

control of funding remains essential 

to the provision of culturally 

safe and trusted services.

In addition, the committee provided 

input to the Law Council of Australia 

on behalf of the Bar Association to 

assist Law Council’s submission to 

the Senate Legal and Constitutional 

Affairs Legislation Committee 

inquiry into the Native Title 

Legislation Amendment Bill 2019.

Following the establishment of 

a Senate committee into the 

destruction of the Juukan Gorge 

caves in June 2020, the committee 

developed a detailed submission 

to the Law Council of Australia. 

The submission addressed the lack 

of adequate protection available 

to tangible and intangible cultural 

heritage of First Nations people and 

calling for the establishment of a 

national framework to secure greater 

decision-making for First Nations 

and greater protection for heritage.

In 2019–20 the committee also 

initiated conversations with 

representations of the NSW 

Supreme Court and Australian 

Disputes Centre to advocate for 
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First Nations Committee (continued)

more culturally sensitive dispute 

resolution services concerning 

matters involving the death and 

funerals of First Nations people.

Advising the Bar Association 
on responses to COVID-19 
impacting First Nations people

The committee has provided advice 

to the Bar Council Executive and 

the Bar Association in response to 

urgent requests from governments 

and parliaments on the impacts of 

emergency COVID-19 legislation 

on First Nations people. The 

committee has assisted in preparing 

and reviewing submissions to 

ensure First Nations people’ 

perspectives are considered.

The committee worked alongside 

the Human Rights and Criminal Law 

committees to provide advice to 

the Bar Council Executive regarding 

the risk posed by COVID-19 to 

inmates and detainees of NSW 

prisons and youth detention centres, 

including First Nations people. 

This culminated in a letter to the 

NSW attorney general and other 

ministers in April 2020 requesting 

the creation of a COVID-19 prisons 

taskforce, transparent monitoring 

and guidelines and controlled release 

of certain classes of inmates.

The committee has also advised on 

the impacts of proposed ewitnessing 

and esignature emergency 

measures and the importance of 

developing safeguards to minimise 

risks of fraud, duress or abuse, 

including of vulnerable members 

of the community, survivors of 

elder abuse and family violence.

As the Bar Association’s committee 

meetings, CPDs and events pivoted 

to online platforms during the 

COVID-19 pandemic, the committee 

provided assistance as to appropriate 

variations that could be made to 

the Acknowledgement of Country 

to continue to acknowledge First 

Nations people appropriately

Supporting First Nations barristers 
through fundraising for the 
Indigenous Barristers’ Trust

The Indigenous Barristers’ Trust 

The Mum Shirl Fund is in its 20 

year of operation with a primary 

focus on providing financial and 

other important support to new 

First Nations barristers when they 

come to the New South Wales Bar 

and during their early years when 

establishing their practice. The 

trust also assists First Nations law 

students who experience financial 

hardship which imperils their ability 

to continue with their law studies.

In November 2019, the committee 

hosted a highly successful Bush 

Tucker Night, raising in excess of 

$18,000 for the Indigenous Barristers’ 

Trust and promoting collegiality.

In November 2019, the committee 

hosted a highly successful Bush 

Tucker Night, raising in excess 
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of $18,000 for the Indigenous 

Barristers’ Trust and promoting 

collegiality. More than 100 members 

of the Bar and friends attended 

and sampled gourmet bush tucker, 

tasted Green Ant Gin and purchased 

deadly art from Boomgate Gallery, 

Jarin Street, Saretta, Frances Belle 

Parker and Badger Bates. The Bar 

Association thanks Chair Tony 

McAvoy SC, Chris Ronalds AO SC, 

Janet Manuell SC, the committee and 

staff of the Public Defenders’ Office 

for their hard work in organising 

and delivering an exceptional 

and highly enjoyable event.

Encouraging and supporting First 
Nations people to consider a 
career in the law and at the Bar

In December 2019 the committee 

organised a visit from First Nations 

pre-law students completing a 

transition course at the University 

of New South Wales prior to 

commencing a law degree. More 

than 20 members of the Bar 

generously shared their time and 

their personal stories with the 

students. The students had the 

opportunity to visit chambers, 

attend a sitting of the Supreme 

Court and have a personal audience 

with Justice Michael Slattery.

In February 2020 the Bar Association 

ran the Indigenous Clerkship 

program with the Federal Court 

of Australia, Supreme Court of 

NSW, District Court of NSW and 

the Judicial Commission of NSW. 

Three First Nations law students 

enjoyed three one-week rotations 

at the Bar and two courts, gaining 

unique insight into the workings 

of the legal profession.

Organising educational seminars 
for members on First Nations affairs

In October 2019 the committee, 

in conjunction with the Judicial 

Commission and the Law Society 

of New South Wales, presented a 

seminar considering the impact of 

the decision in Wotton v State of 

Queensland (No 5) [2016] FCA 1457, 

a successful race discrimination 

class action on behalf of Aboriginal 

residents of Palm Island. The 

seminar included the opportunity 

to hear directly from counsel for 

the applicants, committee member 

Chris Ronalds AO SC. The event 

was well attended and members 

and guests provided very positive 

feedback following the seminar.

The committee collaborated with 

the Bar Association’s Joint Working 

Party and the Judicial Commission 

to co-host international presenter 

Jonathan Rudin in February 2020, 

speaking on the topic of ‘Addressing 

Indigenous Over-Representation 

in Canada: Legislation, 

Litigation and Mobilisation’.

Mentoring and employment 
opportunities for students

The committee continued its focus 

on the mentoring program which 

links First Nations law students 

with barristers to provide practical 

guidance and insights into the 

legal profession and assist in the 

student’s passage through law 

school and entry into the legal 

profession. Attending court and 

observing the operation of chambers 

provides the law students with 

experience to assist in their later 

career plans. This program has 

been running for over 12 years and 

continues to make a significant 

contribution to all participants.

A small employment program 

provides law students to conduct 

research for barristers for specific 

cases or on an ongoing basis during 

the year. Apart from providing 

secure income, this program also 

provides important opportunities 

for students to enhance their 

research skills under supervision 

from experienced practitioners.

1 http://www.supremecourt.justice.
nsw.gov.au/Documents/Publications/
Speeches/2020%20Speeches/
Bathurst_20200800.pdf
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First Nations Committee (continued)

Committee Charter

1. To represent the NSW Bar 

Association and its members on 

legal policy and practice issues 

relating to First Nations and 

First Nations people including:

a) reviewing policies and 

procedures for the Bar 

Council and Bar Association 

to ensure First Nations 

and First Nations people’ 

perspective are considered 

where relevant;

b) advocating for the rights 

of First Nations and First 

Nations people on systemic 

issues of policy such as 

Indigenous incarceration, 

discrimination and the 

impact of domestic 

violence on First Nations 

communities.

2. To encourage and support First 

Nations people to consider a 

career in the law and at the Bar;

3. To support First Nations 

people who are members 

of the profession;

4. To organise educational 

seminars for members 

regarding issues relating 

to First Nations affairs;

5. To develop and monitor the 

implementation of the Bar 

Association’s Reconciliation 

Action Plan; and

6. To provide advice to Bar Council 

on matters relating to First 

Nations affairs as required.
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Family Law Committee

2019–20 has been an important 

year for Australia’s family law 

system and extremely busy for 

the Bar Association’s Family Law 

Committee. The committee has 

continued to play an important 

role in promoting the public good 

and the administration of justice. 

It has worked with parliaments, 

the courts and key stakeholders, 

advocating sound policy to 

support children, families and 

survivors of domestic violence in 

need of the family law system.

Active participation in policy 
development, law reform and 
stakeholder engagement

Consistent with its mandate under 

the Bar Association’s Strategic 

Plan and its Committee Charter, 

the committee has actively 

informed and contributed to 

public debate about the future of 

Australia’s family law system. 

This work has include engaging in 

discussions about law reform with 

the Law Council of Australia, the 

Australian Bar Association, the 

courts, the Federal Parliament and 

community legal centres. Further, 

the committee has provided 

legal expertise to inform critical 

evaluation of law reform proposals 

and highlight the urgent need for 

improved resourcing and funding of 

the family law courts and legal aid.

The Bar Association’s long-

standing position has been to 

oppose the government’s merger 

proposal and this position was 

maintained in 2019–20. 

After the May 2019 election, the 

Commonwealth attorney-general 

signalled the government’s intention 

to reintroduce its merger proposal 

to the 46th Federal Parliament. This 

proposal would in effect abolish the 

specialist, stand-alone Family Court 

as we know it, by merging it into the 

generalist, chronically overburdened 

and under-resourced Federal 

Circuit Court. The Bar Association’s 

long-standing position has been 

to oppose the government’s 

merger proposal and this position 

was maintained in 2019–20. 

In late 2019 the Bar Association 

joined with more than 110 

organisations in calling for 

the government to abandon 

the flawed Family Court 

merger proposal and focus 

on strengthening the existing 

system and addressing important 

issues such as family violence.

The committee has continued to 

advocate to maintain a specialist 

stand-alone ‘Family Court 2.0’ 

and to bring into that court the 

Federal Circuit Court’s family law 

jurisdiction and judicial officers as 

a separate division. In late 2019 the 

Bar Association joined with more 

than 110 organisations in calling 

for the government to abandon 

the flawed Family Court merger 

proposal and focus on strengthening 

the existing system and addressing 

important issues such as family 

violence. Other signatories included 

the Law Council, the Women’s Legal 

Services Australia, Community 

Legal Centres Australia and the 

National Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander Legal Services (NATSILS). 

Stakeholders including the Law 

Council and Women’s Legal 

Services Australia continue to 

advocate public support for the 

Bar Association’s Family Court 

2.0 proposal of reform instead.

The chair and the director, policy 

and public affairs attended a family 

law roundtable at Parliament 

House in Canberra in November 

2019 with members of parliament, 

representatives of the Law Council, 

NATSILS and Women’s Legal 

Services Australia. After the Federal 

Circuit and Family Court of Australia 

Bill 2019 (Cth) was introduced on 

the last sitting day in 2019, the 

committee prepared a detailed 

submission in April 2020 to the 

Senate Legal and Constitutional 

Affairs Committee inquiring into 

the bill. The committee will continue 

to monitor the bill’s progress.

In September 2019 the Federal 

Parliament established a Joint 

Select Committee inquiry into 

Australia’s family law system. In 

December 2019 the committee 

prepared a detailed submission to 

the Joint Select Committee and the 

Bar Association was subsequently 

invited to give evidence. 

The chair appeared before the Joint 

Select Committee’s public hearing 

in Sydney in March 2020 with the 

director, policy and public affairs and 

the chair of the ABA’s Family Law 

Committee, Suzanne Christie SC.

In addition, the committee 

has contributed to a range of 

cross-committee collaborative 

submissions. These have included to 

Treasury regarding 2020–21 Budget 

priorities and the need for a greater 

funding and resourcing commitment 

to the family law system to improve 

access to justice, and to the NSW 

Department of Communities and 

Justice in response to COVID-19–

related draft regulations and 

combatting domestic violence.

At the close of 2019–20 the 

Bar Association provided a 

detailed submission to the House 

of Representatives Standing 

Committee on Social Policy and 

Legal Affairs to assist its inquiry into 

family, domestic and sexual violence.

The committee continued its 

strong history of engagement 

with the Family Law Section (FLS) 

of the Law Council and the ABA, 

including with the chair serving as 

the deputy-chair of the Family Law 

Section and New South Wales Bar 

representative during 2019–20.
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Family Law Committee (continued)

Engagement with the courts

Throughout the year members of 

the committee have been actively 

involved in representing the Bar 

Association at key meetings with 

the Family Court and Federal 

Circuit Court. The committee 

has continued to represent the 

interests of clients and family law 

practitioners at the New South 

Wales Bar in liaison with the courts, 

including through meetings of the 

court user groups. Peter Campton 

SC and John Longworth have 

represented the Bar Association 

at meetings of the Sydney Family 

Court and Federal Circuit Court 

user groups respectively, while 

Warwick Tregilgas has attended 

stakeholder meetings in Newcastle.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, the 

committee has provided feedback 

and constructive advice to the 

Executive and to the courts. 

During the COVID-19 pandemic, 

the committee has provided 

feedback and constructive advice 

to the Executive and to the courts. 

This includes advice concerning 

the effectiveness of temporary 

processes and procedures, and the 

use of technology to allow matters 

to continue through audiovisual 

links and videoconferencing 

technology where appropriate 

and in the interests of clients 

and justice to do so.

The Bar Association has consistently 

worked with the courts, and with 

the association’s ADR Committee, 

regarding alternative dispute 

resolution. The committees 

continue to make available lists 

of relevantly qualified ADR and 

family law barrister practitioners 

to the courts and the public.

Support and encouragement 
of the NSW Family Bar

The committee has played an 

active role in supporting and 

encouraging members, including 

by providing CPD opportunities.

Committee members John 

Longworth and Suzanne Christie 

SC presented a two-part series 

in November 2019 concerning 

section 102NA of the Family Law 

Act 1975 (Cth) – Cross-examination 

of perpetrators and victims of 

family violence, with Grant Brady 

SC, Philip Turner (family violence 

support worker. Relationships 

Australia NSW) and Amelia Pace 

(social worker, Domestic Violence 

Unit, Legal Aid NSW). Both sessions 

were well attended and very well 

received. The two–part series 

considered the operation of the 

new section 102NA of the Family 

Law Act 1975 (Cth) and provided 

guidance on the advocacy skills 

involved in the cross-examination of 

alleged victims, alleged perpetrators 

and vulnerable witnesses. 

Committee members Warwick 

Tregilgas and Claire Cantrall 

delivered presentations at the Bar 

Association’s Newcastle Regional 

CPD seminar in February 2020.

The next six months will be a 

critical time for Australia’s family 

law system. The committee 

will continue its commitment 

to researching, planning and 

advocating for meaningful reform, 

and supporting the vital work of 

family law barristers in NSW.

The next six months will be a 

critical time for Australia’s family 

law system. The committee 

will continue its commitment 

to researching, planning and 

advocating for meaningful reform, 

and supporting the vital work of 

family law barristers in NSW. 

The committee would like to 

acknowledge and thank the Bar 

Association’s director, policy and 

public affairs for her considerable 

efforts in support of the committee’s 

activities throughout 2019–20 and 

to recognise the contributions 

of those who have departed the 

committee at the conclusion of the 

year – Peter Campton SC, Warwick 

Tregilgas and Derek Hand.
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A priority for the Common Law 

Committee during 2019-20 has 

been advising on and responding 

to the NSW Government’s 

proposal to consolidate the 

workers compensation scheme 

and CTP insurance scheme dispute 

resolution systems into a single 

personal injury commission.

The committee has also continued 

its advocacy in relation to the 

inappropriate, narrow definition 

of minor injury in the CTP scheme 

and the galling discrepancy 

between monies generated by 

insurance premiums and the 

amounts paid out to the injured.

Personal Injury Commission

Members of the Common Law 

Committee, with the president, 

were able to secure a meeting with 

Phillips DCJ early in the consultation 

process arising from the report of 

the Standing Committee on Law and 

Justice (the Standing Committee) 

recommending a merger of the 

workers compensation dispute 

resolution process with the motor 

accident injury mechanism for 

resolving disputes. The preferred 

technique for implementation of 

the change involved a ‘lift and shift 

model’ expanding the jurisdiction 

of the Workers Compensation 

Commission to include both 

schemes as separate streams.

The committee was concerned that 

the current Worker’s Compensation 

Commission model would apply 

to the consolidated tribunal, 

eroding the entitlement to curial 

determination of important issues 

of liability and quantum heard in the 

District Court (after unsuccessful 

mediation) which generally (and 

subject to costs) works well.

The Common Law Committee 

is of the view that the legislation 

establishing the commission and 

conferring jurisdiction meets many 

of the requirements of the Standing 

Committee and also satisfies most 

of the concerns raised by the Bar.

This is consistent with the 

qualifications made by the Standing 

Committee when recommending the 

consolidation of the two schemes. 

The Personal Injuries Commission 

Act 2020 (NSW) passed the New 

South Wales Parliament in July 2020.

Policy advocacy and submissions

The committee has provided policy 

advice to the Bar Council Executive 

and assisted with preparing detailed 

submissions on number of matters. 

This work included a comprehensive 

submission to the New South Wales 

Parliament’s ongoing inquiry into 

the workers compensation scheme, 

prepared over some months. The 

committee thanks Ross Stanton, 

Elizabeth Welsh, Michael Inglis, 

Kavita Balendra, Andrew Combe and 

Kayt Hogan for their contributions 

to this significant body of work.

The committee also provided input 

into the Bar Association’s submission 

to the NSW Regulation Committee’s 

Inquiry into the making of delegated 

legislation in NSW. This submission 

advocated that substantive 

amendments to the workers 

compensation or motor accidents 

schemes should be located in 

primary – not subordinate – 

legislation to ensure they receive the 

benefit of full parliamentary scrutiny.

In addition, the committee has 

provided detailed advice to the 

president and the Bar Council 

concerning the impacts of the 

COVID-19 pandemic and public 

health responses from the courts and 

Workers Compensation Commission.

Meetings with government 
and stakeholders

The president, with Chair Robert 

Sheldon SC and committee member 

and Bar Councillor Elizabeth Welsh, 

met with Minister for Customer 

Service Victor Dominello in August 

2019. The Bar Association raised 

with the minister its concerns about 

the new CTP scheme – primarily 

regarding the expansive definition 

of ‘minor injury’ under the CTP 

scheme, the fact that the minor 

injury definition excluded many 

genuine injuries and the egregious 

fact that that insurers were receiving 

over 90 per cent of green slip 

premiums. The proposed Personal 

Injury Commission was also raised 

and the Bar Association emphasised 

the importance of maintaining 

merits appeal rights to the courts.

A further meeting was had with 

members of the Opposition in June 

2020 regarding the nature and 

structure of the proposed Personal 

Injury Commission. Committee 

member Andrew Combe and the 

director, policy and public affairs, 

also participated in stakeholder 

consultation with the Workers 

Compensation Independent 

Review Office in February 2020.

The chair and Elizabeth Welsh, with 

Bar Association staff, have met with 

departmental officers involved in the 

design of the tribunal on a number 

of occasions. These discussions have 

led to misgivings as to the legislative 

techniques by which motor accident 

jurisdiction may be folded into the 

Workers Compensation Commission 

and whether the appropriate 

curial appeal mechanisms will be 

available within the new system.

Continuing professional 
development

In March the committee held its 

annual, highly regarded Personal 

Injury and Common Law Conference. 

Speakers included Justice Geoffrey 

John Bellew of the Supreme 

Court of NSW, Elizabeth Wood, 

deputy president of the Workers 

Compensation Commission and Bar 

Association President Tim Game SC.
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The Legal Aid Committee has 

continued to advocate for access 

to justice and legal aid funding 

throughout 2019–20. This 

advocacy has included drafting 

representations and contributing 

to submissions outlining the 

business case and community need 

for adequate funding of legal aid 

and legal assistance in criminal, 

civil and family law matters.

The committee has engaged in 

important and ongoing work with 

Legal Aid NSW and provided 

advice to the Bar Council Executive 

on these and other policy 

matters, often at short notice.

Legal aid funding

In November 2019, after 

longstanding advocacy, the 

committee welcomed the New South 

Wales Government’s announcement 

of an $88 million increase in legal 

aid funding over the next four years. 

However, the committee recognised 

and raised concern that this amount 

fell significantly short of what is 

required of sustainable levels of 

funding now and into the future.

The committee has continued 

to advocate to state and federal 

governments and parliaments 

that underfunding legal aid 

adversely impacts clients, victims 

and witnesses of crimes, and 

places further pressure on already 

overstretched court systems. 

Equal and fair access to the law 

is undermined by the reality 

that, without legal aid, many 

people are not able to afford 

legal representation in criminal, 

civil or family law matters.

The committee continues to 

monitor developments in legal aid 

funding and allocation, advise the 

Bar Council Executive and assist in 

advocating for greater state and 

Commonwealth funding, including 

fair and reasonable rates for 

barristers undertaking legal aid work.

Equal and fair access to the law 

is undermined by the reality that, 

without legal aid, many people 

are not able to afford legal 

representation in criminal, civil or 

family law matters. As the volume 

of legal aid work and length of 

court delays continue to grow, 

ensuring adequate funding of legal 

aid fees would have a substantial 

impact on efficiencies in the 

justice system. The need for these 

services has been exacerbated 

by the additional legal need 

created by the 2019–20 bushfires 

and the COVID-19 pandemic.

The committee has drafted an 

opinion piece for The Australian, 

written to the NSW attorney 

general, repeatedly met with and 

advocated to Legal Aid NSW 

for a further, sustainable and 

ongoing commitment to funding 

legal aid and legal assistance.

In addition, the committee 

has contributed to the Bar 

Association’s submissions to 

continue to raise these matters with 

governments and parliaments. 

These included the Bar Association’s 

submissions to the Commonwealth 

Treasury in relation to priorities for 

the 2020–21 Budget and to the 

Senate Standing Committees on 

Finance and Public Administration’s 

inquiry into lessons to be learned 

in relation to the Australian 

bushfire season 2019–20.

Timing of applications for 
Legal Aid NSW panels – 
readers and new barristers

The committee assisted the 

president and the Bar Association 

in writing to and advocating 

to Legal Aid NSW to address 

the lengthy period of time new 

barristers are required to wait 

before being able to apply for 

suitable Legal Aid NSW panels. 

The Bar Association proposed that 

some leeway be granted to new 

barristers about to commence 

the Bar Practice Course, those 

undertaking the course or those 

who have recently completed 

the course. The committee has 

suggested that, alternatively, some 

consideration could be given to 

providing barristers undertaking 

the course with the ability to apply 

and be appointed to suitable panels 

prior to their successful completion 

of the course. The committee has 

successfully negotiated with Legal 

Aid NSW for special consideration 

to be given to members of the 

junior bar to apply to Legal Aid 

NSW panels which are currently the 

subject of an application freeze.

The Bar Association has consistently 

maintained and advocated that fair 

and reasonable levels of legal aid 

rates for counsel should be based 

on the actual work done in a trial.

Direct access arrangements

In September, the committee 

wrote to Legal Aid NSW about 

the difficulties direct access 

arrangements can cause for 

barristers, especially in regards 

to ensuring compliance with 

the Barristers Rules.

Section 39 consultation 
meeting with Legal Aid NSW

President Tim Game SC and 

senior representatives of the Bar 

Association have met on several 

occasions with Legal Aid NSW’s CEO 

and manager of strategic projects 

during 2019–20 under their statutory 

obligation to consult with the Bar 

Association when determining 

private practitioner legal aid fees.

The Bar Association has consistently 

maintained and advocated that fair 

and reasonable levels of legal aid 

rates for counsel should be based 

on the actual work done in a trial, 

and suggested that an objective 

method should be established to 
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Legal Aid Committee
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assess the actual work done by 

counsel in a criminal trial and the 

fair level of payment for that work.

Shortly after the initial meeting, 

Legal Aid NSW announced a 

new fixed-fee lump sum payment 

model. This model is highly 

problematic, unlikely to lead to 

fairer outcomes for practitioners 

and will likely significantly 

reduce fees in all but the most 

minor non-contentious cases.

The committee continues to 

resist the fixed-fee lump sum 

payment model and has prepared 

a schedule of the amount of 

time usually required, on a 

conservative basis, to complete 

different work tasks involved 

in preparing and conducting 

indictable criminal trials, to assist 

in ongoing negotiations with 

Legal Aid NSW on this issue.

The committee and the Bar 

Council Executive remain 

committed to a legal aid funding 

model that properly reflects the 

amount of time spent by counsel in 

accordance with their professional 

and ethical obligations.

Negotiations in relation to 

the consultation on fees with 

Legal Aid NSW are ongoing.

Industrial, Employment, Health 

& Safety Committee

The Industrial Employment Health 

and Safety Committee’s priorities 

for 2019–20 included monitoring 

developments in industrial law 

and policy, organising its annual 

function for the industrial bar and 

representing the interests of the 

Bar Association’s members at 

court and tribunal user groups. The 

COVID-19 pandemic unfortunately 

scuppered the committee’s 

attempts to host planned CPD 

events on topical matters ranging 

from the regulatory use of civil 

penalties to religious freedoms in 

the context employment law.

Active participation in policy 
development and law reform

In 2020, the committee continued 

its participation in the policy 

development and law reform by, 

among other activities, drafting 

a submission on the Attorney-

General’s Department’s discussion 

papers: Improving Protections of 

Employees’ Wages and Entitlements: 

Further Strengthening the Civil 

Compliance and Enforcement 

Framework and Review of the 

Code for the Tendering and 

Performance of Building Work 2016.

Engagement with courts 
and tribunals

The committee’s chair and secretary, 

Yaseen Shariff, continued to 

participate in Federal Court and 

Federal Circuit Court industrial law 

user groups as well as user groups 

for the Fair Work Commission and 

Industrial Relations Commission. 

These user groups provide an 

important forum where the 

views of the industrial bar can 

be expressed on a variety of 

issues in these jurisdictions.

In late 2019 the committee noted 

that the Fair Work Commission’s 

practice note regarding lawyers 

and paid agents required counsel 

to complete Form F53 (‘Notice 

that a lawyer or paid agent acts 

for a person’) when appearing in 

matters. Completion of Form F53 

would, however, have resulted in 

barristers providing an address for 

service on behalf of their clients 

in breach of the Legal Profession 

Uniform Conduct (Barristers) 

Rules 2015 (NSW). The Fair Work 

Commission’s practice note was 

subsequently re-drafted in response 

to the committee’s concerns.
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Legal Assistance Referral Scheme

The impact of COVID-19 between 

early March to 30 June 2020 has 

made it difficult for members of 

the Bar to respond to requests 

for assistance and to comply with 

requests for analysis of the work 

they have performed under the 

umbrella of the Legal Assistance 

Referral Scheme. It also explains 

the drop in applications from March 

to the end of the financial period. 

The staffing arrangements of 

the courts, tribunals and the Bar 

Association were also impacted.

For the 2019–20 financial year, 239 

formal applications for assistance 

were received and processed. This 

is a 17 per cent decrease on last 

year. Of the 239 applications, 107 

were eligible under the scheme’s 

guidelines for referral to a barrister. 

The assessment of all applications 

involves the expenditure of 

considerable time and resources, 

whether they were ultimately 

referred or not. The breakdown 

of those applications not referred 

to barristers is set out in the 

accompanying statistical report.

For the period in question, barristers 

contributed approximately 3170 

hours of work through the scheme, 

with 14 matters still in the court 

system. This was made up of 

approximately 1270 hours of work in 

matters referred in the current period 

and an additional 1900 hours of work 

in continuing matters commenced 

in previous financial years. This 

represents an increase of 42 per cent 

in the overall number of hours of 

work done by barristers during this 

financial year and finalised matters 

commenced in previous financial 

years, which is a pleasing considering 

the difficulties caused by COVID–19.

Since the scheme’s inception in 

1994 barristers have contributed 

approximately 61,877 hours of work.

Unfortunately, it was not possible 

to record accurately the work 

barristers contributed through the 

court-appointed Federal Court Pro 

Bono Scheme this year. There are 

also two duty barristers rostered on 

every day at the Downing Centre 

Local Court and one duty barrister 

rostered on four days per week at 

John Maddison Tower, which have 

been of great assistance when 

urgent requests are made through 

either the court or the DPP.

The following facts arising from 

the attached statistical analysis of 

the scheme’s activities over the last 

financial year are worth noting.

1. There was a 42 per cent increase 

in the overall number of hours 

contributed by barristers this year 

which includes matters finalised 

but commenced in previous years.

2. No-fee arrangements comprised 

81 per cent of referred matters.

3. Judges, magistrates and 

registrars continued to comprise 

the highest referral source – 56 

per cent of referred matters and 

25 per cent of all applications 

received by the scheme.

4. There was a 54 per cent decrease 

in the number of matters 

received from applicants living 

in the country, but a 50 per 

cent increase in the number 

received from applicants 

living in the inner city.

5. Nearly 65 per cent of matters 

referred to barristers were 

considered to have legal merit/

prospects of success. This figure 

includes those matters which 

justified urgent referral to a 

barrister by a judge, registrar 

or ODPP in the interests of 

the administration of justice.

6. Nearly 77 per cent of 

the applications to the 

scheme were refused Legal 

Aid as being outside the 

commission’s guidelines.

The Law Kitchen (TLK)

The Law Kitchen (TLK) was 

established in 2011 by barristers Les 

Formal applications for 

assistance decreased by

17%
in 2019–20.

In 2019–20 barristers 

contributed

1370 hours

of work through LARS.

107
applications were eligible 

for referral to a barrister.

239
formal applications for 

assistance were received 

and processed in 2019-20.
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50%
 increase in the 

number of matters

received from applicants

living in the inner city.
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Einstein and Geoff Pulsford, joined 

by Stephen Richards, solicitor and a 

stalwart supporter of TLK’s work.

Very sadly, since those early days 

both Geoff and Steve have passed 

away but their contribution to 

the work of TLK continues to 

have an enduring influence.

TLK has an informal arrangement 

with Hope Street Urban Compassion, 

a charitable organisation operating 

in the Woolloomooloo area which 

manages a number of services. 

This arrangement, which has gone 

on for some years, has enabled 

both TLK and Hope Street to 

provide a more holistic service 

to marginalised individuals and 

their families who are in need 

of legal assistance, social work, 

counselling and someone to talk to.

Hope Street Urban Compassion 

has recently provided a quiet and 

safe office space in the downstairs 

area of its premises. This is a 

significant step. The legal difficulties 

of a number of clients seen by 

TLK arise out of circumstances 

which are highly sensitive and 

confidential. TLK’s ability to 

respect and protect that sensitivity 

has now been enhanced by the 

availability of the private working 

space now afforded to them.

Over the last year a number 

of barristers have continued 

to volunteer to assist TLK to 

ensure that it provided legal 

advice sessions almost every 

week. The Bar Association is 

extremely grateful to all of them.

Whilst we acknowledge that 

TLK is not part of the funding 

arrangement with the Public Purpose 

Fund, we include it because of 

its co-location and synchronicity 

with the work of LARS.

Interaction with other pro 
bono service providers

LARS works closely with the Law 

Society Pro Bono Scheme. There 

is also a close working relationship 

with RACS and Salvos Legal. Legal 

Aid NSW consistently refers matters 

to the scheme where it is unable 

to assist and Justice Connect 

contacts us for assistance when 

matters are outside its parameters.

The Bar Association is a member 

of the NSW Legal Assistance 

Forum (NLAF). The deputy 

executive director attends board 

meetings with the manager of 

the scheme as his alternate.

The executive director of the Bar 

Association is a board member 

of LawAccess NSW. The Bar 

Association’s deputy executive 

director, who oversees the operation 

of LARS, deputises for the executive 

director at LawAccess NSW 

board meetings and at meetings 

of the trustees of the Pro Bono 

Disbursement Trust Fund.

During 2019–20 the 

manager of the scheme:

1. arranged a cocktail party 

with the assistance of LARS 

Legal Assistance Referral Scheme (continued)
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staff to thank all members 

of the Bar who supported 

LARS and the Duty Barrister 

Scheme over the previous 

two years. Many members of 

the judiciary attended. The 

pending retirement of the 

manager was also announced;

2. attended meetings with the 

deputy executive director 

and a deputy president of 

NCAT, Judge Susanne Cole, 

to assess the efficacy of the 

referral arrangement with 

NCAT in its Administrative and 

Equal Opportunity Division;

3. attended meetings of the Bushfire 

Disaster Relief initiative at the 

Legal Aid Commission deputizing 

for the deputy executive director 

when he could not attend; and

4. attended meetings of the NSW 

Legal Assistance Forum (NLAF) 

when the deputy executive 

director was unable to do so.

Volunteers encouraged

In 2019–20, the executive director 

and the manager of the scheme 

made two presentations to new 

barristers at the Bar Practice 

Course with a pleasing response 

in the number of readers who 

volunteered to help the scheme 

and go on the Duty Barrister 

roster. The president and the 

executive director, by circular and 

personal representation, have also 

encouraged members to participate 

in all schemes administered by the 

Bar Association and in the various 

court-appointed pro bono schemes.

Find-a-Barrister

Find-a-Barrister is aimed at 

addressing the increasing number of 

requests to the Bar Association for 

assistance in obtaining the services 

of a barrister. Enquiries are directed 

to the association’s website under 

‘Find-a-Barrister’, where there have 

been an average of 1000 unique 

visits to the site each day over the 

past twelve months. This avenue 

of assistance is invaluable for many 

applicants who have not qualified for 

assistance through LARS on financial 

grounds. If the enquirer does not 

have access to the Internet, staff 

fax or post them a list of barristers 

in the relevant areas of practice.

Duty Barrister Scheme

The manager and staff of LARS 

manage the Duty Barrister Scheme, 

which operates at the Downing 

Centre and John Maddison Tower 

to assist the Local Court and the 

District Court. In 2019–20 a total 

of 120 barristers from all levels of 

seniority have volunteered to assist. 

Barristers are rostered to attend each 

day at the courts. The scheme was 

promoted to readers at each of the 

Bar Practice courses, which resulted 

in a healthy number of additional 

volunteers being added to the roster.

Court appointed pro bono schemes

The manager and staff of LARS 

assist with the administration of the 

court-appointed legal assistance 

schemes concerning day-to-day 

enquiries which may arise, together 

with the provision and updating 

of the list of barristers who have 

volunteered their services. Barristers 

now support pro bono schemes 

operating in the Federal Court, 

the Full Bench of the Family Court 

of Australia, the Federal Circuit 

Court, the Land & Environment 

Court, the District Court of NSW 

and NCAT in its Equal Opportunity 

list. The executive director has 

ongoing discussions with members 

of the judiciary and court staff 

in relation to these schemes.

The schemes impose a significant 

burden on members of the Bar and, 

in cases where there is insufficient 

time for a judge, magistrate 

or registrar to make a referral 

under their own schemes, on Bar 

Association and LARS staff.

There continue to be many difficult 

phone calls, which often involve 

multiple calls from the one person, 

REPORTS
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Legal Assistance Referral Scheme (continued)

nearly 77%
of the applications to 

the scheme were refused 

Legal Aid as being outside the 

commission’s guidelines.

Judges, magistrates and 

registrars comprised

56%
of referred matters.

120 barristers

volunteered to assist the 

Duty Barrister Scheme 

in the Local Court 

and District Court
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Legal Assistance Referral Scheme (continued)

nearly 65%
of matters referred to 

barristers were considered 

to have legal merit/

prospects of success.

Since the inception of 

LARS barristers have 

contributed more than

61,877
hours of work.

or from different individuals, 

which are dealt with by the 

scheme. Reception staff of the 

Bar Association also have to deal 

with the applicants who attend 

unannounced, although since the 

office has been closed since March 

2020 due to COVID-19 this has not 

been the case. Staff have received 

training in dealing with difficult 

clients and in how to identify, and 

deal with, those clients suspected 

of having a mental illness.

The Bar Association continues 

to bear a significant portion of 

the costs for the administrative 

infrastructure needed to support 

the operation of the scheme. 

The staffing component of 

this support, in terms of time 

and salary, is significant.

Conclusion

An increase in the number of 

unrepresented litigants, due in 

the main to the lack of Legal 

Aid funding, has contributed 

significantly to the workload 

(and stress) of LARS and other 

Bar Association staff who deal 

with applicants in the initial 

process of seeking assistance. 

The challenges of working from 

home since March 2020 have also 

impacted on the ability of staff and 

barristers to manage the workload, 

something our technical support 

staff are working to resolve.
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A barrister responded to a 

request from the Bushfire 

Disaster Legal Relief initiative 

and assisted a gentleman whose 

house had been totally destroyed 

to ensure he received his full 

insurance settlement as he did 

not wish to re-build his home 

but move closer to town.

***

A senior member of NCAT sitting 

in the Administrative and Equal 

Opportunity Division referred a 

woman to the scheme for assistance. 

The woman, who was Aboriginal, 

lived in regional NSW and had 

visited a local medical centre to seek 

treatment for a family member. In the 

consultation the doctor suggested 

they go to the Aboriginal Medical 

Centre rather than be treated 

there. The woman was deeply 

offended and suffered significant 

emotional distress, as she had 

made a conscious decision to go to 

that centre and not the Aboriginal 

Medical Centre. A barrister agreed 

to assist. The matter was settled 

without the need for a hearing.

***

A couple who were struggling 

with a seven-year long dispute 

with their builder regarding the 

faulty build of their home sought 

assistance from the scheme. 

The husband was retired and 

his wife was on a modest wage. 

There were a number of defects, 

including a leaking roof. Despite 

some attempts at rectification, 

the roof continued to leak after 

heavy rain with consequential 

damage to parts of the house and 

contents. Orders were made by 

the Department of Fair Trading but 

the dispute continued. The health 

of the couple continued to suffer 

and the husband experienced 

a depressed mood disorder.

***

A barrister agreed to assist. The 

barrister referred the couple to the 

Pro Bono Scheme of the Law Society 

of NSW who arranged for a solicitor 

to be involved. A two-day hearing 

in NCAT with counsel on both sides 

took place some ten months after 

the referral, in part due to COVID-19. 

Prior to the decision being known, 

we received a letter of appreciation 

from the husband which said, 

inter-alia: ‘The barrister and solicitor 

treated my wife and I with the utmost 

courtesy and professionalism at 

all times. Their respect for both of 

us and patience in dealing with a 

difficult and evasive opponent has 

proven to be a compelling factor 

in our case. Although the result is 

pending, my wife and I could not 

speak more highly of the barrister. 

He is a truly wonderful man and we 

could not have been represented 

by anyone better. Together the 

barrister and solicitor have enriched 

our lives and regardless of the 

outcome of the case and they 

deserve to be recognised for their 

tireless effort and generosity.’
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Legal Assistance Referral Scheme Statistics

2014-15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018-19 2019-20

High Court

Application for 
special leave

2 2 3 11 5 5

Original jurisdiction - - - 1 - 2

Total 2 2 3 12 5 7

Federal Court

Full bench appeals 2 - 2 3 1 3

Immigration 4 2 5 10 4 6

Administrative 2 - - 1 3 1

Discrimination 1 - - - - 1

Intellectual property - - - - 1 -

Trade practices - - - - - -

Native title - 2 1 1 - -

Bankruptcy 1 2 2 - 2 1

General - - 1 1 - -

Total 10 6 11 16 11 12

Family Court

Full bench appeals - - - - - -

Access 4 3 6 4 6 8

Residency 5 2 5 1 9 6

Child support - - 2 2 1 -

Spousal maintenance - - - 1 1 -

Property settlement - 1 5 - 9 4

Total 9 6 18 8 26 18

Federal Circuit Court

Discrimination 1 1 - - 1 -

Family law - access 10 4 2 3 4 1

Family law - child support 1 2 - - - -

Family law - residency 2 1 1 1 5 3

Family law - property 
settlement

8 2 3 3 3 5

Family law - spousal 
maintenance

2 1 - - - -

Intellectual property - - 1 - - -

Industrial relations 2 - - 2 5 1

Immigration 19 11 9 12 9 10

Bankruptcy 4 2 3 1 2 1

General - 1 1 1 - 1

Total 49 25 20 23 29 22

Jurisdiction

Supreme Court 
33% District Court 14%

Local Court 7%

Other courts 2%

Tribunals 18%

High Court 3%
Commissions 2%

Federal Court 5%

Federal Circuit Court 9%

Family Court 8%
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Legal Assistance Referral Scheme Statistics (continued)

2014-15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018-19 2019-20

Supreme Court

Court of Appeal 6 13 12 12 13 8

Court of Criminal Appeal 7 9 5 4 3 3

Common Law 32 38 27 27 27 23

Administrative 3 7 7 29 - 24

Equity 25 28 28 8 22 8

Criminal 2 4 7 7 12 -

Corporations List - - - 11 - 3

Commercial 3 1 2 - - 3

Family Provisions 8 8 8 - 3 1

Defamation 5 4 7 1 1 1

Professional Negligence 1 4 1 1 - 1

Adoptions list - - 3 - 2 1

Total 92 116 107 100 83 78

District Court

Criminal 10 12 28 38 40 23

Civil 12 10 18 17 15 8

Care proceedings 2 6 - - - 2

Defamation 3 2 1 - - 1

Professional negligence - - - - - -

Total 27 30 47 55 55 34

Local Court

Criminal 16 18 10 12 21 6

Civil 14 7 7 9 10 11

Coronial inquest 1 - - - 1 -

Family law - residency and access - 1 - - - -

Total 31 26 17 21 32 17

Other courts

Land and Environment Court 5 4 5 4 4 4

Children’s Court 1 1 1 2 1 -

Coroner’s Court 3 3 1 1 - 1

Total 9 8 7 7 5 5

Tribunals

Administrative Appeals Tribunal 2 1 2 - 4 6

NCAT 16 13 25 26 38 35

Workers’ Compensation 
Commission

- 1 - - - 1

Total 18 15 27 26 42 42

Commissions

Fair Work Commission / NSW IRC - 9 4 4 3 4
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2014-15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018-19 2019-20

Referral source

Community legal centre 45 20 25 25 23 25

Law Society / solicitor 75 35 51 37 46 27

Member of the public 32 66 47 51 51 51

Legal Aid 23 20 22 27 19 14

LawAccess 24 18 17 15 23 18

Judge / magistrate / registrar 32 62 61 61 73 60

Member of the bar 15 13 16 22 11 15

Member of parliament 1 2 - 2 1 0

Justice Connect (formerly PILCH) 1 3 2 - 1 2

Pro bono director of a large firm 2 3 2 1 2 1

Welfare / community group 1 - 6 4 9 0

Attorney General’s 
Department / DPP

1 2 22 35 32 26

Website hits 3,977 4,418 * 3,351 * 4,418 4,410 2,939

*  unique hits to the pages of Legal Assistance, Duty Barrister LARS guidelines 

on the Association’s updated website

Client location

Sydney Metropolitan Area

West 70 63 89 64 80 72

North 49 30 22 29 32 28

South 41 40 40 44 40 19

East 8 21 12 25 17 11

Inner City 23 12 7 29 18 37

Central Coast 11 9 17 23 24 9

Country 12 32 31 15 35 16

Prison 16 14 28 10 14 18

Villawood Detention Centre 4 2 4 17 16 16

Interstate 5 15 10 16 13 12

Overseas 4 4 1 1 2 1

Total 243 242 261 273 291 239

Types of work done

Merit assessment - no fee 114 111 142 83* 77* 56*

Advice (over and above 
initial merit assessment)

76 67 113 107 106 82

Conferences 40 31 74 55* 45* 31*

Appearances 26 22 40 30* 30* 22*

Appearances at hearing 12 2 24 27* 19* 11*

Appearance at hearing as amicus - - - - 21 3

Mediations 1 1 13 10 10 9

Other (inc. 2nd opinion 
and prep.submission)

17 26 37 38* 29* 33*

Total 286 260 443 350 337 247

*  These numbers are not truly reflective, as at this stage we are not able to collect multiples

REPORTS
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Legal Assistance Referral Scheme Statistics (continued)

Client Location

Country 6.69%

Central Coast 
3.76%

Prison 7.53%

Villawood 
detention centre 
6.94%

Interstate 5.02%

Total Sydney area 
69.87%

Overseas 
0.49%

Types of work done

Referral source

Member of the 
public 21.33%

Law Society / 
solicitor 11.30%

Community legal 
centre 10.46%

Legal Aid 5.85%

Judge / magistrate / registrar 25.1%

LawAccess 7.53%

Pro bono director 
of a large firm 
0.41%

Attorney 
General’s 
Department / 
DPP 10.87%

Justice Connect 0.83%

Member of the bar 6.27%

Advice 33.20%
Conferences 12.55%

Appearances 8.90%

Appearances 
at hearing 4.45%

Appearance 
at hearing as 
amicus 1.21%

Mediations 
3.64%

Merit 
assessment 
22.67%

Other 
13.36%
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Legal Assistance Referral Scheme Statistics (continued)

2014-15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018-19 2019-20

Rejection / No action

Outside guidelines 69 70 54 58 77 62

No further information received / 
no further contact from applicant

38 36 36 61 64 50

No longer requires LARS assistance 17 4 6 7 6 4

Subject to Federal Court RRT LAS - - - - - -

Subject to Federal Court LAS - - - 7 - -

Subject to Supreme Court LAS - - - 2 - -

Referred to community legal centre - - 2 1 - -

Briefed barrister privately 4 4 6 - 1 4

Briefed solicitor privately 4 4 6 2 3 5

Matter discontinued - 1 - - - -

Unable to refer - 
insufficient resources

1 1 - 1 1 1

Too late notification 2 6 8 7 13 6

Matter dismissed 1 1 - - - -

Matter settled - - - - 2 -

Conflict of interest - 1 1 - 1 -

Total 136 128 119 146 168 132

Turnaround

Same day 25 20 37 42 55 31

Less than a week 30 37 33 14 15 17

1-2 weeks 21 29 28 24 26 27

2 weeks plus 35 42 44 37 21 26

Matters pending - - - 20 6 6

Total 111 128 142 137 123 107

Basis brief accepted

No fee - merit assessment 111 114 142 117 - -

No fee – access to justice: 
urgent requests from DPP

- - - 31 32 26

No fee - continuing involvement 76 84 93 90 57 55

Reduced fee - continuing 
involvement

14 13 21 7 6 63

Speculative / costs recovery 
- continuing involvement

20 17 22 9 9 6

Market rates - continuing 
involvement

1 - 6 - 2 0

Basis on which refused legal aid

Merit 35 23 21 19 21 19

Financial 20 35 46 36 32 29

Outside guidelines 188 184 194 218 238 183

Unable to be determined - - - - - 8

Percentage of matters 

considered by a barrister 

to have legal merit/

prospects of success/

justifies access to justice:

64.5%

Percentage of matters 

considered by a barrister to 

have legal merit/prospects 

of success 

in the previous year:

73.38%
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In past years, the Professional 

Conduct Department’s report has 

focussed on analysis of statistics. 

The year presented unusual 

challenges for the department 

and a broader message might be 

of interest, explaining how the 

department has faced up to and 

overcome specific challenges, 

both legal and practical.

A snapshot of the statistics 

on complaints matters is 

nevertheless provided, to 

show that despite unexpected 

difficulties, the core work of the 

department has continued.

Introduction

The Professional Conduct 

Department (PCD) carries out a 

range of functions. It is currently 

staffed by four in-house solicitors, 

the certification officer and a 

senior administrative officer.

The principal regulatory function 

of the department is to facilitate 

the Bar Council’s management of 

complaints about barristers, ‘show 

cause events’ (SCE’s) and other 

disclosures, which might affect a 

person’s fitness to hold a barrister’s 

practising certificate (PC).

This regulatory work is carried 

out by the lawyers in conjunction 

with the four professional conduct 

committees (PCCs). Where matters 

are litigated, the lawyers instruct 

external solicitors and counsel 

on behalf of the Bar Council.

The certification officer works 

closely with the PCD lawyers on 

applications for, renewals of and 

management of conditions on PCs.

The administrative officer is a 

vital link between the Office of 

the Legal Services Commissioner 

(NSW) (OLSC) and facilitates 

the department’s statutory 

obligations to report to the OLSC 

as well as to the Legal Services 

Council (via the Law Society) 

and the Public Purpose Fund.

The department:

• provides policy support to the 

Bar Council in respect of its 

functions under legal profession 

legislation, including those related 

to PCs, trust money accounts 

and legal practice in general;

• facilitates the provision of 

ethical guidance to barristers;

• responds to queries from 

barristers, solicitors and members 

of the public regarding complaints 

and regulatory processes;

• assists the Bar Council in 

respect of enquiries from 

and reports to the Legal 

Profession Admission Board;

• liaises with the Professional 

Development Department 

in identifying and delivering 

training and education on issues 

arising from trends observed 

in regulatory matters;

• works with external stakeholders 

on behalf of the Bar Council 

in relation to amendments 

to the Legal Profession 

Uniform Law (the LPUL).

Complaints

Complaints about barristers’ 

conduct in NSW are made to 

the legal services commissioner 

(LSC). Most disciplinary matters 

concerning barristers are referred 

to the Bar Council for assessment, 

investigation and determination 

under Chapter 5 of the LPUL.

All such matters are assessed 

and investigated by one of the 

four PCCs, as delegates of the 

Bar Council. The committees 

report to the Bar Council, 

which makes a determination 

in respect of each complaint.

Impact of the decision in Council 
of the Law Society of NSW v 
DXW [2019] NSWCATOD 101

In the year 2018–19 the Bar Council 

investigated 160 complaints – 79 

complaints made during that 

year and 81 complaints made in 

In 2019-20

153
complaints were 

investigated by 

the Bar Council.

The principal regulatory 

function of the department 

is to facilitate the Bar 

Council’s management of 

complaints about barristers, 

‘show cause events’ (SCE’s) 

and other disclosures which 

might affect a person’s 

fitness to hold a barrister’s 

practising certificate (PC).
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previous years but unresolved.

By comparison, in 2019–20 the 

Bar Council investigated 153 

complaints – 63 made during the 

year and 90 carried forward.

These figures must be seen in 

the context of a significant legal 

issue which arose in June 2019 

following the decision in Council 

of the Law Society of NSW v DXW 

[2019] NSWCATOD 101 (DXW).

This decision raised jurisdictional 

issues and also called into question 

the validity of the delegation from 

the LSC to the Bar Council and Law 

Society from the LSC’s Instrument 

of Delegation dated 18 June 2015.

This in turn caused a review of the 

delegation of disciplinary functions 

to the PCCs by the Bar Council. In 

practical terms, all work on Chapter 5 

LPUL complaints had to stop until 

the position could be rectified.

These issues also impacted upon 

litigation that was on foot arising 

from Bar Council decisions made in 

complaint matters since 1 July 2015

Between June and November 

2019, although unable to progress 

existing complaint matters, the 

department was heavily engaged in 

collaborative work with the OLSC 

and Law Society to achieve the 

necessary remedial steps. It also 

continued its work on investigations 

into disclosures, SCEs and PC issues 

and non-complaint litigation.

A new Instrument of Delegation was 

made by the LSC in October 2019.

On 22 November 2019, a 

retrospective legislative amendment 

to the Legal Profession Uniform Law 

Application Act 2014 (NSW) was 

passed. The amendment validated:

1. all complaints made by the Bar 

Council to the commissioner 

since 1 July 2015;

2. all complaints delegated 

by the commissioner for 

assessment, investigation 

and determination by the Bar 

Council since 1 July 2015; and

3. all proceedings initiated and 

prosecuted by the Bar Council 

in the tribunal since 1 July 2015.

Revised internal delegations from 

the Bar Council to the PCD and its 

PCCs were settled in January 2020.

Work (and litigation) on complaint 

matters could then resume. Staff of 

the department have been working 

hard to progress the delayed 

matters with all due dispatch.

Snapshot of complaint 
matters in 2019–20

Notwithstanding the delays arising 

from DXW, the Bar Council made 

a determination in 52 matters 

during the year to 30 June 2020:

• 28 were closed under the LPUL;

• nine resulted in the barrister being 

cautioned or reprimanded, and

• One was referred to the 

New South Wales Civil and 

Administrative Decisions Tribunal.

Six complaints were withdrawn 

and eight were referred back 

to the OLSC (due to conflict of 

interest or jurisdictional issues).

Show cause events

Under the LPUL barristers must 

notify the Bar Council of certain 

bankruptcy matters, a conviction 

for a serious offence (as defined 

in the legislation) or a tax offence. 

The Bar Council is required to 

determine whether the barrister is a 

fit and proper person to hold a PC.

One SCE investigation was 

completed during the reporting year, 

with the Bar Council determining 

that the barrister was not a fit 

and proper person to hold a PC. 

Other SCE matters remain under 

investigation as at 30 June 2020.

Professional conduct committees

The PCCs comprise both barrister 

and community members. 

Each committee is chaired by a 

senior member of the Bar. The 

lawyers of the PCD serve as 

In practical terms, all 

work on Chapter 5 

LPUL complaints had to 

stop until the position 

could be rectified.
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secretaries of the committees.

The committees conduct 

the preliminary assessment 

and, where necessary, the 

investigation of complaints.

Community representation on 

the PCCs is vital to the healthy 

functioning of the complaint-

handling process. The Bar Council 

would like to thank the community 

members who served on these 

committees for their significant 

and ongoing contribution. During 

the year, several of the community 

members’ terms of office came 

to an end. New members were 

recruited and have been welcomed 

into the ongoing work of the PCCs.

The Bar Council also wishes to 

express its sincere appreciation to 

the barristers who served on the 

PCCs this year. Committee members 

devote many hours of their time on 

a voluntary basis, and their input is 

highly valued by the Bar Council.

Their service demonstrates the 

commitment of the profession to 

ensuring complaints regarding 

the conduct of barristers are fully 

investigated and appropriate 

disciplinary action taken, in 

the interests of maintaining 

professional standards and public 

confidence in the profession.

Ethical Guidance and information

The Bar Association’s Ethical 

Guidance Scheme enables members 

to seek ethical guidance from the 

senior counsel serving on the PCCs. 

Thirty senior counsel were available 

to assist members in 2019–20. Most 

calls are initially directed to (and 

‘triaged’ by) the PCD lawyers.

The department also receives 

calls from barristers, solicitors and 

members of the public enquiring 

about Barristers Rules, general 

conduct issues, the processes 

relating to complaints, SCEs and 

practice issues. This year the 

department received almost 300 

Assisting in matters of professional discipline

Professional Conduct (continued)

REPORTS

… all PCD functions

have continued 

uninterrupted, including 

PCC meetings by 

teleconferencing and 

audio-visual platforms.

calls and emails seeking ethical 

guidance or information.

In addition, the staff dealt 

with over 40 queries relating 

specifically to fees in advance 

and trust money accounts.

Response and adaptability 
to remote working

Having successfully overcome the 

difficulties presented by the decision 

in DXW, no sooner had PCD resumed 

its work on complaints in early 2020, 

but at short notice the COVID-19 

pandemic required all staff to move 

to remote working. Coincidentally, 

PCD had been researching software 

that would facilitate a move to 

more flexible working practices and 

modernise the PCD processes.

Consequently, all PCD functions 

have continued uninterrupted, 

including PCC meetings by 

teleconferencing and audiovisual 

platforms. As a result, the back-

log of complaints caused by the 

DXW delays in 2019 are continuing 

to be cleared efficiently and as 

expeditiously as possible.

Finally, during 2019–20, the PCD 

prepared a protocol for how matters 

under rule 123 of the Legal Profession 

Uniform Conduct (Barristers 

Rules) 2015 are to be handled, and 

continues to work towards improving 

its processes in such cases.
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REPORTS

Assisting in matters of professional discipline

Number & type of complaints referred to the Bar Council during the year

Complaint type Number

Figures comprise 

complaints referred 

by the LSC to 

the Bar Council 

for assessment, 

investigation and 

determination 

(including complaints 

made by the 

Bar Council).

Communication 14

Competence and diligence 14

Compliance matters 2

Costs 7

Ethical matters 26

Personal conduct 0

Total number of complaints 63

Ethical Matters

Costs Communication Personal Conduct

Competence and Diligence Compliance Matters

Type of complaint referred to the Bar Council
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Source of complaints referred to the Bar Council during the year

Source of complaints Number

Bar Council 2

Barrister 1

Client / former client 25

Government department / statutory body 1

Instructing solicitor 2

Opposing party 17

Opposing solicitor 2

Witness 0

Other 13

Total number of complaints 63
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REPORTS

Assisting in matters of professional discipline

Number & type of complaints assessed/investigated during the year by the Bar Council

All complaints referred to the Bar Council were disciplinary matters – no consumer matters were referred.

Complaint type
Complaints made 

during the year
Complaints made 
in previous years

Figures include 

complaints remaining 

under investigation 

as at 30/06/2020, 

all complaints in 

respect of which 

the Bar Council 

made a decision & 

complaints that were 

withdrawn or referred 

to the Bar Council  

during the year.

Communication 14 1

Competence and diligence 14 25

Compliance matters 2 6

Costs 7 9

Ethical matters 26 45

Personal conduct 0 5

Sub-totals 63 91

Total number of complaints assessed/investigated 154

Number & type of complaints dismissed under the Legal Profession Act 2004 or closed 
under the Legal Profession Uniform Law (NSW) during the year by the Bar Council* 

Complaint type
Complaints made 

during the year
Complaints made 
in previous years

*  In addition, six 

complaints were 

returned to the 

Legal Services 

Commissioner due to 

jurisdictional issues 

or conflict of interest.

Communication 0 1

Competence and diligence 0 7

Compliance matters 0 2

Costs 4 1

Ethical matters 4 15

Personal conduct 0 2

Sub-totals 0 28

Total Number of complaints dismissed / closed 28

Professional Conduct Statistics (continued)

0

Bar Council

Selection of complaints by source 2008-09 to 2019-20
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REPORTS

Assisting in matters of professional discipline

Number & type of complaints in respect of which an Australian lawyer was 
reprimanded or cautioned during the year by the Bar Council

Complaint type
Complaints made 

during the year
Complaints made 
in previous years

Competence and diligence 0 1

Compliance 0 1

Costs 0 2

Ethical matters 0 5

Personal conduct 0 1

Sub-totals 0 10

Total Number of reprimands or cautions: 10

Number & type of complaints withdrawn during the year

Complaint type
Complaints made 

during the year
Complaints made 
in previous years

Competence and diligence 1 2

Costs 0 0

Ethical matters 1 2

Personal conduct 0 0

Sub-totals 2 4

Total Number of complaints withdrawn: 6

Number & type of complaints referred by the Bar Council to the  
NSW Civil and Administrative Tribunal during the year

Complaint type
Complaints made 

during the year
Complaints made 
in previous years Decisions made by 

NCAT during the 

reporting year are 

available on the Bar 

Association website at 

www.nswbar.asn.au

Ethical matters 0 1

Sub-totals 0 1

Total number of Complaints referred to Tribunal 1

Number & type of complaints in respect of which proceedings were instituted in  
the NSW Civil and Administrative Tribunal during the year by the Bar Council

Number and type of complaint where 
proceedings were instituted

Number In addition, one barrister 

commenced proceedings in 

NCAT seeking a review of the 

Bar Council determination 

in a complaint matter.

Ethical matters 0

Total number of complaints 0

Professional Conduct Statistics (continued)
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REPORTS

Assisting in matters of professional discipline

Professional Conduct Statistics (continued)

Number of complaints not finally dealt with at the end of the year

Age of complaints not finally dealt 
with at the end of the year

Number
Complaints 

made in the year 
ending 30 June

Note:  

These complaints 

remain under 

investigation

Less than six months 29 2020

Between seven and twelve months 27 2019

Between thirteen and eighteen months 19 2019

Between nineteen and and twenty four months 14 2018

Up to three years 4 2018

Up to three years 6 2017

Up to four years 1 2017

Up to four years 1 2016

Total 101

Time intervals involved in the complaint process, being the time between  
receipt of a complaint and finalisation of the complaint

Time intervals between receipt of complaint and completion Number

Up to six months 8

Between seven and twelve months 10

Between thirteen and eighteen months 16

Between nineteen and twenty four months 9

Up to three years 7

Up to four years 3

Total 53



66 | New South Wales Bar Association Annual Report 2019-20

REPORTS

Assisting in matters of professional discipline

Professional Conduct Statistics (continued)

Complaint statistics – 10 year comparison

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Complaints

New complaints 55 47 51 59 57 63 95 74 79 63

Carried forward from 
previous years

50 38 33 47 59 38 55 93 81 90

Total investigations 105 85 84 106 116 101 150 167 160 153

Matters finalised

Dismiss /close 50 35 26 24 50 31 37 53 49 28

Caution 4 8 3 3 3 4 9 8 5 7

Reprimand 2 4 0 4 5 4 2 3 6 2

Refer to ADT 6 0 3 *11 **12 5 6 4 2 1

Withdrawn 1 5 4 3 6 2 3 7 4 6

Other 2 0 1 2 2 0 4 0 5 8

Total finalised 65 52 37 47 78 46 61 75 71 52

as a % of investigations 61% 61% 44% 44% 67% 46% 40% 45% 44% 34%

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20
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Time interval between receipt of complaint and finalisation

2010-11
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Age of investigations carried forward
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REPORTS

Assisting in matters of professional discipline

Professional Conduct Statistics (continued)

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Up to 6 months 34% 40% 44% 23% 34% 43% 39% 24% 29% 15%

6 – 12 months 35% 46% 44% 45% 41% 35% 38% 30% 31% 19%

12 – 24 months 25% 8% 12% 30% 18% 22% 18% 35% 33% 48%

Up to 3 years 5% 6% 0 2% 7% 0 3% 10% 7% 17%

Up to 4 years 1% 0 0 0 0 0 2% 1% 0 1%

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20
 *  6 of the complaints 

referred to the Tribunal 

concerned one barrister; 

2 complaints related to 

another barrister

**  9 of these matters 

arose out of complaints 

which had been made 

in previous years.

Number carried forward 
to following year

40 33 47 59 38 55 89 83 90 101

Up to 6 months 72.5% 76% 57% 59% 52.5% 60% 46% 43% 37% 29%

6 – 12 months 20% 15% 28% 24% 29% 26% 28% 29% 33% 27%

12 – 24 months 5% 9% 15% 14% 15.5% 12.5% 20% 27% 22% 33%

More than 24 months 2.5% 0 0 3% 3% 1.5% 6% 1% 8% 11%

2010-11 

40
2019-20

101
Investigations 

carried forward to 

the following year.
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These financial statements cover The New South Wales Bar Association as an individual entity. The financial 

statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is The New South Wales Bar Association’s functional and 

presentation currency. The New South Wales Bar Association is an unlisted public company limited by guarantee. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 10 September 2020. 

The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 

Directors’ Report
For the year ended 30 June 2020

The following persons were directors of the Association i.e. members of the Bar Council, during the whole of the financial year 

and up to the date of this report

Directors

The following persons were directors of the Association i.e. members of the Bar Council, during the whole of the financial year 

and up to the date of this report:

J Mack R Higgins SC D Rayment A Mitchelmore SC

T Game SC G. Bashir SC Y Shariff C Eastman SC

M McHugh SC K Nomchong SC C Gleeson V Bulut

The following persons were directors from the beginning of the financial year to 8 November 2019: 

M Walker B Katekar V Whittaker SC T Hennessy

E Raper G McGrath SC

The following persons were directors from 8 November 2019 up to the date of this report: 

G Westgarth S Tame I Taylor SC D Hogan-Doran SC

S Callan S Hughes D Patch C O’Neill

S. Mirzabegian was a director from 1 July 2019 to 30 August 2019. 

E Walsh was a director from 1 July 2019 to 8 November 2019 and from 28 April 2020 to the date of this report. L Hutchinson 

was a director from 30 August 2019 to 8 November 2019. J Roy was a director from 1 July 2019 to 28 April 2020.

All Directors are practising barristers. 
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Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Association during the course of the financial year were to conduct the affairs of The New South 

Wales Bar Association including: 

• operating the Bar Library; 

• organising the Bar Exams and a program of Continuing Professional Development; 

• running various programs for the benefit and wellbeing of its members such as: Fee Recovery 

Assistance, Ethical Guidance, BarCare, social events, and various publications; 

• administering the Bar Association’s Professional Standards Scheme; 

• making submissions and providing advice to government and government 

agencies on specific legal policy and practice issues as they arise; 

• working with media organisations and other bodies in order to disseminate 

to the public the Bar Association’s position on key issues; 

• co-ordinating the provision of pro bono or reduced cost legal services to underprivileged sections of the  

public through the Bar Association’s Legal Assistance Referral Scheme and Duty Barristers Schemes;  

and 

• fulfilling the Bar Association’s statutory duties in relation to the regulation of the legal profession 

through the work of its Professional Conduct Committees and the Bar Council.

There were no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

Short and Long Term Objectives and Strategies 

The Association’s aims are to:

• promote the public good in relation to legal matters viewed in the broadest context;

• promote collegiality and mutual assistance amongst its members;

• represent the interests of its members in dealing with Government, the 

broader legal profession, the media and the community;

• promote fair and honourable practice among barristers;

• promote the continuing education of barristers;

• promote, maintain and improve the interests and standards of local practising barristers;

• help members grow their practice either locally or internationally through education and the development of commercial 

opportunities;  

and

• (through the statutory role of its Council) assist in matters of professional discipline 

of members and the resolution of complaints against them.

The Association’s strategies for achieving these aims are set out in its strategic plan and include:

• promoting a national legal profession to enhance the independence of the legal profession by retaining 

control over the development of practice, conduct, and continuing professional development rules;

• marketing and promoting the work of NSW barristers;

• assisting barristers with the economic and personal challenges of a sole practitioner;

• contributing to informed public debate and the provision of the Bar’s legal expertise in relation to law reform proposals;

• provision of services to its members, including welfare services through BarCare;

• supporting and encouraging equity and diversity at the NSW Bar; 

and

• promoting the administration of justice.

Strategies and Performance 

The Bar Council has developed a Strategic Plan which charts many of the Association’s objectives over a three year period. 

Review and Results of Operations 

The Association continued to engage in its principal activities during the financial year. The comprehensive loss of the 

Association for the year ended 30 June 2020 was $455,889 (2019: surplus of $581,045).

Directors’ Report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020
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Directors’ Report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

Association Particulars 

The New South Wales Bar Association, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, is a public company limited by guarantee. The 

address of the registered office and principal place of business is: 

174 Phillip Street  

Sydney NSW 2000

Meetings of Directors 

From 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 there were 22 meetings.

Name Meetings Attended Meetings Held

Tim Game SC 22 22 

Michael McHugh SC 21 22

Gabrielle Bashir SC 21 22

Anna Mitchelmore SC 13 22

Yaseen Shariff 20 22

Kylie Nomchong SC 14 22

Garry McGrath SC 9 9

Kate Eastman SC 14 22

Ruth Higgins SC 14 22

Vanessa Whittaker SC 4 9

Ingmar Taylor SC 13 13

Dominique Hogan-Doran SC 9 13

Mary Walker 2 9

Catherine Gleeson 18 22

Ben Katekar 7 9

David Rayment 15 22

Georgina Westgarth 13 13

Sonia Tame 13 13

Sean Hughes 9 13

Sophie Callan 13 15

David Patch 13 13

Elizabeth Welsh 8 13

Julia Roy 8 18

Callan O’Neill 11 13

Lisa-Claire Hutchinson 3 5 

James Mack 20 22

Sera Mirzabegian 3 4

Elizabeth Raper 7 9

Vanja Bulut 17 22

Talitha Hennessy 6 9
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Directors’ Report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

Meetings of the Finance, Investment and Audit Committee

From 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 there were 4 meetings.

Name Meetings attended Meetings entitled to attend

Tim Game SC 4 4

Michael McHugh SC 4 4

David Rayment 4 4

Kylie Nomchong SC 3 4

Anna Mitchelmore SC 3 4

MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE

If the Association is wound up, the Constitution states that each member is required to contribute an amount not exceeding $4 

per member to meet all outstanding obligations of the Association and any such amounts as may be required. The Association 

had 3,311 members at balance date, and the total that members are liable to contribute is $13,244.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 given to the 

Directors by the lead auditor for the audit undertaken by RSM Australia is included on page XX.

The report is made in accordance with resolution of directors made pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

 

T Game SC A Mitchelmore 

President Treasurer

Sydney, NSW  

10 September 2020 

Meetings of Directors (continued)
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
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THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD 
AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING 

RSM Australia Partners is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM.  RSM is the trading name used by the members of the RSM network.  Each member of the 
RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm which practices in its own right.  The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction. 

RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965 185 036 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 

RSM Australia Partners  

Level 13, 60 Castlereagh Street Sydney NSW 2000 
GPO Box 5138 Sydney NSW 2001 

T +61 (0) 2 8226 4500 
F +61 (0) 2 8226 4501 

www.rsm.com.au 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of New South Wales Bar Association for the year ended 30 
June 2020, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS 

C J Hume  
Partner 

Sydney, NSW  
Dated:  10 September 2020 
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RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965 185 036 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 

RSM Australia Partners  

Level 13, 60 Castlereagh Street Sydney NSW 2000 
GPO Box 5138 Sydney NSW 2001 

T +61 (0) 2 8226 4500 
F +61 (0) 2 8226 4501 

www.rsm.com.au 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of New South Wales Bar Association for the year ended 30 
June 2020, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS 

C J Hume  
Partner 

Sydney, NSW  
Dated:  10 September 2020 
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Statement of Surplus and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Notes
2020 

$
2019 

$

Revenue 2 9,894,984 10,417,668

Employee benefits expense (4,238,951) (4,145,171)

Legal and professional fees (1,856,572) (1,629,211)

Subscriptions (992,759) (945,528)

Communications and information technology expense (503,539) (507,591)

Depreciation expense 3 (317,413) (317,442)

Occupancy expense 3 (269,177) (831,900)

Advertising and marketing expense (299,686) (317,811)

Financial expense 3 (406,286) (172,726)

Seminar and function expense (145,951) (600,982)

Right-of-Use depreciation 3 (405,543) -

Other expenses from ordinary activities (380,792) (532,274)

Surplus before investment revaluation to market 78,315 417,032

(Loss) / profit on financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit
(534,204) 103,854

Surplus before income tax expense (455,889) 520,886

Income tax benefit 4(a) - 60,159

Net surplus / (loss) (455,889) 581,045

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -

Total comprehensive income / (loss) (455,889) 581,045

The above statement of surplus and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes..
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2020

Notes 2020 
$

2019 
$

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 15 2,991,610 3,499,653

Receivables 305,767 19,118

Other financial assets 5 9,279,742 10,122,256

Inventories 4,303 10,912

Other assets 6 257,473 412,296

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 12,838,895 14,064,235

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Other financial assets 5 3,718,595 3,168,836

Right-of-use assets 10 2,703,626

Property, plant and equipment 8 1,024,287 1,267,166

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 7,446,508 4,436,002

TOTAL ASSETS 20,285,403 18,500,237

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 11 1,204,318 1,236,004

Employee benefits 613,389 525,190

Lease liabilities 9 422,777

Contract liabilities 12 6,175,174 6,728,224

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 8,415,658 8,489,418

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Employee benefits 49,639 45,140

Lease liabilities 9 3,472,881 -

Provisions 384,278 -

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,906,798 45,140

TOTAL LIABILITIES 12,322,456 8,534,558

NET ASSETS 7,962,947 9,965,679

ACCUMULATED FUNDS 

Accumulated surpluses 7,962,947 9,965,679

TOTAL ACCUMULATED FUNDS 7,962,947 9,965,679

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Accumulated 
Surpluses 

$

Total  
Accumulated  

Funds 
$

Balance at 30 June 2018 9,384,634 9,384,634

Surplus after income tax expense for the year 581,045 581,045

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 581,045 581,045

Balance at 30 June 2019 9,965,679 9,965,679

Adjustment (AASB 16) (1,546,843) (1,546,843)

Balance at 30 June 2019 (Restated) 8,418,836 8,418,836

Loss after income tax expense for the year (455,889) (455,889)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -

Total comprehensive income for the year (455,889) (455,889)

Balance at 30 June 2020 7,962,947 7,962,947

The above statement of changes in accumulated funds should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Notes 2020 
$

2019 
$

Operating activities

Receipts from operating activities 9,425,741 10,784,595

Payments to suppliers and employees (9,343,409) (10,118,153)

Dividends received 161,484 177,556

Interest received 201,780 210,205

Income tax paid - -

Net cash inflow from operating activities 445,596 1,054,203

Investing activities

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment - 769

Payments for plant and equipment (74,534) (161,859)

Proceeds from sale of investments 560,513 1,292,888

Payment for purchase of investments (801,962) (47,857)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (315,983) 1,083,941

Financing activities

Interest payments on lease liabilities (261,580) -

Principal payments on lease liabilities (376,076) -

Net cash outflow from financing activities (637,656) -

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (508,043) 2,138,144

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 3,499,653 1,361,509

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 15 2,991,610 3,499,653

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have 

been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of Preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 

Disclosure Requirements and interpretations as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and the Corporations Act 

2001. The New South Wales Bar Association is a Not-for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements. 

Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 

management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Association’s accounting policies. The areas involving 

a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 

statements, are disclosed in note 1 (r). 

(b) Revenue Recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major activities 

as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the customer 

at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 

services. The company has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements.

(ii) Subscriptions and Practising Certificate Fees

Subscriptions and Practising Certificate Fees comprise annual fees for membership and practising certificates. Subscriptions 

and Practising Certificate Fees are recognised on a pro rata basis through the course of the year to which the fees relate.

(iii) Administration Charge

 charges comprise revenue earned from the provision of administrative services. They are recognised when the fee in 

respect of services is receivable.

(iv) Dividends Received

Revenue from dividends is recognised when the right to receive the payment is established.

(v) Interest Income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

(vi) Grants

Grants comprise monies received during the year in respect of the professional conduct department and legal assistance 

department. Income is recognised when the grant is receivable. 

(vii) Other Income

Income from other sources is recognised when the fee in respect of other products or services provided is receivable.

(c) Income Tax 

Under the mutuality provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act, income and expenses wholly applicable to members of the 

Association are not brought to account in calculating income for tax purposes.

(d) Leases 

The Association assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the 

right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Association applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases 

of low-value assets. The Association recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the 

right to use the underlying assets.

(i) Right-of-use assets

The Association recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is 

available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 

adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 

recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease 

incentives received. 
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Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives 

of the assets, as follows:

• Plant and equipment: 3 to 10 years 

• Office buildings: over the remaining life of the lease – maximum 15 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Association at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a 

purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section (e) Impairment of non-

financial assets.

(ii) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Association recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of 

lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed 

payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts 

expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 

option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Association and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease 

term reflects the Association exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index 

or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or 

condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Association uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease 

commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement 

date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments 

made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease 

term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to 

determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

(iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Association applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment 

(i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase 

option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered 

to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term.

(e) Impairment of Non-financial Assets 

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying 

amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 

its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The 

value-in-use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific 

to the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped 

together to form a cash-generating unit.

(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For purposes of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at 

call with financial institutions and other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that 

are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(g) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. The entity has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected 

credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been 

grouped based on days overdue. Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit 

losses.

(h) Inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a ‘first in first 

out’ basis. Cost comprises of direct materials and delivery costs, direct labour, import duties and other taxes, an appropriate 

proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure based on normal operating capacity, and, where applicable, transfers 

from cash flow hedging reserves in equity. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts 

received or receivable. Stock in transit is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises of purchase and 

delivery costs, net of rebates and discounts received or receivable. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 

ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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(i) Financial Instruments 

(i) Classification 

The Association classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss), 

 and

• those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Association’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms 

of the cash flows. 

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity 

instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Association has made an irrevocable election at the 

time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

The Association reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. 

(ii) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Association 

commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 

financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Association has transferred substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership.

(iii) Measurement 

At initial recognition, the Association measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at 

fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial 

asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss. Financial assets with embedded 

derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and 

interest.

(iv) Impairment

The Association assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried 

at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk. 

For trade receivables, the Association applies the simplified approach permitted by AASB 9, which requires expected 

lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

(j) Current and Non-current Classification 

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the company’s 

normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the 

reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 

least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the company’s normal operating cycle; it is held 

primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no unconditional 

right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as 

non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current.

(k) Contract Liabilities 

Contract liabilities represent the Association’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer and are recognised when a 

customer pays consideration, or when the Association recognises a receivable to reflect its unconditional right to consideration 

(whichever is earlier) before the Association has transferred the goods or services to the customer.

(l) Finance costs 

Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in the 

period in which they are incurred.

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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(m) Property, Plant and Equipment 

All property, plant and equipment is recognised at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is 

directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method to allocate the cost, net of their residual values, over the estimated 

useful lives, as follows:

Refurbishments  4 to 15 years 

Furniture, Computers, Computer Software, Office Machines and Equipment  3 to 10 years 

Kitchen Equipment  5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. An item 

of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the incorporated 

association. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss.

(n) Trade and Other Payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Association prior to the end of financial year which are 

unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(o) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the company has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event, it 

is probable the company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 

obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time value of 

money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The increase in the provision 

resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

(p) Employee Benefits 

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be 

settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 

are settled.

(ii) Other long-term employee benefits 

The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 

measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to 

the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 

experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 

the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the 

estimated future cash outflows.

(q) Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable 

from the Australian Taxation Office “(ATO).” In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 

an item of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable 

from, or payable to, the ATO is included in receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.   

 Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities 

which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows.

(r) Changes in Accounting Policies, Disclosures, Standards and Interpretations

The Association applied AASB 16 Leases for the first time. The nature and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of this 

new accounting standard is described below.

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2019, but do not have an impact on the financial 

statements of the Association. The Association has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that have 

been issued but are not yet effective.

AASB 16 Leases 

The Association has adopted AASB 16 from 1 July 2019. The standard replaces AASB 117 ‘Leases’ and for lessees eliminates 

the classifications of operating leases and finance leases. Except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets, right-

of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position. Straight-line operating 

lease expense recognition is replaced with a depreciation charge for the right-of-use assets (included in depreciation 

and amortisation expense) and an interest expense on the recognised lease liabilities (included in finance costs). In the 

earlier periods of the lease, the expenses associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when compared to lease 

expenses under AASB 117. However, EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation) results improve 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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as the operating expense is now replaced by interest expense and depreciation in profit or loss. For classification within 

the statement of cash flows, the interest portion and the principal portion of the lease payments are disclosed in financing 

activities. For lessor accounting, the standard does not substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases.

Impact of adoption

AASB 16 was adopted using the simplified modified retrospective approach and as such the comparatives have not been 

restated. The impact of adoption on retained profits as at 1 July 2019 is summarised below.

1 July 2019
$

Operating lease commitments as at 1 July 2019 (AASB 117) 5,518,115

-  Exemption for leases with less than 12 months of lease term at transition (24,575)

-  Exemption for low-value assets leases at transition  -

5,493,540

Operating lease commitments discounted based on the weighted 

average incremental borrowing rate of 6.5% (AASB 16) 4,274,138

Right-of use assets (AASB 16) 6,083,156

Accumulated depreciation (AASB 16) (2,973,987)

Lease liabilities – current (AASB 16) (378,481)

Lease liabilities – non-current (AASB 16) (3,895,658)

Tax effect on the above adjustments 10,234

Reduction in opening retained profits as at 1 July 2019 1,546,843

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 

The company has adopted AASB 1058 from 1 July 2019. The standard replaces AASB 1004 ‘Contributions’ in respect to 

income recognition requirements for not-for-profit entities. The timing of income recognition under AASB 1058 is dependent 

upon whether the transaction gives rise to a liability or other performance obligation at the time of receipt. Income under the 

standard is recognised where: an asset is received in a transaction, such as by way of grant, bequest or donation; there has 

either been no consideration transferred, or the consideration paid is significantly less than the asset’s fair value; and where 

the intention is to principally enable the entity to further its objectives. For transfers of financial assets to the entity which 

enable it to acquire or construct a recognisable non-financial asset, the entity must recognise a liability amounting to the 

excess of the fair value of the transfer received over any related amounts recognised. Related amounts recognised may relate 

to contributions by owners, AASB 15 revenue or contract liability recognised, lease liabilities in accordance with AASB 16, 

financial instruments in accordance with AASB 9, or provisions in accordance with AASB 137. The liability is brought to account 

as income over the period in which the entity satisfies its performance obligation. If the transaction does not enable the 

entity to acquire or construct a recognisable non-financial asset to be controlled by the entity, then any excess of the initial 

carrying amount of the recognised asset over the related amounts is recognised as income immediately. Where the fair value 

of volunteer services received can be measured, a private sector not-for-profit entity can elect to recognise the value of those 

services as an asset where asset recognition criteria are met or otherwise recognise the value as an expense.

Certain Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective 

and have not been adopted by the Association for the annual reporting year ended 30 June 2020. The directors have not early 

adopted any of these new amended standards and interpretations. The directors are in the process of assessing the impact of 

the applications of the standard and its amendment to the extent relevant to the financial statement of the Association.

(s) Fair Value Measurement 

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair 

value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principal market; or 

in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 

they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and best 

use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair 

value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

(t) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative information has been re-classified to achieve consistency in disclosure with current financial 

amounts and other disclosures.

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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(u) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The directors make estimates and judgements during the preparation of these financial statements regarding assumptions about 

current and future events affecting transactions and balances.

These estimates and judgements are based on the best information available at the time of preparing the financial statements, 

however as additional information is known then the actual results may differ from the estimates. 

The significant estimates and judgements made have been described below:

Revenue from contracts with customers involving sale of goods 

When recognising revenue in relation to the sale of goods to customers, the key performance obligation of the Association 

is considered to be the point of delivery of the goods to the customer, as this is deemed to be the time that the customer 

obtains control of the promised goods and therefore the benefits of unimpeded access.

Estimation of useful lives of assets 

The Association determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortization charges for its property, 

plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of technical 

innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are less than 

previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written 

off or written down.

Recovery of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the Association considers it is probable that 

future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options 

The Association determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by 

an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the 

lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Association has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Association applies 

judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the 

lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or 

termination. After the commencement date, the Association reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or 

change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to 

terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant customisation to the leased asset).

COVID-19 pandemic 

There are current uncertainties in the economy related to the COVID-19 outbreak that emerged since early 2020. These 

uncertainties have impacted the Association’s operations and may create questions about the impairment or recoveries 

of certain assets. As the situation is still evolving, the full effect of the outbreak is still uncertain. It is however reasonably 

possible that COVID-19 will have an adverse impact on the association’s revenues and results for the next reporting year, the 

extent of which will depend on how long the outbreak lasts.

Incremental borrowing rate 

Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is estimated to 

discount future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease commencement date. Such a 

rate is based on what the company estimates it would have to pay a third party to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an 

asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset, with similar terms, security and economic environment.

Lease make good provision 

A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated costs for future restoration of leased premises. The provision 

includes future cost estimates associated with closure of the premises. The calculation of this provision requires assumptions 

such as application of closure dates and cost estimates. The provision recognised for each site is periodically reviewed and 

updated based on the facts and circumstances available at the time. Changes to the estimated future costs for sites are 

recognised in the statement of financial position by adjusting the asset and the provision. Reductions in the provision that 

exceed the carrying amount of the asset will be recognised in profit or loss. 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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2020 
$

2019 
$

2. REVENUE

Operating revenue 

Subscriptions and practicing certificate fees 6,806,420 6,622,039

Bar Practise Course & Bar Examinations 271,350 534,165

7,077,770 7,156,204

Other revenue

Interest and dividends 337,321 392,896

Seminars 88,300 112,027

External funding 2,283,316 2,198,663

Other (i) 108,277 557,878

Revenue from continuing operations 9,894,984 10,417,668

(i)  the reduction in other revenue in the main is a result of the impact of COVID-19. There was no Bench and Bar Dinner and 

Conference held in the 30 June 2020 year. The revenue for these two events was $423,152 for the 30 June 2019 year.

The disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is as follows:

Timing of revenue recognition

Services transferred at a point in time 3,088,564 6,622,039

Services transferred over time 6,806,420 6,622,039

9,894,984 10,417,668

3. EXPENSES

Depreciation expense

Depreciation Expense on property, plant and equipment 317,413 317,442

Depreciation Expense on right-of-use assets 405,543 -

Financial expense

Interest expense on borrowings 11 -

Interest expense on lease liabilities 260,713 -

Bank charges 62,057 94,451

Insurance expense 83,505 78,275

406,286 172,726

Lease expenses

Minimum lease payments 637,655 -

Variable lease payments - -

Short-term lease payments 58,151 -

Low-value assets lease payments - -

Occupancy

Occupancy costs 269,177 831,900

Right-of-Use depreciation 405,543 -

Interest expense on lease liabilities 260,713 -

935,433 831,900

The change in the above expenses when compared to 30 June 2019 is a result of the adoption AASB 16 Leases by the 

Association from 1 July 2019. Straight-line operating lease expense (rental expenses) previously included in occupancy costs has 

been replaced with a depreciation charge for the right-of-use assets included in depreciation expense and an interest expense 

on the recognised lease liabilities. For further detail on the transition on the implementation see note 1 (r) Changes in Accounting 

Policies, Disclosures, Standards and Interpretations.
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2020 
$

2019 
$

4. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

(a) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable 

Net surplus from continuing operations (455,889) 520,886

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 27.5% (2019: 27.5%) (125,369) 143,244

Decrease in income tax expense due to:

- Net mutual income (350,107) (172,727)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible 11,634 17,883

Temporary Differences not brought to account 463,842 (48,559)

Income tax (benefit) / expense - (60,159)

(b) Deferred taxes

Deferred tax asset -

Deferred tax liability - -

- -

Deferred tax assets not recognised comprises temporary differences attributable to: 

Employee benefits 18,232

Accrued Expenses 2,399

AASB 16 lease liability 3,479

Tax Losses 206,167

Long Term Share Investments 30,119

Provision for make good 3,376

Total 263,772

The above potential tax benefit, for temporary differences and tax losses, has not been recognised in the statement of financial 

position as the recovery of this benefit is uncertain.

2020 
$

2019 
$5. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Current

Held to maturity investments:

Term deposit (i) 9,279,742 10,122,256

(i)  The Association has classified the bulk of its Term deposits as other current financial assets in the current year given the 

investment term of these deposits are longer than 3 months.

Non-current

At cost

Investments in associates 14 14

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Shares in Australian listed companies 2,794,751 3,039,403

Fixed interest securities - listed 923,830 129,419

3,718,581 3,168,822

Total other financial assets – non current 3,718,595 3,168,836



84 | New South Wales Bar Association Annual Report 2019-20

Financial report for the New South Wales Bar Association  |  ABN  18 526 414 014  |  2019-20 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

(a) Investments in associates

The Association holds two $2 shares in The Barrister’s Sickness and Accident Fund Pty Ltd. The sole purpose of this company is 

to act as trustee for the Barrister’s Sickness and Accident Fund.

The Association holds one $10 share in the Pro Bono Disbursement Fund Pty Ltd. The Executive Director of the Association 

is a director of that company. The purpose of that company is to hold and pay funds to reimburse legal practitioners for their 

disbursements incurred in the conduct of pro bono matters.

(b) Investment in Counsel’s Chambers Limited

The Association also holds 7 deferred ordinary shares (“the shares”) in Counsel’s Chambers Limited (“CCL”). The shares were 

acquired circa 1962 and have a cost of $14, which has not been recorded in the Association’s records for many years. The shares 

entitle the Association to: one vote per share at general meetings of CCL; the receipt of dividends as declared; and any surplus 

assets in the event of a winding up of CCL. The Association does not have any record of dividends having been paid by CCL. In 

addition, it does not have the ability to significantly influence the voting at general meetings of CCL. As there is no active market 

in the shares and other valuation techniques do not permit the calculation of a reasonable fair value estimate, the Association is 

precluded from measuring or recognising such values in its financial statements.

2020 
$

2019 
$

6. OTHER ASSETS 

Prepayments 232,771 361,651

Accrued interest 24,702 50,645

257,473 412,296

2020 
$

2019 
$

7. INTANGIBLES

Database & website

At cost 304,665 304,665

Accumulated amortisation (304,665) (304,665)

Net carrying amount - -

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT Furniture, computers, 
computer software, 

office machines 
and equipment

$
Kitchen equipment

$
Total

$
Refurbishments

$

At 30 June 2019

Cost 3,234,876 1,457,177 3,511 4,695,564

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (2,313,656) (1,111,753) (2,989) (3,428,398)

Net carrying amount 921,220 345,424 522 1,267,166

At 30 June 2020

Cost 3,258,836 1,496,212 3,511 4,758,559

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

 

(2,463,930)

 

(1,266,988) (3,354) (3,734,272)

Net carrying amount 794,906 229,224 157 1,024,287

Movements:

Year ended 30 June 2020

At 1 July 2019, net carrying amount 921,220 345,424 522 1,267,166

Additions 23,959 50,575 - 74,534

Disposals - - - -

Write off - - - -

Depreciation/ amortisation 

charge for the year (150,273) (166,775) (365) (317,413)

At 30 June 2020, net carrying amount 794,906 229,224 157 1,024,287
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

2020 
$

2019 
$

9. LEASE LIABILITIES
Current

Lease liabilities 422,777 -

Non-current

Lease liabilities 3,472,881 -

Total 3,895,658 -

10. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

At 30 June 2020
Leased Premises 

$
Total

$

Cost 6,083,156 6,083,156

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (3,379,530) (3,379,530)

Net carrying amount 2,703,626 2,703,626

Movements:

Year ended 30 June 2020

At 1 July 2019, net carrying amount 3,109,169 3,109,169

Additions - -

Disposals - -

Write off - -

Depreciation/ amortisation charge for the year (405,543) (405,503)

At 30 June 2020, net carrying amount 2,703,626 2,703,626

AASB 16 was adopted using the modified retrospective approach and as such comparative amounts have not been restated.

The Association leases premises under a non-cancellable lease with 3 to 15 years, in some cases, options to extend. On renewal, 

the terms of the leases are renegotiated.

2020 
$

2019 
$

11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables 1,204,318 1,236,004

12. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Current 

Subscriptions, practicing certificate fees & other revenue received 6,175,174 6,728,224

13. COMMITMENTS 

Lease Commitments 

Operating Lease Commitments Payable

Within one year - 694,970

Later than one year but not later than 5 years - 2,771,441

Later than 5 years - 2,051,704

- 5,518,115

The Association leases from Counsels’ Chambers the two premises from which it operates. The main premises are on a fifteen year lease, 

with an option to renew for a further five years. This lease expires in March 2027. Additional office space is occupied under a three year 

lease with rent increases of 3% in the 2nd and 3rd year. This lease expires in December 2020. Balances disclosed are GST exclusive.

As described in Note 1(d), the Association has applied AASB 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore comparative 

information has not been restated. This means comparative information is still reported under AASB 117.
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14. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) Directors

The names of persons who were directors of the Association at any time during the financial year are as follows: 

G Westgarth S Callan T Hennessy S Tame

D Rayment D Hogan-Doran SC M McHugh SC B Katekar

S Hughes I Taylor SC J Mack V Bulut

T Game SC G Bashir SC K Nomchong SC R Higgins SC

Y Shariff C Gleeson M Walker A Mitchelmore SC

D Patch C Eastman SC C O’Neill E Welsh

S Mirzabegian J Roy E Raper V Whittaker SC

G McGrath SC L Hutchinson

(b) Key management personnel

Key management personnel compensation for the years ended 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019 is set out below. The key 

management personnel are the directors of the Association, and those executives with authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the activities of the Association.

Other than the directors, the key management personnel identified for the years ended 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019 are as 

follows:

Greg Tolhurst Bali Kaur Jocelyn Sparks Lisa Allen

Basil Catsaros Kim Kemp Alastair McConnachie Suanne Colley

Jennifer Pearce Elizabeth Pearson Chris Winslow

No compensation was paid or payable to directors of the Association during the financial year.

The compensation paid or payable to key management personnel during the financial year comprised.

2020 
$

2019 
$

Employee benefits 2,049,168 1,717,486

(b) Other transactions

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to 

other parties unless otherwise stated.

The Association paid rent (including associated air-conditioning, electricity and cleaning charges) totalling $900,291 (2019: 

$821,236) for office space to Counsel’s Chambers Limited, a company of which some directors of the Association are also 

members. The bulk of this payment was at two-thirds of the normal market rate.

(c) Loans to/from related parties

There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date.

(d) Receivable from and payable to related parties

There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous reporting date.

(e) Receivable from and payable to related parties

There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous reporting date.

15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2020 

$
2019 

$

Cash at bank 2,594,372 1,201,651

Term deposits 396,338 2,015,102

Restricted cash (i) - 282,000

Petty cash 900 900

2,991,610 3,499,653

(i) Restricted cash at year end includes cash that has been used to purchase shares in an investment.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020
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16. REIMBURSEMENT BY THE PUBLIC PURPOSE FUND

Section 34 (3)(a) of the Legal Profession Uniform Law Application Act 2014 requires certification by the auditor of the costs 

incurred by the Bar Council in relation to its regulatory function. Expenditure on regulatory activities in 2019 -2020 amounted to 

$2,073,192 (2019: $1,993,662).

17. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Other than the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, no matter or circumstance has occurred subsequent to year end that has 

significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Association, the results of those operations or the state of 

affairs of the Association..

18. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Association had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020
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In the directors’ opinion:

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 73 to 87 are in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001, including:

 (i)  complying with Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 

(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations 

Regulations 2001; and

 (ii)  giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 

and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and 

when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

 

T Game SC A Mitchelmore SC 

President Treasurer

Sydney, NSW 

10 September 2020

Directors’ Declaration
For the year ended 30 June 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD 
AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING 

RSM Australia Partners is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM.  RSM is the trading name used by the members of the RSM network.  Each member of the 
RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm which practices in its own right.  The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction. 

RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965 185 036 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 

RSM Australia Partners  

Level 13, 60 Castlereagh Street Sydney NSW 2000 
GPO Box 5138 Sydney NSW 2001 

T +61 (0) 2 8226 4500 
F +61 (0) 2 8226 4501 

www.rsm.com.au 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
To the Members of New South Wales Bar Association 

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of New South Wales Bar Association (the Company), which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of 
changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including:  

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company's financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and  

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001.  

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of 
our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of 
the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to 
the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor's 
report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Other Information  

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Company's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020, but does not include the financial report and 
the auditor's report thereon.  

31 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the 
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.  This 
description forms part of our auditor's report.  

RSM Australia Partners 

C J Hume  
Partner  

Sydney, NSW 
Dated:  11 September 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

31 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the 
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.  This 
description forms part of our auditor's report.  

RSM Australia Partners 

C J Hume  
Partner  

Sydney, NSW 
Dated:  11 September 2020
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The financial statements cover Barristers’ Benevolent Association of NSW as an individual entity, incorporated and domiciled in 

Australia. Its registered office and principal place of business is 174 Philip St, Sydney NSW 2000.

The principal activities of the trust is the receipt of donations for investment in order to provide assistance to eligible persons.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Committee of Management on 10 September 2020. The Committee of 

Management has the power to amend and re-issue the financial statements.

Statement of Surplus and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2020
 

Notes
2020 

$
2019 

$

Revenue 3 359,402 322,153

Profit / (loss) on sale of investments (70) 35,296

Auditor’s remuneration (6,255) (9,785)

Bar care costs (37,492) (28,572)

Employee benefits expense (77,651) (76,915)

Gifts (120,000) (148,000)

Impairment of loans - write back                 - 2,600

Other operating expenses (3,766) (1,338)

Surplus before fair value gains 114,168 95,439

Net gains/(losses) on non-current assets held at 

fair value through surplus or deficit (450,364) 180,447

Surplus/(Deficit) before income tax (336,196) 275,886

Income tax expense 1 (c) - -

Net Surplus/(Deficit) (336,196) 275,886

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income (336,196) 275,886

The above statement of surplus and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2020

Notes
2020 

$
2019 

$

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 112,224 479,981

Financial assets 5 1,693,731 1,730,567

Trade and other receivables 4 56,327 48,163

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,862,282 2,258,711

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Other financial assets 7 3,523,058 3,463,910

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 3,523,058 3,463,910

TOTAL ASSETS 5,385,340 5,722,621

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 6 16,747 24,376

Employee benefits 12,344 5,800

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 29,091 30,176

TOTAL LIABILITIES 29,091 30,176

NET ASSETS 5,356,249 5,692,445

ACCUMULATED FUNDS

Accumulated surpluses 5,356,249 5,692,445

TOTAL ACCUMULATED FUNDS 5,356,249 5,692,445

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Changes in Accumulated Funds
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Accumulated 
Surpluses 

$

Total Accumulated 
Funds 

$

At 30 June 2018 5,416,559 5,416,559

Total comprehensive income 275,886 275,886

At 30 June 2019 5,692,445 5,692,445

Total comprehensive income (336,196) (336,196)

At 30 June 2020 5,356,249 5,356,249

The above statement of changes in accumulated funds should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2020

2020
$

2019
$

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from members, sponsorship and general activities 128,785 118,996

Payments to suppliers and beneficiares (246,249) (259,779)

Interest and dividends received 222,453 212,360

Net cash inflow from operating activities 104,989 71,577

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from other financial assets - 170,698

Proceeds from financial assets 36,836 311,711

Payments for other financial assets (509,582) (331,871)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (472,746) 150,538

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (367,757) 222,115

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 479,981 257,866

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 112,224 479,981

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2020

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. 

These policies have been constantly applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

(a) Basis of Preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced 

Disclosure Requirements and interpretations as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and the Australian 

Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012. Barristers Benevolent Association of NSW is a not-for-profit entity for the 

purpose of preparing the financial statements.

Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management 

to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Association’s accounting policies. There are no estimates and 

judgements that have a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

within the next financial year.

(b) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the customer 

at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 

services. The company has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements.

(ii) Contributions

Revenue from contributions is recognised when the contribution is received.

(iii) Dividend and Distribution income

Distributions and dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established. 



94 | New South Wales Bar Association Annual Report 2019-20

Financial report for the Barristers’ Benevolent Association  |  ABN 18 466 736 745  |  2019-20

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

(iv) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues.

(v) Other Income

Income from other sources is recognised when the income is receivable.

(vi) Changes in fair value of investments

Net gains or losses on investments designated at fair value through surplus or deficit are calculated as the difference 

between the fair value at year end and the fair value at the previous valuation point.  This includes both realised and 

unrealised gains and losses, but does not include interest or dividends.

(c) Income Tax

As the Barristers’ Benevolent Association of NSW is a charitable institution in terms of subsection 50-5 of the Income Tax 

Assessment Act 1997, as amended, it is exempt from paying income tax. 

(d) Current and Non-current Classification

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification.

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the incorporated 

association’s normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months 

after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 

liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the incorporated association’s normal operating cycle; 

it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 

unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are 

classified as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current.

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and cash at bank.

For the statement of cash flow presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents comprises the above.

(f) Trades and Other Receivables 

Trade receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

The entity has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss 

allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days overdue.

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

(g) Financial Instruments

(i) Classification

The Association classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss), and

• those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Association’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms 

of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity 

instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Association has made an irrevocable election at the 

time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Association reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

(ii) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Association 

commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 

financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Association has transferred substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership.

(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Association measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair 

value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 

Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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solely payment of principal and interest.

(iv) Impairment

The Association assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried 

at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Association applies the simplified approach permitted by AASB 9, which requires expected 

lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

(h) Trade and Other Payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Association prior to the end of financial year which are 

unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(i) Employee Benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be 

settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 

are settled.

(ii) Other long-term employee benefits

The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 

measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to 

the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 

experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 

the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the 

estimated future cash outflows.

(j) Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’)

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable 

from the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”). In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 

an item of expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable.  The net amount of GST recoverable 

from, or payable to, the ATO is included in receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 

which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows.

(k) Changes in accounting policies, disclosures, standards and interpretations

The Association has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period.

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory   have not been early adopted

(l) Fair value measurement

When, an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair 

value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principal market; or 

in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 

they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and best 

use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair 

value, are used, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

(a) Impacts of COVID-19

There are current uncertainties in the economy related to the COVID-19 outbreak that emerged since early 2020. These 

uncertainties have impacted the Association’s operations and may create questions about the impairment or recoveries of 

certain assets. As the situation is still evolving, the full effect of the outbreak is still uncertain. It is however reasonably possible 

that COVID-19 will have an adverse impact on the Association’s revenues and results for the next reporting year, the extent of 

which will depend on how long the outbreak lasts.

2020
$

2019  
$

3. REVENUE

Contributions 136,722 109,793

Distribution and dividend income 192,015 159,890

Interest income 30,438 52,470

Membership 227 -

Revenue from continuing operations 359,402 322,153

4. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current

NSW Bar Association 51,964 38,937

Accrued interest 3,454 9,686

Interest free loans 3,500 3,500

Allowance for impairment of interest free loans (3,500) (3,500)

Tax receivable 909 (460)

56,327 48,163

5. FINANCIAL ASSETS

Term Deposits

Current 1,693,731 1,730,567

6. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current

Trade Payables 10,040 9,785

Other Payables 6,707 14,951

16,747 24,376

7. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Non-Current 

Designated at fair value through surplus or deficit

-  Fixed interest securities 733,961 307,500

-  Shares in Australian listed companies 2,789,097 3,156,410

3,523,058 3,463,910
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8. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) Committee of Management

The names of persons who were members of the Committee of Management of the Association at any time during the financial 

year are as follows:

T Game SC G Westgarth G McGrath SC L Hutchinson

K Eastman SC M McHugh SC K Nomchong SC G Bashir SC

I Taylor SC R Higgins SC S Hughes A Mitchelmore SC 

V Whittaker SC D Hogan-Doran SC D Patch M Walker

E Welsh S Tame B Katekar D Rayment

S Mirzabegian S Callan Y Shariff E Raper

C Gleeson J Roy C O’Neill J Mack

V Bulut T Hennessy

The members of the Committee of Management are also directors of the New South Wales Bar Association. 

(b) Key Management

The key management personnel are the members of the Committee of Management of the Association.

No compensation was paid, or is payable, to the members of the Committee of Management of the Association.

(c) Other Transactions

The Association conducts its business from the premises of NSW Bar Association at no cost to the Association.

9. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Association had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019.

10. COMMITMENTS

The Association had no commitments as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019.

11. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Other than the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, no matter or circumstance has occurred subsequent to year end that has 

significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the association, the results of those operations or the state of 

affairs of the Association. 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020
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In the opinion of the Committee of Management of Barristers’ Benevolent Association of NSW;

(a)  the financial statements and notes as set out on pages 91 to 97 satisfy the requirements of the Australian Charities and 

Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:

 (i)  complying with Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Australian Charities and 

Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013, and

 (ii)  giving a true and fair view of the Association’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and its performance, 

as represented by the results of its operations, changes in accumulated funds and cash flows, for the year 

ended on that date; and

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Association will be able to pay all of its debts as and when they 

become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.

 

T Game SC A Mitchelmore SC 

President Treasurer

Sydney, NSW 

11 September 2020

Committee of Management Declaration
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
To the Members of Barristers' Benevolent Association of NSW 
 
 
Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Barristers' Benevolent Association of NSW, which comprises the statement 
of financial position as at 30 June 2019, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in 
equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies, and the declaration by committee of management. 

In our opinion, the financial report of Barristers' Benevolent Association of NSW has been prepared in accordance 
with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including: 
 
(a) giving a true and fair view of the registered entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 and of its financial 

performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date; and 
 
(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Division 60 of 

the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 
 
Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Barristers' Benevolent Association of NSW 
in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Other Information  

The committee of management are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in Barristers' Benevolent Association of NSW 's annual report for the year ended 30 June 
2019 but does not include the financial report and the auditor's report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 

 

13 

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD 
AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING 

RSM Australia Partners is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM.  RSM is the trading name used by the members of the RSM network.  Each member of the 
RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm which practices in its own right.  The RSM network is not itself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction. 

RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965 185 036 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 

RSM Australia Partners  

Level 13, 60 Castlereagh Street Sydney NSW 2000 
GPO Box 5138 Sydney NSW 2001 

T +61 (0) 2 8226 4500 
F +61 (0) 2 8226 4501 

www.rsm.com.au 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
To the Members of Barristers' Benevolent Association of NSW 

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Barristers' Benevolent Association of NSW, which comprises the statement 
of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in 
equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies, and the declaration by committee of management. 

In our opinion, the financial report of Barristers' Benevolent Association of NSW has been prepared in accordance 
with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the registered entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date; and 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Division 60 of 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Barristers' Benevolent Association of NSW 
in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Other Information  

The committee of management are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in Barristers' Benevolent Association of NSW 's annual report for the year ended 30 June 
2020 but does not include the financial report and the auditor's report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

14 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of committee of management for the Financial Report

The committee of management of the registered entity are responsible for the preparation of the financial report 
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act) and for such 
internal control as the committee of management determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, committee of management are responsible for assessing Barristers' Benevolent 
Association of NSW 's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
Barristers' Benevolent Association of NSW or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.  This 
description forms part of our auditor's report.  

RSM Australia Partners 

C J Hume  
Partner  

Sydney, NSW 
Dated:  11 September 2020
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The financial statements cover the Indigenous Barristers’ Trust - The Mum Shirl Fund as an individual entity, incorporated and 

domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and principal place of business is at 174 Philip Street, Sydney NSW 2000.

The principal activities of the trust is the receipt of donations for distribution as grants. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Trustees on 7 September 2020. The Trustees have the power to amend 

and re-issue the financial statements.

Statement of Surplus and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Notes
2020 

$
2019 

$

Revenue 3 171,954 113,259

Audit and accounting (8,470) (3,750)

Bank charges (5) (2)

Conference expenses (55,728) (47,786)

Grants made (29,600) (38,637)

Other expenses - -

Surplus before income tax expense 78,151 23,084

Income tax expense 1(c) - -

Net surplus 78,151 23,084

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income 78,151  23,084

The above statement of surplus and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2020

Notes
2020

$
2019

$

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 225,301 96,472

Financial Assets 5 337,823 407,247

Other receivables 4 60,435 39,289

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 623,559 543,008

TOTAL ASSETS 623,559 543,008

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 6,150 3,750

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,150 3,750

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6,150 3,750

NET ASSETS 617,409 539,258

ACCUMULATED FUNDS 

Accumulated surpluses 617,409 539,258

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Changes in Accumulated Funds
For the year ended 30 June 2020

2020
$

2019
$

As at 1 July - opening 539,258 516,174

Total comprehensive income 78,151 23,084

As at 30 June - closing 617,409 539,258

The above statement of changes in accumulated funds should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Notes
2020

$
2019

$

Cash flows from operating activities 

Receipts from sponsorship and general activities 143,536 107,482

Interest received 7,272 10,398

Payments to suppliers and grantees (91,403) (92,425)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 59,405 25,455

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds/(Payments) from term deposits 69,424 1,632

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities 69,424 1,632

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 128,829 27,087

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 96,472 69,385

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 225,301 96,472

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies have 

been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

(a) Basis of Preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 

Disclosure Requirements and interpretations as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The Indigenous Barristers’ 

Trust – The Mum Shirl Fund is a not-for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements. 

Historical cost conversion 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to 

exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Trust’s accounting policies. There are no estimates and judgements that 

have a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 

year. 

(b) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the customer at 

an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Trust expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The 

Trust has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements.

(ii) Contributions

Revenue from contributions is recognised when the contribution is received.

(iii) Interest income 

Interest income is recognised as it accrues.

(iv) Other Income

Income from other sources is recognised when the income is receivable

(c) Income Tax

The Trust is exempt from income tax. 

(d) Current and non-current classification

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the incorporated 

association’s normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months 

after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 



New South Wales Bar Association Annual Report 2019-20 | 107

Financial report for the Indigenous Barristers’ Trust  |  ABN 53 124 431 831  |  2019-20

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the incorporated association’s normal operating cycle; 

it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 

unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are 

classified as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current.

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and cash at bank.

For the statement of cash flow presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents comprises the above.

(f) Financial Assets

(i) Classification

The Association classifies its financial assets in as:

those to be measured at amortised cost.

The Association reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

(ii) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Association 

commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 

financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Association has transferred substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership.

(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Association measures a financial asset plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of the financial asset.

(iv) Impairment

The Association assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at 

amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Association applies the simplified approach permitted by AASB 9, which requires expected lifetime 

losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables

(g) Other Receivables 

Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method, less provision for expected credit losses. Other receivables are usually settled within 30 days from the date of 

recognition.

(h) Trade and Other Payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Trust prior to the end of financial year which are 

unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

(i) Goods and Services Tax (“GST”)

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable 

from the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”). In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 

an item of expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable 

from or payable to the ATO is included in receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which 

are recoverable from or payable to the taxation authority are presented as operating cash flows.

(j) Changes in Accounting Policies, Disclosures, Standards and Interpretations

The Trust has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 

Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period.

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

(a) Impacts of COVID-19 

There are current uncertainties in the economy related to the COVID-19 outbreak that emerged since early 2020. These 

uncertainties have impacted the Trust’s operations and may create questions about the impairment or recoveries of certain 

assets. As the situation is still evolving, the full effect of the outbreak is still uncertain. It is however reasonably possible that 

COVID-19 will have an adverse impact on the Trust’s revenues and results for the next reporting year, the extent of which will 

depend on how long the outbreak lasts.

2020
$

2019
$

3. REVENUE 

Contributions received 164,682 102,861

Interest 7,272 10,398

Revenue from continuing operations 171,954 113,259

4. OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current

NSW Bar Association 54,431 34,954

GST receivable 5,203 2,857

Accrued interest 801 1,478

60,435 39,289

5. FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Current

Term deposits 337,823  407,247

6. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) Trustees 

The names of persons who were Trustees of the Trust at any time during the financial year are as follows: 

Chris Ronalds SC Tim Game SC 

Justice Michael Slattery AM QC Tony McAvoy SC

(b) Key management 

The key management personnel are the Trustees of the Trust. 

No compensation was paid or payable to Trustees of the Trust during the financial year or the previous year.

7. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Trust had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019.

8. COMMITMENTS

The Trust had no commitments as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019.

9. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Other than the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, no matter or circumstance has occurred subsequent to year end that has 

significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the association, the results of those operations or the state of 

affairs of the Association.
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In the opinion of the Trustees of Indigenous Barristers’ Trust – The Mum Shirl Fund (“the Trust”), 

(a) the financial statements and notes as set out on pages 104 to 108:

 (i)  have been drawn up in accordance with Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements and 

other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia; and 

 (ii)  presentfairly the Trust’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and its performance, as represented by the 

results of its operations, changes in accumulated funds and cash flows, for the year ended on that date.

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Trust will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 

payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the trustees:

C Ronalds SC 

Trustee 

Sydney, NSW 

7 September 2020

Trustee’s Declaration
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
To the Members of The Indigenous Barristers’ Trust – The Mum Shirl Fund 

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of The Indigenous Barristers’ Trust – The Mum Shirl Fund, which comprises 
the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of surplus and other comprehensive income, 
the statement of changes in accumulated funds and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the declaration by 
trustees. 

In our opinion, the financial report of The Indigenous Barristers’ Trust – The Mum Shirl Fund has been prepared 
in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the registered entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date; and 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Division 60 of 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the The Indigenous Barristers’ Trust – The Mum 
Shirl Fund in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Other Information  

The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in The Indigenous Barristers’ Trust – The Mum Shirl Fund's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020 but 
does not include the financial report and the auditor's report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

12 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of Trustees for the Financial Report

The trustees of the registered entity are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act) and for such internal control as the 
committee of management determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, committee of management are responsible for assessing The Indigenous 
Barristers’ Trust – The Mum Shirl Fund's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate The Indigenous Barristers’ Trust – The Mum Shirl Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. This 
description forms part of our auditor's report.  

RSM Australia Partners 

C J Hume  
Partner  

Sydney, NSW 
Dated:  7 September 2020
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